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DEAR STAKEHOLDERS,

In 2019, the industry witnessed a challenging year with lower aluminium prices compared to 2018 and this was exacerbated 
by macroeconomic uncertainties and volatile raw material prices during the first half of the year. Despite this, Press Metal 
Aluminium Holdings Berhad (“Press Metal” or the “Group”) delivered a commendable set of results and closed the year with 
revenue of RM8.80 billion and profit before tax of RM631.22 million. 

During the year, we received several accolades from The Edge’s Billion Ringgit Club including being conferred the coveted 
Company of the Year of 2019 award, which we attribute to all our stakeholders for their support and our employees for their 
hard work. We are encouraged by our achievements and will continue to strive towards excellence as we step further into the 
global stage as a key player in the aluminium industry. 

Several significant expansion milestones were achieved during the year under review, which will cumulate towards building 
a stronger foundation for the years to come. This includes securing additional long-term power contracts which enabled us 
to expand our smelting operations and the conclusion of significant investments into upstream assets aimed at securing raw 
materials for our smelters.

KEY DEVELOPMENTS IN 2019

Expansion of Aluminium Smelting Operations

We embarked on our next phase of growth when we signed a new 15-year Power Purchase Agreement (“PPA”) with Syarikat 
Sesco Berhad, Sarawak on 31 July 2019 which will provide us long term access up to approximately 500MW of electricity 
for our proposed third aluminium smelting plant (“Phase 3 Smelter”), located adjacent to our existing Phase 1 and 2 smelting 
plants in Samalaju Industrial Park of Sarawak. Upon completion of the Phase 3 Smelter with annual capacity of up to 320,000 
tonnes, our total smelting capacity will increase by 42% from the current 760,000 tonnes to 1,080,000 tonnes. We envisage 
that our Phase 3 smelter will begin operations by early next year. This expansion will further entrench the Group’s position as 

the largest Southeast Asia aluminium producer and a key global player in the aluminium industry.
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Upstream investments

Apart from the horizontal expansion in our smelting operations, our Group has also ventured vertically upstream by 

completing several acquisitions to further secure raw materials, namely alumina and carbon anode.

1) Alumina asset investment

 We successfully completed the acquisition of 50% equity interest in Japan Alumina Associates Pty. Ltd. (“JAA”) 

in February 2019 for a total cash consideration of AUD259.9 million. JAA holds 10% interest in the Worsley Alumina 

Unincorporated Joint Venture (“Worsley UJV”) located in Australia, one of the world’s largest and lowest-cost alumina 

producers. Through this investment, the Group is entitled to a supply of 230,000 tonnes of alumina per annum.

 In November 2019, our Group also entered into an agreement to subscribe for 25% equity interest in PT Bintan Alumina 

Indonesia (“PT BAI”) and the transaction was subsequently completed in February 2020 for a total cash consideration 

of USD80.23 million. PT BAI is principally involved in alumina production and is currently in the midst of constructing 

an alumina refinery plant with total annual capacity of 2 million tonnes in Galang Batang, Indonesia. The refinery will be 

constructed in two phases, with each phase earmarked for 1 million tonne of alumina production. Phase 1 operation 

is expected to start commissioning by end 2020 and Phase 2 will follow subsequently. This subscription will provide 

the Group with long-term supply of alumina via the purchase of not less than 50% of alumina before completion of the 

entire 2 million tonne project and up to 1.5 million tonnes upon full completion. 

 With our investments in JAA and PT BAI, the Group will be able to secure approximate 80% of our alumina 

requirements on our enlarged smelting capacity of 1,080,000 tonnes per annum. This will serve to enhance the stability 

of our Group’s aluminium operations by reducing reliance on third party suppliers and shielding us against supply 

disruptions. 

2) Carbon anode investment

 The Group had on 20 September 2016 entered into an agreement with Sunstone Development Co., Ltd. (“SDCL”) to 

establish and operate a new company, namely Shandong Sunstone & PMB Carbon Ltd., Co (“SSPC”) for the purpose of 

manufacturing the pre-baked carbon anode, a primary consumable for our smelting operations. The Group’s investment 

cost for its 20% equity portion was RMB52.8 million (approximately RM32.4 million). 

 SSPC’s annual capacity is 300,000 tonnes, in which Press Metal is entitled to purchase 120,000 tonnes per annum 

with an option to purchase up to 40,000 tonnes. The plant was commissioned in the first quarter of 2019 and achieved 

full capacity in the second quarter of 2019. This investment will allow Press Metal to secure approximately 40% of its 

plants’ current requirement. 

Fund raising under a Sukuk Programme 

During the year, we tapped into the debt market to fund our expansion plans and refinance existing borrowings. Press Metal 
had in July 2019 established a 30-year Islamic Medium Term Notes programme of up to RM5.0 billion based on the Shariah 
principle of Wakalah Bi Al-Istithmar (“Sukuk Programme”). The proceeds from the Sukuk Programme will be utilised for 
corporate purposes including capital expenditure, working capital requirement, investments and refinancing of the existing 
borrowings.

Letter to Stakeholders and Management Discussion & Analysis
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The Group had on 17 October 2019 issued the first tranche under the Sukuk Programme amounting to RM1.0 billion to repay 
its existing loans in which the lower financing cost will assist in reducing overall interest expenses and improve the Group’s 
liquidity by converting its short term borrowings to long term liabilities.

OVERVIEW OF PRESS METAL

Press Metal is principally engaged in the manufacturing and trading of both upstream and downstream aluminium products. 

The upstream smelting segment is the Group’s core business and is undertaken by our 80%-owned subsidiaries, Press 
Metal Sarawak Sdn. Bhd. (“PMS”) and Press Metal Bintulu Sdn. Bhd. (“PMBTU”), operating in Mukah District and Samalaju 
Industrial Park, Bintulu of Sarawak state.

The annual capacity of PMS and PMBTU is 120,000 tonnes and 640,000 tonnes respectively. Currently, PMBTU is 
undertaking the construction of its Phase 3 smelter in Samalaju which upon completion, will add on an additional 320,000 
tonnes capacity per annum and the total smelting capacity will be increased by 42% to 1,080,000 tonnes per annum.

Our smelting products include London Metal Exchange (“LME”) certified primary aluminium ingots (P1020), alloy ingots (A356.2), 
aluminium billets and aluminium wire rods. Press Metal Aluminium Rods Sdn. Bhd. (“PMAR”), acquired in 2018, is the Group’s newest 
subsidiary with production capacity of 100,000 metric tonnes of wire rods per annum. Through PMAR, we became a regional market 
leader of wire rods.

The Group’s downstream extrusion segment involves the production of a wide range of extrusion products utilised in industries such 
as construction, automobile, electronic and electrical. The extrusion plants are undertaken by Press Metal’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, 
Press Metal Berhad (“PMB”) and Press Metal International Limited (“PMI”) with respective annual capacity of 50,000 tonnes and 
160,000 tonnes. The operation of PMB is in Klang, state of Selangor while PMI operates in Guangdong province, China.

Subsidiary

% of 
Effective 

Ownership
Business 
Segment

Annual 
Capacity 
(tonnes) Products Location

PMBTU 
Phase 1 and 2

Phase 3*

80% Upstream 
smelting

640,000

320,000

• Primary aluminium ingots P1020 (LME certified)
• Value-added products e.g. alloy ingot A356.2, 

billet and wire rod

Samalaju,
Sarawak

PMS 80% Upstream 
smelting

120,000 • Value-added product - billet Mukah,
Sarawak

PMAR 80% Midstream 
casting

100,000 • Value-added product - wire rod Johor Bahru, 
Johor

PMB 100% Downstream 
extrusion

50,000 • Aluminium extrusion products Klang,
Selangor 

PMI 100% Downstream 
extrusion

160,000 • Aluminium extrusion products Foshan,
Guangdong

* Currently under construction with targeted completion by end of 2020
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The following table highlights the Group’s results for the past 5 financial years:- 

 Financial Year Ended 31 December (“FY”)

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Revenue RM’000 8,804,572 9,170,122 8,176,131 6,649,451 4,321,271

EBITDA RM’000 1,229,403 1,446,187 1,399,366 1,196,330 585,197

Profit before tax RM’000 631,217 870,454 808,753 674,832 231,976

Profit after tax RM’000 581,676 772,866 746,443 605,770 160,969

Profit attributable to shareholders RM’000 473,968 618,934 593,379 483,572 132,345

Total assets RM’000 9,660,565 8,341,527 7,897,634 7,701,836 7,374,057

Shareholders’ funds RM’000 3,666,015 3,236,714 2,270,645 2,206,294 1,939,157

Total equity RM’000 4,479,716 4,027,585 2,970,441 2,716,342 2,367,717

Borrowings RM’000 3,641,982 2,984,645 3,123,758 3,382,300 3,414,751

Net Debt/Equity % 73.2 69.2 96.4 110.6 131.3

Net earnings per share Sen 11.79 15.89 15.88 13.22 3.71

Dividend per share Sen 5.0 6.5 6.0 4.7* 2.7*

*  Adjusted for the effect of bonus issue and share split in FY2014 and FY2016.

Revenue

The Group recorded a revenue of RM8.80 billion in FY2019, a decrease of RM365.5 million or 4.0% as compared to RM9.17 
billion in the preceding financial year. The lower revenue was mainly due to lower aluminium prices during FY2019. 

The Group’s key geographical markets for primary and value-added products are Asia, Southeast Asia and Europe/Turkey 
which represent approximately 46.0%, 18.7% and 11.5% of its smelting products sold. The remaining markets mainly include 
South America and South Africa.

As for the Group’s extrusion products, the main markets for PMB are Malaysia, Singapore and Australia, whereas PMI’s main 

markets are China and the European region.

Profitability 

The Group’s profit before tax decreased by RM239.2 million or 27.5% from RM870.5 million in FY2018 to RM631.2 million 

in FY2019 whereas the Group’s profit after tax decreased from RM772.9 million to RM581.7 million, representing a decrease 

of RM191.2 million or 24.7%. Lower profitability was mainly due to the softening of metal prices during the year coupled 

with the higher raw material prices in the first half of FY2019. Notwithstanding that, prices for raw materials such as alumina 

and carbon anode began to normalise since 3Q 2019 onwards following the resumption of full production by a key alumina 

producer and stabilisation of carbon anode prices resulting from lower oil prices.

Letter to Stakeholders and Management Discussion & Analysis
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Total assets

The Group’s total assets increased by RM1.32 billion or 15.8% from RM8.34 billion in FY2018 to RM9.66 billion in FY2019. 

The increase was mainly due to the RM442.0 million investment cost in JAA and cumulative capital expenditures for Phase 3 

expansion amounting to RM504.0 million incurred during FY2019. 

Capital expenditures required to maintain the efficiency of the Group’s manufacturing plants and routine maintenance are 

carefully evaluated before being included in the annual budget. 

Borrowings, finance cost, debt to equity ratio and shareholders’ equity

Total borrowings increased by RM657.3 million or 22.0% from RM2.98 billion in FY2018 to RM3.64 billion in FY2019. Increase 

in loans was mainly due to the additional term loans drawndown for JAA investment amounting to RM783.6 million. In 

October 2019, the Group issued RM1.0 billion Sukuk from its RM5.0 billion Sukuk Programme to refinance its existing loan 

with higher interest charge. 

Net debt to equity increased from 69.2% in FY2018 to 73.2% in FY2019 mainly due to additional loan drawn for the JAA 

investment.

Earnings per share and net assets

Earnings per share (“EPS”) for FY2019 and FY2018 were 11.79 sen and 15.89 sen respectively. The lower EPS in FY2019 

was in tandem with lower profitability while net assets per share has increased from RM0.82 per share to RM0.91 per share in 

FY2019.

Dividend

Total dividend declared in FY2019 was 5.00 sen as compared to 6.50 sen in FY2018. This translated to a pay-out ratio of 

42.4%. The Group is committed to reward its shareholders for their continuous support subjected to the Group’s profitability, 

capital expenditure requirement and overall liquidity position.

REVIEW OF OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Product diversification and increase in value-added products (“VAPs”)

The Group’s smelting products remain as the main income contributor for FY2019. The Group’s business strategy is to 

increase the production of its VAPs such as billet, alloy ingot and wire rod, which yield higher margin as compared to the 

basic primary aluminium ingot. The Group’s VAP sales increased from 46% in 2018 to 53% in 2019. 

Manufacturing costs

Alumina, pre-baked carbon anodes and electricity are the primary manufacturing costs for the Group’s smelting operations. 

As such, the Group’s operations are highly dependent on the ability to secure supply of such raw materials and consumables. 

Letter to Stakeholders and Management Discussion & Analysis
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Alumina

Alumina prices remained high in the first half of 2019 and hit a peak of USD417 per tonne in April 2019. Prices began to 

normalise in the second half after a key South American producer resumed full production. To reduce dependency on third party 

suppliers, the Group acquired 50% equity interest in JAA which in turn holds 10% interest in the Worsley UJV and subsequently 

subscribed for 25% equity interest in PT BAI and this will allow the Group to potentially secure approximately 80% of its alumina 

requirements on the enlarged capacity of 1,080,000 tonnes per annum. 

Carbon anode

 

The Group’s investment in SDCL will provide a steady supply of carbon anode for its smelting plants operation and mitigate 

the risk of supply disruption. Carbon anode price has since normalised in 2H 2019 and the Group expects to have saving in 

this material cost.

Electricity

 

The Group’s smelting plants receive stable electricity supply generated predominantly from hydropower, secured by long-

term power purchase agreements with the Sarawak State’s power company. Unlike smelters which depend on coal-fired or  

gas-fired power plants, the Group is not subjected to coal and gas prices fluctuations. 

RISK MANAGEMENT

Anticipated or known risks

The business risks which may have significant impact on the Group’s performance are basically the adverse changes in 

aluminium prices and foreign currency rates as its primary aluminium and value added products are indexed to LME 

aluminium prices and quoted in US Dollar (“USD”). 

Mitigating measures

Commodity hedges

It is the Group’s policy to hedge up to approximately 65% of its total aluminium production for a period of up to two years. 

The prices of our key raw material being alumina typically fluctuates according to LME aluminium prices movements and thus 

provides a natural hedge environment. 

Foreign currencies hedges

The Group has exposures to foreign currency exchange risk on sales, purchases, cash and cash equivalents and borrowings 

that are transacted in USD, Australian Dollar (“AUD”), British Pound Sterling (“GBP”), Renminbi (“RMB”), Singapore Dollar 

(“SGD”), Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD”) and Euro (“EUR”). USD is the main exposure as the Group’s core business, smelting 

revenue and purchases are substantially linked to USD. 

In order to mitigate USD exposure, the Group enters into foreign currency hedging contracts with reputable financial institutions. 

Letter to Stakeholders and Management Discussion & Analysis
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT

The year 2020 was faced with a challenging start with the prolonged trade dispute between China and the United States 

followed by the recent Covid-19 pandemic. During the earlier period of the outbreak, we were hopeful that the effects can 

be contained but the situation turned severe and actions were taken by numerous governments to enforce quarantines, 

lock downs and imposed travel restrictions. Numerous industries including automobile, aviation and construction have been 

adversely affected, consequentially dampening the demand for aluminium which are prominently used in these industries. 

Although the full impact to the global economy is still unfolding, the pandemic may have deep implications if it carries on 

further into the second half of the year. However, our low-cost model will continue to provide us with some respite during this 

uncertain climate. 

Notably on the raw material front, prices of key raw materials such as alumina and carbon anode have also dropped, 

following the trend of weakening LME aluminium prices. We foresee our average raw material cost in 2020 to be lower 

compared to the previous year.

With reduced economic activities and shutdowns in industries, demand for aluminium will be affected in the coming months. 

However, supply may also be reduced by aluminium producers with higher cost of operation if the pandemic prolongs. This 

should create a contraction in aluminium supply over the long term, lending a better support to aluminium prices. 

Our upstream investments and smelting operation expansion are the building blocks towards our future growth. We are 

confident that our strategy will enable us to remain resilient during these trying times and emerge stronger from this when the 

global economic environment improves.
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Group Financial Highlights

FY 31 December
2019

(RM’000)

2018

(RM’000)

2017

(RM’000)

2016

(RM’000)

 2015

(RM’000)

Revenue 8,804,572  9,170,122  8,176,131  6,649,451 4,321,271

Profit Before Tax 631,217  870,454  808,753  674,832 231,976

Profit After Tax 581,676  772,866  746,443  605,770 160,969

Profit Attributable to Shareholders 473,968  618,934  593,379  483,572 132,345

Shareholders’ Funds 3,666,015  3,236,714  2,270,645  2,206,294 1,939,157

Net Tangible Assets 3,601,685  3,197,589  2,260,148  2,195,797 1,928,660

Net Earnings Per Share (Sen) 11.79  15.89  15.88 13.22 3.71

Total Dividend Declared 201,834 256,279 227,536 170,873 97,399

Dividends Per Share (Sen)  5.0  6.5  6.0 4.7* 2.7*

* Adjusted for the effect of bonus issue and share split in FY2014 and FY2016.  
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Upstream

Press Metal Bintulu Sdn. Bhd.

Press Metal Sarawak Sdn. Bhd.

Mid / Downstream

PMB (Klang) Sdn. Bhd.

Press Metal Aluminium Rods Sdn. Bhd. 

Press Metal International Limited

Press Metal International Technology Ltd.
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Press Metal UK Limited

Press Metal Aluminium (Aus) Pty. Ltd.

Press Metal North America Inc.

Angkasa Jasa Sdn. Bhd.

PMB Development Sdn. Bhd.

Group Operation Structure
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Koon Poh Ming

Executive Vice Chairman

Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong

Group Chief Executive Officer

Dato’ Koon Poh Tat

Executive Director

Koon Poh Weng

Executive Director

Koon Poh Kong

Executive Director

Tan Heng Kui

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

Loo Lean Hock

Independent Non-Executive Director 

Noor Alina Binti Mohamad Faiz

Independent Non-Executive Director

Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim

Independent Non-Executive Director

Audit Committee

Loo Lean Hock (Chairman)
Tan Heng Kui (Member)
Noor Alina Binti Mohamad Faiz (Member)

Nomination Committee

Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman

  Bin Megat Ahmad (Chairman)
Loo Lean Hock (Member)
Noor Alina Binti Mohamad Faiz (Member)

Remuneration Committee

Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman

  Bin Megat Ahmad (Chairman)
Tan Heng Kui (Member)
Noor Alina Binti Mohamad Faiz (Member)

Risk Management Committee

Koon Poh Ming (Chairman)
Tan Heng Kui (Member)
Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim (Member)
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CORPORATE OFFICE
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Website : www.pressmetal.com
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Ambank (M) Berhad

Bangkok Bank Berhad

Malayan Banking Berhad

Standard Chartered Bank Malaysia Berhad 

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation Malaysia Berhad
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KPMG PLT

Firm No. LLP0010081-LCA & AF 0758

(Chartered Accountants)

Level 10, KPMG Tower

8 First Avenue, Bandar Utama
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Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia
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Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman Bin Megat Ahmad DGMK, DSDK

Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman has been with Press Metal Berhad (“PMB”) since 25 May 1995 as 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman. On 29 May 2007, he was re-designated as Independent 
Non-Executive Chairman of PMB.  

Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman was then appointed as the Independent Non-Executive Chairman and 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of Press Metal Aluminium Holdings 
Berhad (“PMAH” or “the  Company”) on 4 July 2017; ahead of the Company’s assumption of the listing status 
of PMB pursuant to the internal reorganisation on 10 July 2017. He had on 19 September 2017 resigned as 
Independent Non-Executive Chairman of PMB subsequent to the completion of the internal reorganisation.

Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman attended all the five (5) Board meetings held during the financial year.

Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce Degree from University of 
Melbourne, Australia. He is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia, a life member 
and past president of the Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants, as well as a member of the 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants. He had served as Executive Director in Kumpulan Guthrie Berhad from 
1983 to 1994, and was a partner/managing partner of KPMG Desa Megat & Co. from 1973 to 1983.  He 
had served as a Director of Lembaga Letrik Negara/Tenaga Nasional Berhad from 1977 to 2000 and sat 
on the Board of Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia from 1985 to 2014. Currently, he does not hold any other 
directorships in public companies and listed issuers in Malaysia.

Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman has no conflict of interest with the Group and has no family 
relationship with any other Director and/or major shareholder of the Group. He has not been convicted of 
any offence (other than traffic offence, if any) within the past five (5) years nor any public sanction or 
penalty imposed by regulatory bodies during the financial year.

Koon Poh Ming 

Mr. Koon Poh Ming is a founding Board member of PMB since its inception on 13 May 1986. He was 
appointed to the Board of PMAH on 4 July 2017 as an Executive Vice Chairman; ahead of the Company’s 
assumption of the listing status of PMB pursuant to the internal reorganisation on 10 July 2017. He serves 
as the Chairman of the Risk Management Committee of the Company. He attended all the five (5) Board 
meetings held during the financial year. 

After graduating with a Degree in Civil Engineering from the University of Wales in United Kingdom, he 
started his career with an international consulting engineering firm based in Kuala Lumpur. He is currently 
a professional engineer registered with the Board of Engineers and The Institution of Engineers, Malaysia.

Mr. Koon Poh Ming has been actively involved in the management and business development of the 
Company. Currently, he also holds the position of Chief Executive Officer of PMB Technology Berhad. 

He is the brother to Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong, Koon Poh Kong, Koon Poh Weng and Dato’ Koon Poh 
Tat. He has not been convicted of any offence (other than traffic offence, if any) within the past five (5) 
years nor any public sanction or penalty imposed by regulatory bodies during the financial year.

Executive Vice Chairman
Malaysian, Male
64 years of age

Independent 
Non-Executive Chairman
Malaysian, Male
81 years of age

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS

Profile of Directors
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Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong

Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong is one of the founding members of PMB and has been the Group Chief 
Executive Officer since 1993. He has been instrumental in growing PMB into the largest integrated 
aluminium producer in Southeast Asia. 

Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong was appointed as the Group Chief Executive Officer of PMAH on 4 July 
2017; ahead of the Company’s assumption of the listing status of PMB pursuant to the internal 
reorganisation on 10 July 2017. He attended all the five (5) Board meetings held during the financial year.

Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical Engineering from 
The University of Oklahoma, United States of America, in 1986. He has more than 30 years of experience 
in the aluminium industry. Currently, he also acts as the Executive Chairman of PMB Technology Berhad.

He is the brother to Koon Poh Ming, Koon Poh Kong, Koon Poh Weng and Dato’ Koon Poh Tat. He has 
not been convicted of any offence (other than traffic offence, if any) within the past five (5) years nor any 
public sanction or penalty imposed by regulatory bodies during the financial year.

Dato’ Koon Poh Tat

Dato’ Koon Poh Tat was first appointed to the Board of PMB on 7 June 1999.  He is a co-founder of PMB 
and has been actively involved in PMB’s operations including forming up new business outlets both 
domestic and overseas to enlarge PMB’s network and market share. His hard work and dedication has 
led PMB to be the pioneer in the aluminium industry. 

Dato’ Koon Poh Tat was appointed as the Executive Director of PMAH on 4 July 2017; ahead of the 
Company’s assumption of the listing status of PMB pursuant to the internal reorganisation on 10 July 
2017. He attended all the five (5) Board meetings held during the financial year.

Currently, he also acts as the Executive Director of PMB Technology Berhad.

He is the brother to Koon Poh Ming, Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong, Koon Poh Kong and Koon Poh 
Weng. He has not been convicted of any offence (other than traffic offence, if any) within the past five (5) 
years nor any public sanction or penalty imposed by regulatory bodies during the financial year.

Executive Director
Malaysian, Male
61 years of age

Group Chief Executive 
Officer
Malaysian, Male
59 years of age
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Koon Poh Weng

Mr. Koon Poh Weng was a Board member of PMB since 13 May 1986. Being a key founder of PMB, he 
continually strives on the changing and creative ideas to meet today’s complex and advanced technical 
skills to all aspects of aluminium and glazing industry. 

Mr. Koon Poh Weng was appointed as the Executive Director of PMAH on 4 July 2017; ahead of the 
Company’s assumption of the listing status of PMB pursuant to the internal reorganisation on 10 July 
2017. He had on 19 September 2017 resigned as Executive Director of PMB.  He attended all the five (5) 
Board meetings held during the financial year. 

Mr. Koon Poh Weng has also widely involved himself in the management of major projects both locally 
and overseas. He has been responsible for the design, engineering and development of cost-effective, 
innovative and versatile system solutions and in producing satisfactory results on large variety of projects 
ranging from commercial buildings, government complexes to prominent hotels. He also acts as the 
Executive Director of PMB Technology Berhad and Managing Director of Angkasa Jasa Sdn Bhd, a 
company within the Group involved in contracting and fabrication of aluminium and glazing works, as well 
as stainless steel products. 

He is the brother to Koon Poh Ming, Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong, Koon Poh Kong and Dato’ Koon Poh 
Tat. He has not been convicted of any offence (other than traffic offence, if any) within the past five (5) 
years nor any public sanction or penalty imposed by regulatory bodies during the financial year.

Koon Poh Kong

Mr. Koon Poh Kong was a Board member of PMB since 13 May 1986. As a key founder of PMB, his 
experiences include the management of major projects throughout the country. He has been responsible 
for all aspects of the management and for producing satisfactory results on large variety of projects 
ranging from government complexes to prominent hotels. 

Mr. Koon Poh Kong was appointed as the Executive Director of PMAH on 4 July 2017; ahead of the 
Company’s assumption of the listing status of PMB pursuant to the internal reorganisation on 10 July 
2017. He had then on 19 September 2017 resigned as Executive Director of PMB. He attended all the five 
(5) Board meetings held during the financial year. 

Currently, he acts as the Executive Director of Angkasa Jasa Sdn Bhd, a company within the Group 
involved in contracting and fabrication of aluminium and glazing works, as well as stainless steel 
products. 

He is the brother to Koon Poh Ming, Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong, Koon Poh Weng and Dato’ Koon Poh 
Tat. He has not been convicted of any offence (other than traffic offence, if any) within the past five (5) 
years nor any public sanction or penalty imposed by regulatory bodies during the financial year.

Executive Director
Malaysian, Male
67 years of age

Executive Director
Malaysian, Male
65 years of age
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Tan Heng Kui

Mr. Tan Heng Kui was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of PMB since 26 December 
2001 and re-designated as Senior Independent Non-Executive Director on 1 September 2016. 

Mr. Tan Heng Kui was appointed as a Senior Independent Non-Executive Director of PMAH on 4 July 
2017; ahead of the Company’s assumption of the listing status of PMB pursuant to the internal 
reorganisation on 10 July 2017. He had then on 19 September 2017 resigned as Independent 
Non-Executive Director of PMB. He serves as a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration 
Committee and Risk Management Committee of the Company. He attended four (4) out of five (5) Board 
meetings held during the financial year.

Mr. Tan Heng Kui obtained his Bachelor of Science Honours in Civil Engineering from The University of 
Wales, United Kingdom. He was a Vice President for The Institution of Engineers, Malaysia from 2000 to 
2004, and was a member of the Professional Practice Committee, Board of Engineers Malaysia. He set up 
his own consulting firm, Perunding Pertama Consulting Engineers in 1988. He is also the Executive 
Director of Kumpulan IKRAM (Sabah) Sdn. Bhd. since 1997 and sits in the Board of Prostaco Berhad as 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director since 10 December 2012. 

He was awarded the title of Honorary Fellow of the Asian Federation of Engineering Organisations in 2015 
for his contribution to the engineering industry.

He has no conflict of interest with the Group and has no family relationship with any Director and/or major 
shareholder of the Group. He has not been convicted of any offence (other than traffic offence, if any) 
within the past five (5) years nor any public sanction or penalty imposed by regulatory bodies during the 
financial year.

Senior Independent 
Non-Executive Director
Malaysian, Male
63 years of age
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Noor Alina Binti Mohamad Faiz 

Puan Noor Alina was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of PMB  on 18 October 2016. 

Puan Noor Alina was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of PMAH on 4 July 2017; ahead 
of the Company’s assumption of the listing status of PMB pursuant to the internal reorganisation on 10 July 
2017. She had then on 19 September 2017 resigned as Independent Non-Executive Director of PMB. She 
serves as a member of Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of the 
Company. She attended all the five (5) Board meetings held during the financial year. 

She is a lawyer by profession and read law at the University of Leicester, United Kingdom. She is a member 
of the Middle Temple and was called to the Bar of England and Wales in 1998.  After her return to Malaysia, 
she chambered with Messrs Lee, Perara & Tan and upon being called to the Malaysian Bar in 1999, she was 
practised with the said firm until 2009.  Between 2010 and 2015, she was the Group General Manager and 
subsequently, Head of Department of the legal and secretarial departments of Media Prima Berhad and 
Peremba (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd, respectively.  In 2016, she provided consultancy services for legal and 
secretarial matters for various companies before resuming practise in 2017 as the sole proprietor of the 
Chambers of Noor Alina Faiz. She also acts as the Independent Non-Executive Director of PMB Technology 
Berhad.

She has no conflict of interest with the Group and has no family relationship with any Director and/or major 
shareholder of the Group. She has not been convicted of any offence (other than traffic offence, if any) within 
the past five (5) years nor any public sanction or penalty imposed by regulatory bodies during the financial 
year.

Loo Lean Hock

Mr. Loo Lean Hock was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of PMB on 14 September 
2001.

Mr. Loo Lean Hock was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of PMAH on 4 July 2017; 
ahead of the Company’s assumption of the listing status of PMB pursuant to the internal reorganisation on 
10 July 2017. He had then on 19 September 2017 resigned as Independent Non-Executive Director of 
PMB. He serves as the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee of 
the Company. He attended all the five (5) Board meetings held during the financial year. 

Mr. Loo Lean Hock is a Chartered Accountant of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants; a practising 
member of Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants; a Fellow of CPA Australia; a professional 
member of Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia; and an associate member of Chartered Tax Institute of 
Malaysia. He obtained his Master of Business Administration from University of Bath, United Kingdom in 
1992. He started his professional career in Coopers & Lybrand from 1980 to 1990. He joined Press Metal 
Berhad in 1990 as the Financial Controller. Thereafter, he joined The Crown Princess Kuala Lumpur (a 
hotel division of Asia Pacific Land Berhad) as the Financial Controller. He set up his own auditing firm, 
L.H. Loo & Co. in July 1993 as the sole practitioner. He is currently a Director of LH Loo Taxation Services 
Sdn. Bhd., Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of LVIO Precision Sdn. Bhd. In addition, he also 
acts as the Independent Non-Executive Director of PMB Technology Berhad. 

He has no conflict of interest with the Group and has no family relationship with any Director and/or major 
shareholder of the Group. He has not been convicted of any offence (other than traffic offence, if any) 
within the past five (5) years nor any public sanction or penalty imposed by regulatory bodies during the 
financial year.

Independent 
Non-Executive Director
Malaysian, Male
61 years of age

Independent 
Non-Executive Director
Malaysian, Female
46 years of age
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Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim

Mr. Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company 
on 15 August 2018. He is also a member of the Risk Management Committee of the Company. He attended 
all the five (5) Board meetings held during the financial year. 

Mr. David Lim is a member of the Chartered Institute of Taxation, United Kingdom; a professional member of 
the Institute of the Chartered Accountant in England and Wales, a member of the Malaysian Institute of 
Accountants; and a member of Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He graduated with a 
Bachelor of Arts in Economics from the University of Leeds in 1978 and started his professional career in 
Peat Marwick Mitchell (now known as KPMG) in the United Kingdom. He returned to Malaysia in 1982 to 
continue his service with KPMG. He has had an extensive career serving as an auditor at KPMG for 33 years. 
During his career with KPMG, he was admitted as Partner of the Firm in 1990 and served in the Management 
Committee of the Firm from 1997 to 2001 as well as KPMG's Partnership Supervisory Council from 2002 to 
2010. He was also the Asian Anchor Practice representative for Marketing from 2000 to 2001 in which he 
gained extensive and insightful knowledge from KPMG Global counterparts worldwide. 

In 2006, he was tasked to start up the Audit Committee Institute, Malaysia, which was a virtual worldwide 
initiative sponsored by KPMG to assist Independent Non-Executive Directors in enhancing their awareness 
and ability to implement effective board processes.

Mr. David Lim actively served as an examiner for Company Law examinations conducted by the Malaysian 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“MICPA”) for over a period of 10 years. He was also the Chairman 
of the MICPA Code of Ethics Committee and a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants Code of 
Ethics Committee from 2002 to 2004. He also developed an expertise from undertaking the role of Reporting 
Accountants in initial public offerings (“IPO”) and was the audit partner in charge of over 30 IPOs whilst at 
KPMG. He retired from KPMG in 2011.

In 2013, Mr. David Lim was appointed as a Council Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
England and Wales (the first time Malaysia was granted a seat in the Council) for a term of two years till June 
2015, which was then renewed for a further two year term till May 2017. He was reappointed for the third and 
final term in Council in early 2017 which ended in mid 2019.

Mr. David Lim sits on the Board of a few public listed companies, namely Ranhill Holdings Berhad, Manulife 
Holdings Berhad, Sasbadi Holdings Behad and Kawan Food Berhad as an Independent Non-Executive 
Director. He also hold directorship in Manulife Insurance Berhad, Fairview Schools Berhad, Affin Hwang 
Investment Bank Berhad, Rockwills Trustee Bhd and Affin Investment Berhad (In Member’s Voluntary 
Liquidation).    

He has no conflict of interest with the Group and has no family relationship with any Director and/or major 
shareholder of the Group. He has not been convicted of any offence (other than traffic offence, if any) within 
the past five (5) years nor any public sanction or penalty imposed by regulatory bodies during the financial 
year.

Independent 
Non-Executive Director
Malaysian, Male
64 years of age
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David Tan Hung Hoe

Mr. David Tan joined Press Metal as the Head of Corporate Affairs in 2007. 
He holds a Master Degree in Business Administration from University of 
Georgia and a Bachelor of Science Degree (Banking & Finance) from 
University of Arkansas.

Mr. David Tan started his career as corporate finance analyst and advisor 
both locally and overseas. Prior to joining Press Metal, he was the Corporate 
Affairs General Manager of a public listed company, overseeing various 
corporate developments and expansion.

Loo Tai Choong

Mr. Loo Tai Choong joined Press Metal in 2001 and was promoted to the 
position of Group Financial Controller in 2002. He is a qualified Chartered 
Accountant and a member of the Malaysian Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants.

Mr. Loo started his career as an auditor, involved in a wide range of audit and 
tax consultation, as well as corporate investigation works, specialising 
particularly in manufacturing, banking and insurance industries. Prior to 
joining Press Metal, he was the Finance Manager of a local banking group. 

Choa Wei Keong

Mr. Choa Wei Keong joined Press Metal in 2009 and was promoted as the 
Group General Manager of Smelting Division in 2018. Mr. Choa holds a 
Bachelor of Science Degree in Business Administration (Marketing) with 
Honours from University of Wales.

Mr. Choa started his career with the banking industry, specialising in trade 
financing and credit management. He was the Vice President of Group 
Special Asset Management of a Singapore bank prior to joining Press Metal.

Mr. Choa is the brother-in-law of Puan Sri Datin Khoo Ee Pheng, a major 
shareholder of Press Metal.

Head of Corporate 
Affairs
Malaysian, Male
55 years of age

Group General 
Manager
(Smelting Division)
Singaporean, Male
48 years of age

Group Financial 
Controller
Malaysian, Male
52 years of age

Key Senior Management & Country Heads

KEY SENIOR MANAGEMENT

(Profiles of the Executive Vice Chairman, Group Chief Executive Officer and Executive Directors are listed on pages 18-20)
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Mr. Lim Heng Kam joined Press Metal in 2003 and was promoted 
as the Manufacturing Director of Press Metal International Ltd. 
(“PMI”) in 2006. Mr. Lim was appointed as the Executive Director 
of PMI in 2012. He holds a Master of Science degree in 
Manufacturing System Engineering from Warwick University.

Prior to joining Press Metal, Mr. Lim was the Production 
Engineer of a local aluminium company.

Mr. Andrew David Brace joined Press Metal UK Limited as the 
Operations Director in 2004. He holds a Bachelor of Science 
(Hons) degree from University of Nottingham.

Mr. Brace has more than 30 years of experience in the 
aluminium industry. Prior to joining Press Metal, he was the 
Sales Director of a world-renowned aluminium company. 

Mr. Paul Ingram joined Press Metal Aluminium (Australia) Pty. 
Ltd. as the Managing Director in 2014. He holds a High School 
Certificate from Saint Ignatius College Riverview.

Mr. Ingram has more than 20 years of experience in the 
aluminium industry. Prior to joining Press Metal, he was the 
owner and director of a long-established aluminium fabrication 
company in Australia. 

Mr. Keith Burlingame joined Press Metal North America Inc. as a 
director in 2009. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree in 
Economics from University of Illinois.

Mr. Burlingame has over 35 years of experience in the 
aluminium industry during which he has led large sales and 
marketing organisations. His experience includes key account 
and sales team management, manufacturing operations as well 
as business planning and development. He has worked with 
various industry groups throughout his career, including The 
Aluminium Association, The Aluminium Extruders Council, Truck 
Trailer Manufacturers Association.

Save as disclosed, the Key Senior Management members have no family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of Press Metal, have no conflict of 
interest with Press Metal, have not been convicted of any offences (other than traffic offence, if any) within the past five years and have not been imposed any public 
sanction or penalty by the relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year 2019.

Lim Heng Kam

Executive Director
Press Metal International Ltd
Malaysian, Male
50 years of age

Paul Ingram

Managing Director
Press Metal Aluminium 
(Australia) Pty Ltd
Australian, Male
52 years of age

Andrew David Brace

Operations Director
Press Metal UK Limited
British, Male
59 years of age

Keith Burlingame

Director
Press Metal North America Inc
American, Male
62 years of age

CHINA UNITED KINGDOM

AUSTRALIA NORTH AMERICA

Key Senior Management & Country Heads
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Sustainability Report

ABOUT THIS REPORT 
102-1, 102-46, 102-50, 102-52, 102-53

This marks the fourth year that Press Metal Aluminium Holdings Berhad (“Press Metal” or the “Group”) has produced a 
detailed narration of its economic, environmental and social (“EES”) performance for the financial year from 1 January 2019 to 
31 December 2019. At Press Metal, we strive to promote circular economy, societal development and to minimise the impact 
of our manufacturing processes on the environment. 

This report should also be read alongside with other statements in this Annual Report (e.g. Letter to Stakeholders and 

Management Discussion & Analysis, Corporate Governance Overview Statement and Statement on Risk Management and 

Internal Control) as sustainability efforts may be better contextualised and narrated in the respective statements.

“In 2019, we undertook an assessment of material sustainability matters to fine-tune the direction of Press Metal’s 
commitments towards building a sustainable aluminium business”

Reporting Framework

This annual sustainability report has been prepared with the guidance of the following frameworks and standards:

Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad Main Market Listing 
Requirements:

• Bursa Malaysia’s 
Sustainability Reporting 
Guide (2nd Edition) 

PRINCIPAL
GUIDELINES

• Aluminium Stewardship 
Initiative (“ASI”) 
Performance Standard

• FTSE4Good Bursa 
Malaysia Index’s Criteria

• Global Reporting Initiative 
(“GRI”) Standards 

SUPPLEMENTARY
GUIDELINES

• United Nations 
Sustainable Development 
Goals

COMMITMENT

Throughout the report, where applicable, the GRI Standards indicators are mentioned below the title. The GRI Content Index 
on pages 79-82 provides the list of disclosures that are used throughout this report. 
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Reporting Scope

 
Our focus for this year’s reporting is our manufacturing operations, the principal contributors of the Group’s EES impacts. This 
report excludes information and activities carried out at distribution and trading levels; Press Metal Aluminium (Australia) Pty 
Ltd, Press Metal UK Ltd and Press Metal North America Inc as their EES impacts are insignificant. 

Business Operations Operating Entities 

UPSTREAM • Press Metal Sarawak Sdn Bhd

• Press Metal Bintulu Sdn Bhd

MID/DOWNSTREAM • Press Metal Berhad

• Press Metal Aluminium Rods Sdn Bhd

• Press Metal International Limited

• Press Metal International Technology Ltd

Feedback

We value feedback from our stakeholders regarding our sustainability performance and the content of this report. Please 
direct any enquiry, comments or concerns to: 

Email : ir@pressmetal.com

Assurance

We have yet to seek any external assurance for the current report. We acknowledge the credibility of an independent 

verification and will consider such assurance in the coming years. 
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PRESS METAL AT A GLANCE
102-2, 102-3, 102-4, 102-6, 102-7, 102-9, 102-10

Press Metal is a Malaysian-based aluminium company that expanded from a privately-owned local aluminium extrusion 
company in 1986 to the largest integrated producer of aluminium products in Southeast Asia. Press Metal is listed on Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad and one of the top 30 companies which forms the FTSE KLCI Index. The Group has upstream 
and mid/downstream operations located in Malaysia and China. 

Our products:

LME Certified
Aluminium Ingots

(P1020)

Building Materials Specific Applications Electronic Components Automotive

Billets Alloy Ingots

(A356)

Wire Rods

PRIMARY

PRODUCTS

Capacity

760k
Tonnes p.a.

  VALUE ADDED

  PRODUCTS

Capacity

Billet  : 240k
Wire Rods  : 200k
Alloy Ingots  : 120k

Tonnes p.a.

EXTRUDED

SOLUTIONS

Capacity

210k
Tonnes p.a.

The Group’s key geographical markets for primary and value-added products are Asia, Southeast Asia and Europe/Turkey. 

The remaining markets include South America and South Africa.

As for the Group’s extrusion products, the main markets for Press Metal Berhad are Malaysia, Singapore and Australia, 

whereas Press Metal International Limited main markets are China and the European region. The downstream extrusion 

segment involves the production of a wide range of extrusion products utilised in industries such as construction, automobile, 

electronic and electrical. 

Sustainability Report

Cont’d
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Our Operations

Press Metal’s principal business activities comprise of manufacturing and trading of both upstream and downstream 

aluminium products. The manufacturing operations are classified into upstream and mid/downstream which consist of 

smelting, casting and extrusion of aluminium products.

Source: European Aluminium

SMELTING

Alumina is smelted into pure aluminium metal 

using the Hall-Héroult process, which breaks 

the strong chemical bond of the aluminium and 

oxygen atoms using a powerful electric current.

01

EXTRUSION

Defined as the process of shaping aluminium, by 

forcing it to flow through a shaped opening in a die. 

The aluminium extrusion process has the added 

benefit of enabling fast product development 

cycles due to its low-cost and flexible tooling.

Billets are extruded into various products or objects 

(e.g. window frames, ladders, furniture, etc.)

03

CASTING

Molten aluminium is collected and transferred in 
the casthouse, where it is purified, alloyed to 
specification and then cast into primary and 
value-added products.

02
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UPSTREAM

Incorporated in 2007, Press Metal Sarawak Sdn Bhd (“PMS”), which the plant’s operations are predominantly powered by 

hydro-electricity, is located at Mukah, Sarawak. This is the first-ever aluminium smelting plant in Malaysia with a smelting 

capacity of 120,000 metric tonnes per annum.

Incorporated in 2010, Press Metal Bintulu Sdn Bhd (“PMBTU”), which the plant’s operations are predominantly powered 

by hydro-electricity, is strategically located at Samalaju Industrial Park, Bintulu, Sarawak. This is Press Metal’s second 

aluminium smelting plant with a smelting capacity of 640,000 metric tonnes per annum, making it the largest aluminium 

smelter in Southeast Asia. Currently, PMBTU is undertaking the construction of Phase 3 smelter in Samalaju, which will add 

on an additional 320,000 metric tonnes capacity per annum.

We produce London Metal Exchange (“LME”) certified high grade aluminium ingots (P1020A) with minimum purity of 99.7% 

aluminium content. 

MID/DOWNSTREAM

One of our earlier entities, Press Metal Berhad (“PMB”), which was incorporated in 1986, is located in Selangor, Malaysia 

with an extrusion capacity of 50,000 metric tonnes per annum. Our multiple extrusion presses enable us to cater for a 

variety of profiles with different circumscribing circle diameters and different surface finishing such as anodising, powder 

coating, and polyvinylidene fluoride (“PVDF”) finishing. 

Established in 2005, Press Metal International Limited (“PMI”) is located in Guangdong, China. Our multiple extrusion 

presses enable us to cater for a variety of profiles, from small to large sectional profiles with different surface finishing such 

as anodising, powder coating, and PVDF finishing. This extrusion facility has the capacity to produce 160,000 metric tonnes 

per annum. 

Established in 2011, Press Metal International Technology Ltd (“PMIT”) is located in the same area as PMI. It is equipped 

with more than two hundred sets of precision machines and state-of-the-art robotic machineries with fabrication capacity of 

60,000 metric tonnes per annum. 

Acquired in 2018, Press Metal Aluminium Rods Sdn Bhd (“PMAR”) is located in Johor, Malaysia with the production 

capacity of 100,000 metric tonnes of wire rods per annum. Through PMAR, we became a regional market leader of 

aluminium wire rods. Producing Electrical Conductor aluminium grade rods and other aluminium grade rods, we ensure that 

our products are in accordance with the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (“REACH”) and 

Restriction of Hazardous Substances (“RoHS”) which are the regulatory frameworks adopted by the European Union. 

Sustainability Report
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OUR HIGHLIGHTS

Awards and Achievements 

Enlisted into:

• Forbes Asia’s Best Over A Billion List

Received 5 awards:

• Company of the Year

• Highest Growth in Profit After Tax Over Three Years 

– Big Cap Companies

• Highest Return on Equity Over Three Years 

– Big Cap Companies

• Highest Growth in Profit After Tax Over Three Years 

– Industrial Products & Services Sector

• Highest Return on Equity Over Three Years

– Industrial Products & Services Sector

Received 2 awards: 

• Outstanding Winner, CMIEA 2019

• Gold Winner (Large Category Company), CMIEA 2019 

We are proud to announce that one of our entities, Press Metal Bintulu Sdn Bhd won the highest corporate 

award in Sarawak, Chief Minister’s Industry Excellence Awards 2019. This award aims to recognise and honour 

outstanding businesses in Sarawak. 

Sustainability Report
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SUSTAINABILITY FRAMEWORK AND APPROACH
102-16

Our sustainability approach is steered by Press Metal’s Guiding Principles: Global Outlook, Business Acumen, Quality 
Excellence, Focused Teamwork and Social Responsibilities. These Principles helped us fabricate our Sustainability Policy 
which now oversee our endeavours to integrate sustainability into the Group’s strategy, policies and procedures.

Having given due consideration to the five Guiding Principles and the nature of our impact on the environment, economy 
and society, we have based the narrative of this report on four main themes. These themes are Responsible Governance, 
Economic Resilience & Excellence, Eco-Conscious Corporate Citizen and Sustainable Communities & Workforce.

Managing 

Sustainability Risks and

Opportunities

Social

Responsibilities

Focused

Teamwork 

Global 

Outlook

Business 

Acumen

Quality

Excellence

√ Responsible Governance

√ Economic Resilience & Excellence

√ Eco-Conscious Corporate Citizen 

√ Sustainable Communities & Workforce

In year 2018, we progressed further by setting sustainability targets to benchmark our EES performance. Using year 2016’s 

performance as the baseline, the table below describes our results against the targets up to this year.

Targets Performance in Financial Year (“FY”) 2019

Reduce water consumption by 5% by 2023 Increased water consumption by 14%

Increase women in managerial role to 30% On-going effort with 24% of women in managerial roles

Maintain zero fatality 1 fatality 

Increase total female workforce to 20% Total female workforce currently equals 15% 

We aspire to augment our sustainability performance not only for profitability, but also to engender positive EES impact. The table 
on the next page depicts the correlation between our key capitals (inputs) and its business outputs/ value created that have been 
categorised into four fundamental themes. Each material matter has been categorised under a theme based on its sphere of 
influence. 

Sustainability Report
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Financial Capital

Funds obtained through 

financing and/or 

generated through 

investments and 

operations

We are committed to uphold the highest practical standards of corporate governance, 

while delivering value to our stakeholders

Material Matters Outcome 
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Intellectual/

Technological Capital 

Intellectual/technological 

infrastructures to 

and effectiveness of 

production processes 

and aid the development 

of aluminium products

Natural Resources 

production processes 

such as raw materials, 

water, etc.

Skilled Talents 

various background

and experiences

Relationship with 

Stakeholders 

stakeholders such as 

customers, business 

partners and suppliers

Responsible
Governance

Economic
Resilience &
Excellence

Eco-Conscious
Corporate

Citizen

Sustainable
Communities &

Workforce

throughout our value chain, taking into consideration stakeholder interests and 

concerns

As an eco-conscious corporate citizen, we consider the environmental impact in 

offering our products and services

local communities

Material Matters

gement

Material Matters

Material Matters 

Outcome 

acquisitions to further secure alumina and 
carbon anode

Outcome 

reduce consumption from conventional 
sources

Outcome 
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Management Approach: How We Manage our Material Matters 

As a responsible aluminium producer leading the Southeast Asia market, we are cognisant of our EES impacts arising from 

manufacturing processes.

Our sustainable effort is governed by the Board of Directors (“BOD”), who is responsible for reviewing and approving overall 

strategic plans on sustainability matters. The Executive Committee, spearheaded by the Group Chief Executive Officer 

(“GCEO”) is responsible for formulating and overseeing the implementation of strategies. The Sustainability Working Group 

(“SWG”) guides, monitors and reports on all sustainability efforts across all business divisions. Our management systems 

referenced international standards, and are integrated with written policies and procedures, control and monitoring systems, 

risk management and training as well as meeting the requirements of international certification standards, such as the 

Aluminium Stewardship Initiative (“ASI”) and International Organization for Standardization (“ISO”).

In March 2020, Press Metal became a member of the ASI, a global non-profit standards setting and certification organisation 

that promotes measurable and continual improvement in the environmental, social and governance impacts of aluminium 

production, use and recycling. Ultimately, ASI aims to maximise the benefit of aluminium in the development of a sustainable 

society. This demonstrates our commitment to ensuring that systems are in place to embed sustainability throughout our 

value chain. 

Guided by our newly revised Sustainability Policy, we have implemented the necessary management approach to govern the 

method by which sustainability are addressed in the organisation. We also assess our initiatives and sustainability related 

matters to ensure its alignment to the Group’s strategies and goals.

 

More information about our management approach can be found in the section on Material Sustainability Matters where we 

discuss on our relevant material matters and Sustainability Stewardship. 
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Press Metal’s Commitment To United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs”) 

SDGs are a set of 17 global goals set by the United Nations in 2015 that emphasise a holistic approach to address the 

challenges in achieving sustainable development. As a leading aluminium producer in Southeast Asia, we are cognisant of 

our responsibilities to manage our EES impacts. We have aligned our initiatives to the 10 most relevant SDGs, of which they 

showcase our contributions to the global agenda of sustainable development. In the table below, we have listed the 10 SDGs 

that we support, and each has been matched to a corresponding initiative, activity, target, policy or our performance. 

SDGs Targets Press Metal’s Contributions 

SDG 3: 

Good Health 

and Well-being

• We have an established OH&S Policy to provide a safe working environment.

• Press Metal conducted yearly “Blood Donation Drive” with Hospital Bintulu.

• Press Metal’s employees are covered by health insurance.

• Recreational facilities such as gym and sport amenities are available at all plants to 

encourage healthy living. 

• We have organised/contributed to sports related events which encourage outdoor activities 

e.g. futsal, football, archery, netball and our biggest annual charity run event, Santa Run.

• We managed our waste responsibly and ensured proper storage as well as disposal.

SDG 4: 

Quality 

Education

• We partnered with local government agency to establish an Innovative Creative Centre for 

students to develop robotic skills. 

• Press Metal’s apprenticeship programme provided opportunities to more than 39 students. 

This programme includes technical, non-technical, on-the-job training and professional 

development to employees and young graduates. 

• STEM Volunteer Teaching is an on-going initiative by Press Metal in which we provide 

free tuition classes on Science, Mathematics, English and Bahasa Melayu for primary and 

secondary school students. 

• Monetary contribution to students such as Rural Kids Education Fund, Anugerah 

Kecemerlangan Pelajar Tajaan Press Metal and Student Excellence Awards.

• PMI and PMIT provided financial aid to 7 children of our working staff.

SDG 5:

Gender 

Equality

• The female employees comprise at least 15% of the total workforce for the past three 

years. Our target is to achieve 30% of women in managerial roles, and 20% for total 

female workforce.

• We allow flexible nursing hours and provided nursery facilities at the workplace for working 

mothers.

• We established a Diversity Policy which emphasises gender equality among others.

SDG 7:

Affordable and 

Clean Energy

• Our smelting plants use electricity generated predominantly from hydro-powered dam. 

• Invested on energy reduction initiatives such as installation of inverter motors, regenerative 

burners and installation of LED lights.

• Our extrusion plant in China is partially powered by solar energy. 

• We monitor and track our energy consumption.
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SDGs Targets Press Metal’s Contributions 

SDG 8:

Decent Work 

and Economic 

Growth

• We established Code of Conduct, Diversity Policy and Risk Management Policy to provide 

a conducive working environment for our employees. 

• We provided professional development programmes and safe workplace for employees. 

• We provided over 5,000 employment opportunities and development of beneficial business 

partnerships – cross border joint ventures.

• Enlisted in Forbes Asia’s Best Over a Billion List.

• Presented with five awards from The Edge Billion Ringgit Club in 2019.

• PMBTU won the Sarawak Chief Minister’s Industry Excellence Award for 2019.

• Additional of 320,000 tonnes smelting capacity to PMBTU through expansion of PMBTU’s 

Phase 3.

• Ventured upstream by completing several acquisitions to further secure alumina and 

carbon anode.

• 93% local suppliers engaged.

• Approximately 60% of total expenditure on supplies spent on local suppliers.

• We have in place Child Labour Policy, an Underage Worker Management Policy and a 

Forced Labour Policy.

SDG 9: 

Industry, 

Innovation, and 

Infrastructure

• Invested in various technologies to optimise aluminium manufacturing process.

• Improved and upgraded manufacturing assets and processes, utilising environmentally 

sound technologies and business partnerships to exchange skills, expertise and 

technology.

SDG 10: 

Reduced 

Inequalities

• Promote fair and safe workplace and established a Diversity Policy.

• We have established a Discrimination Policy.

SDG 12:

Responsible 

Consumption 

and Production

• Up to 74% recycled materials input used in one of our extrusion plants. 

• Efficient use of resources and adoption of environmentally sound technologies.

• Internal recovery process for aluminum dross, carbon dross and iron dross.

• Constructed rainwater harvesting tanks at upstream facilities.

• Set targets to reduce water consumption by 5% by the year 2023 and 10% by the year 

2030 using year 2016 as the baseline.

• We monitor material consumption and waste generation.

SDG 13:

Climate Action

• Implemented PMSys, a Performance Management System, integrating indicators to reduce 

air emissions.

• Adopted efficient burner to alleviate energy consumption which decreases carbon emission. 

• Provide shuttle bus services for our workers to plants which minimise carbon emissions 

from travelling.

SDG 16:

Peace, Justice, 

and Strong 

Institutions

• We continued to uphold strong corporate governance and ethical behavior.

• We adhered to labour rights at all operating plants.
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SUSTAINABILITY STEWARDSHIP 
102-18, 102-19, 102-20, 102-26

Sustainability stewardship remains the foundation of our sustainability excellence. Press Metal’s sustainability practices, 

overseen by the Executive Committee, are integrated at the management and operational level. In addition to demonstrating 

openness and accountability in the way we conduct our upstream and mid/downstream operations, we also interweave EES 

considerations in decision making. 

In tandem with our policies, the BOD is the highest governance body and is responsible for reviewing and approving overall 

strategic plans on EES matters. The Executive Committee which is helmed by the GCEO is responsible for formulating and 

overseeing the implementation of the approved strategic plans and primarily to communicate and inform the BOD on Press 

Metal’s sustainability performance. This Committee is in turn aided by the SWG. 

The SWG is chaired by the Group Financial Controller and comprises representatives from Corporate Affairs Department, 

Group Internal Audit Department and Group Environment, Health & Safety Department. 

Board of Directors Accountable for scrutinising and approving overall strategic plan, 

with attention given to managing EES impacts of the Group’s 

business operations.

Executive Committee A management-level committee that is responsible for formulating 

and overseeing the implementation of overall strategies in day-to-

day operations. 

Sustainability Working Group
The SWG is responsible to guide the implementation, monitoring 

and reporting of sustainability management efforts across all 

business divisions.

Corporate 

Affairs

Department

Group Internal

Audit

Department

Group 

Environment,

Health & Safety

Department
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Managing Challenges, Risks and Opportunities 
102-11, 102-15

With rapid urbanisation and global megatrends today, aluminium which is known for its versatility, lightweight and recyclable 

properties, continues to be in global demand among base metals. Therefore, we ensure that risks, directly or indirectly linked 

to our operations, including climate change are adequately addressed and effectively managed. 

The Group has embraced a sustainable growth strategy and advocates a risk awareness culture; identifying, assessing, 

monitoring, and mitigating risks that may compromise its ability to achieve its desired goals and aspirations. To underscore 

the Group’s commitment on this front, we formally established a Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) in May 2019. With the 

establishment of the RMC, we are certain that our approach on risk management will be more structured and effective.

At Press Metal, we are committed to the effectiveness of our enterprise risk management and therefore, we adopt the ISO 

31000:2018 standard in developing our risk management framework. Our risk management is an on-going process carried 

out at all levels of operations. The process includes identifying, assessing, monitoring and reporting the significant risks, 

opportunities, and challenges to the BOD. As such, we manage risks meticulously to minimise the possibility of shortcomings 

due to risk. 

We assessed and identified the key challenges, risks and opportunities faced by the Group as a whole. Throughout the year, 

the Group remained steadfast in managing these challenges due to sound business acumen and versatility to remain resilient.  

Globally, initiatives to combat climate change are being implemented by majority of the aluminium industry players. Press 

Metal together with its value chain, have also implemented initiatives to combat this issue at all levels. Please refer to other 

relevant sections of our Material Sustainability Matters for further elaboration.

To understand more of our key challenges, risks and opportunities, please refer to the section on Letter to Stakeholders and 

Management Discussion & Analysis and respective Material Sustainability Matters in this report.
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ENGAGING OUR STAKEHOLDERS
102-13, 102-15, 102-40, 102-43, 102-44

We acknowledge the importance of our stakeholders and their influences on our sustainable aluminium operations. At Press 

Metal, we endeavour to strengthen our partnership with internal and external stakeholders through regular communication. 

For example, we evaluate our panel suppliers annually and conduct one-to-one meetings with our suppliers/contractors/

service providers/consultants to impart our standards and expectations.

The Group actively participates in the community where it operates and stays engaged with industry peers by subscribing to 

and joining associations and membership organisations such as:

• Aluminium Stewardship Initiative

• Federation of Malaysian Manufacturers

• International Aluminium Institute

• Sarawak Chamber of Commerce and Industry

MALAYSIA

MEMBERSHIP AND ASSOCIATIONS 

• Aluminium Stewardship Initiative

• China Association of the National Shipbuilding Industry 

• China Non-Ferrous Metal Industry Association

• Guangdong Association Shipbuilding Industry

• Guangdong Automobile Industry Association

• Nanhai Aluminium Profile Association

• Sanshui Aluminium Association

• Society of Automotive Engineers of China

CHINA
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The table below summarises the communication platforms we employed to address stakeholders’ interests and concerns. 

Stakeholder 

Groups Focus Area Engagement Channel 

Frequency of 

Engagement 

Board of 

Directors 

• Company strategy 

• Business development and maintaining 

partnerships

• Corporate governance practices

• Performance of manufacturing processes

• Contribution to the society

• Human capital management

• Environmental management

• Quality of products and services

• Board meetings Quarterly

• Annual General Meeting Annually

• Company events Ad-hoc

Business 

Partners 

• Quality of products and services

• Corporate governance practices

• Performance of manufacturing processes

• Maintaining partnerships

• Supply chain management 

• On-going communications and 

visits

Continuously

Government/

Regulatory 

Authorities 

• Corporate governance practices

• Supply chain management 

• Environmental management 

• Ad-hoc public invitations As and when required

• Site visits As and when required

• Conferences As and when required

• Participation in programmes 

organised by government/ 

regulatory agencies

As and when required

Employees • Occupational health and safety

• Fair remuneration

• Fair employment practices

• Career development opportunities 

• Employment engagement 

survey

As and when required

• Learning and development 

programme

Continuously

• Employee performance 

appraisal

Annually

• Corporate volunteering 

programme 

Continuously

• Employee on-boarding training Continuously
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Stakeholder 

Groups Focus Area Engagement Channel 

Frequency of 

Engagement 

Shareholders • Dividend 

• Company financial performance 

• Quality of products and services 

• Corporate governance practices

• Performance of manufacturing processes 

• Annual general meeting Annually

Customers/

Distributors 

• Quality of products and services 

• Corporate governance practices

• Performance of manufacturing processes

• Maintaining partnerships

• Supply chain management 

• Online platform (e.g. corporate 

website)

Continuously

• Customer satisfaction survey Annually

• Customer audits Continuously

Suppliers/

Contractors/

Service 

Providers/

Consultants

• Corporate governance practices

• Performance of manufacturing processes

• Agreeable contracts

• Maintaining partnerships

• Occupational health and safety 

• One-to-one meetings Continuously

• Periodic performance 

evaluation 

Annually

Local 

Communities 

• Community development 

• Environmental protection

• Ongoing meetings and visits Continuously

Media/Analysts • Open and transparent communications • Ad-hoc conferences As and when required

• Analysts briefings Quarterly

Trade 

Associations 

• Manufacturing operations 

• Potential collaborations 

• Corporate website Continuously

• Ongoing communications (e.g. 

taskforce, discussions, forum)

Continuously

Note: The stakeholder engagement table is maintained from last year’s reporting due to the continuation of the communication and  

engagement platforms.
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MATERIAL SUSTAINABILITY MATTERS 
102-47

We conducted the materiality assessment exercise to review the relevance of the material topics identified in FY2018, and 

to further address opportunities and risks that arose in FY2019. This year’s material sustainability matters were identified by 

taking into consideration the following points:

Press Metal’s 14 material
matters in 2018

ASI Performance
Standard

Stakeholder groups’
concerns

The Group’s EES impacts Peer IndustryGRI Standards

Based on the result from the materiality assessment exercise, we identified 16 key material matters, including two new 

material matters: Material Stewardship and Biodiversity. We conducted a materiality assessment of the 16 material matters to 

evaluate the importance of each material matter to stakeholder groups and to Press Metal. The illustration below represents 

the 4-step process that involves identification, assessment, mapping and validation.

Identification Assessment Mapping Validation

The Group revisited 
the list of material 
matters by taking into 
consideration the 14 
material matters from 
2018, recent 
stakeholder concerns, 
the Group’s EES 
impacts, operational 
challenges and 
strengths, and peer 
industry. The number 
of matters increased 
by two, making it 16 
material matters in 
FY2019.

Conducted a 
workshop with the 
Sustainability Working 
Group to assess and 
rank the 16 material 
matters. This 
assessment was 
based on the influence 
the matter could have 
on stakeholder 
decision making and 
the matter’s impact on 
the business.

The matrix was 
resulted from the 
collective feedback 
obtained from the 
Sustainability Working 
Group. The location of 
the material matters 
was mapped on the 
matrix from low to high 
importance. 

Approval and 
validation from the 
Executive Committee 
for the materiality 
matrix. 
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The materiality matrix below presents our revised material sustainability matters mapped correspondingly to the four main 

themes of this report. Each of the material matters reflects the concerns and interests of our stakeholder groups as well as 

its significance to our business operations. The report further discusses the management approach for each of these matters, 

which includes the activities, targets and safeguards the Group has in place to address them. 
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Responsible Governance

Economic Resilience &
Excellence

Eco-Conscious
Corporate Citizen

Sustainable Communities
& Workforce

Materiality Matrix In 2019

Biodiversity Water Consumption

Material Stewardship

Waste Management

Human Rights

Corporate Ethics

Supply Chain

Management

Energy Consumption

Talent Management

Emissions

Sustainable Manufacturing

Occupational Health and Safety

Product Quality and Customer

Statisfaction

Economic

Performance

Regulatory

Compliance

Local Communities
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How We Define our Material Matters 

We have mapped the 16 material matters to relating SDGs to highlight the correlation between our defined material matters 

and our SDG commitment. 

Material Matters Description Relevant SDG

Corporate Ethics Values, principles, ethical standards and norms of behaviour of the 

Group in order to ensure ethical business conduct at all times.

Regulatory 

Compliance 

Control and measures to ensure adherence to laws, regulations, 

guidelines and specifications relevant to its business processes.

Economic 

Performance

The economic performance of the Group, and how we provide local 

businesses with economic opportunities, creating added value and 

deliver decent returns to our shareholders.

Sustainable 

Manufacturing 

Practicing sustainable practices by ensuring the use of efficient 

technology, increasing productivity and reducing greenhouse gas 

emissions.  

Supply Chain 

Management 

Managing business needs in terms of materials and services in 

a sustainable, responsible and ethical way to minimise risks and 

maximise future opportunities in the supply chain process.  

Material 

Stewardship

The Group’s commitment and initiatives to promote resource 

efficiency, collection and recycling of aluminium within our business 

operations as well as within our supply chain.

Emissions Initiatives by the Group to track and minimise our emission footprint 

due to business operations.

 

Energy 

Consumption

Initiatives by the Group on responsible energy management and 

usage by adopting energy saving measures.

  

Waste 

Management 

Initiatives by the Group on proper waste management during 

operations through our policy and recovery processes, whilst 

minimising impacts to environment and communities.

Water 

Consumption 

Initiatives by the Group on responsible water management. 

Practicing water conservation through initiatives such as rainwater 

harvesting and water recycling. 
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Material Matters Description Relevant SDG

Biodiversity Initiatives and other efforts to protect and preserve the biodiversity 

in areas that the Group operates in to mitigate potential negative 

impacts.

Product Quality 

and Customer 

Satisfaction 

Quality of products and services that affects our stakeholders and 

ensuring customer satisfaction with products of the highest quality. 

Human Rights The various labour laws that the Group abides by that outlines 

against exploitation, ill-treatment, discrimination, amongst others. 

  

Occupational 

Health and Safety 

Initiatives, policies, and other measures that ensure the safety of 

employees in the work environment.

 

Talent 

Management 

How the Group manages equitable remuneration, benefits, training 

and development, and other engagement to its employees to retain 

talent and strengthen the workforce.    

Local Communities Direct and indirect impacts on the surrounding communities through 

various engagements and other CSR programmes. 
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RESPONSIBLE GOVERNANCE 

OUR APPROACH

We believe that in order to achieve the targets and improve our sustainability performance, it is important to practice 

good corporate governance. Responsible and forward-looking Management has set the direction for Press Metal to be a 

sustainable and successful aluminium manufacturer.

Contributions to SDGs

 

Corporate Ethics
102-16, 102-17 

A key element in sustaining success is robust corporate governance and ethical business practices. We are committed to 

adhere to the highest practicable standard of ethics, transparency and accountability in all aspects of our operations. 

Press Metal’s Code of Conduct (“CoC”) outlines the policies and procedures which cover 16 areas including anti-corruption, 

conflict of interest, health, safety, environment and whistleblowing. The CoC is applicable to all employees, including 

Management and Directors of the Group. It is reviewed annually by Senior Management and the BOD. We ensure that our 

employees are informed and made aware of the CoC during the on-boarding orientation and refresher courses. Our CoC is 

also made accessible to the public on our website: www.pressmetal.com.

In line with the anti-bribery provisions of the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission Act which will come into effect in June 

2020, we are in the midst of finalising our anti-corruption procedures and measures. 

With regards to whistleblowing, we recorded zero whistleblowing case. The Group strongly advises employees to adhere 

to the guidelines of CoC by reporting unethical or unlawful matters verbally, via an official letter or via email to the Audit 

Committee Chairman. Our whistleblowing procedures are outlined in Whistle Blower policy available at our website: 

www.pressmetal.com.

In addition to the CoC, the Group is underpinned by its Code of Ethics, which is made up of commitments formulated as 

statements of personal responsibilities. This Code of Ethics is designed to enhance the standard of Press Metal’s corporate 

governance and behaviour. 

To further ingrain the ethos and values of the Group, all our subsidiaries have outlined Human Resources policies and 

procedures in their respective Employee Handbook. 
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Regulatory Compliance
307-1

Regulatory compliance is crucial to sustain a license to operate in the locations where we operate. We comply with domestic 

laws, rules and regulations that cover health and safety, employment, environmental and manufacturing practices, among 

others. To ensure we are up to date on the relevant laws, we have stringent monitoring procedures and processes. 

In FY2019, we had an unfortunate incident involving the fatality of an employee at one of our upstream manufacturing plants. 

We received a fine for the relating safety and health incident and to address this incident, we implemented corrective and 

preventative measures to ensure such incident do not recur.1

With regards to our environmental management performance across the operations, we did not receive any fines or penalties 

for non-compliance. 
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Certifications

Our plants are subject to annual internal audit sessions to ensure they conform to the requirements of standards and to 

examine the effectiveness of the standards.

CERTIFICATION

PMS

PMIT

PMBTU

PMB

PMAR

PMI

This section is further discussed in the ‘Product Quality and Customer Satisfaction’ section of this report.
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ECONOMIC RESILIENCE & EXCELLENCE 

OUR APPROACH

We are committed to improving our manufacturing technology and processes in pursuit of growth and improvement. It is our 

ability to find innovative solutions for customers while ensuring cost-effectiveness that has placed us in the global market. We 

are constantly on the lookout to strengthen our position as a global integrated aluminium corporation.

Contributions to SDGs

  

Economic Performance
102-9, 203-2

In 2019, it was a challenging year for the aluminium industry attributed to the lower aluminium prices compared to year 2018 
augmented by macroeconomic uncertainties and volatile raw material prices during the first half of the year. Despite this, 
Press Metal delivered a commendable set of results and closed the year with revenue of RM8.80 billion and profit before tax 
of RM631.22 million.

Press Metal embarked into its next growth phase where currently, PMBTU is undertaking the construction of its Phase 3 
smelter in Samalaju which upon completion, will add on an additional 320,000 tonnes capacity per annum and the total 
smelting capacity will be increased by 42% to 1,080,000 tonnes per annum. We envisage that the construction of our Phase 
3 smelter will complete by end 2020. This expansion will further entrench the Group’s position as the largest Southeast Asia 
aluminium producer and a key global player in the aluminium industry.

In FY2019, The Edge Billion Ringgit Club (“The Edge BRC”) recognised Press Metal’s excellent performance by awarding the 
most prestigious ”Company of the Year” award to Press Metal. Press Metal also won 4 notable awards, namely, “Highest 
Growth in Profit After Tax Over Three Years” and “Highest Return on Equity Over Three Years” under the Big Capital 
Companies category and Industrial Products & Services Sector category respectively, from The Edge BRC.

As global trade tensions remain unresolved, we proceed with caution. Mindful of the demands for aluminium world-wide, we 
will continuously capitalise on our industrial strength, expertise in the industry, vast market presence and strong business 
alliances, to advance further in the global market. Furthermore, we are the largest aluminium smelter in the region and is, 
therefore, advantageously positioned to increase our presence in the market. 

As we produced more value-added products in FY2019, namely aluminium alloy ingot (A356), billets and wire rods, we required 
increased manpower and technical expertise. This led to an indirect economic impact which included job creation, technical 
knowledge, resource sourcing and upskilling. This drives innovation within the industry and encourages knowledge sharing. 

For more information on our developments, kindly refer to the section Letter to Stakeholders and Management Discussion & 
Analysis of this Annual Report.

To view full details of our financial performance, please refer to Financial Statements of this Annual Report.
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Sustainable Manufacturing 

The business case for sustainable development strengthens every year and it is increasingly being realised that sustainable 

practices can generate long term financial benefits, sustainable growth and competitiveness in the market. Sustainable 

manufacturing, therefore, requires identifying approaches to enhance operational efficiency by exceeding the boundaries 

of traditional methods and by adopting more innovative techniques that mitigate adverse social and environmental impacts 

where present. We have invested in new technologies that optimise our efficiency, thereby, minimising our impact on the 

environment. 

The GCEO along with the Senior Management take charge of matters relating to optimising operational efficiency and costs. 

They identify and invest in green solutions that sustain the competitiveness and efficiency of the Group’s value chain. Our 

total investment in FY2019 was approximately RM11 million and the below mentioned are part of the initiatives implemented 

this year.

Initiative Objective

Reduction of carbon anode replacement • To reduce CO2 emissions, energy consumption and raw material costs.

Adopting biodiesel fuel for logistics and 

casting process.

• To reduce consumption of non-renewable fossil fuels. 

• Biodiesel is known for its capability to reduce emissions of carbon 

monoxide, particulate matter, unburned hydrocarbons and sulfates, when 

compared to diesel fuel.

Invested in new aluminium dross stirrer 

machine 

• To achieve better recovery of aluminium dross.

Replacement of pot hoods • To retain heat in pot and reduce electricity consumption.

Installation of Auxiliary Jaw Crusher • To support the inline system to recycle the bath material.

Installation of regenerative burners • To reduce energy consumption through the reuse of energy for combustion.

Supply Chain Management 
102-9, 204-1

Supply chain management is an integral part of the aluminium industry. Sound decision making on matters regarding 

suppliers; sourcing and transport to build a sustainable supply chain which will impact Press Metal’s EES performance. For 

instance, when engaging suppliers and vendors, it is of utmost importance to evaluate them on their sustainable practices.

Our Procurement Department manages matters relating to purchasing, logistics as well as selecting committed suppliers. 

The selection of suppliers involves stringent screening and ensuring of their compliance to relevant laws, regulations and our 

requirements, as to meet our expectations.

In addition, Press Metal evaluates supplier performance on an annual basis to ensure that the expected standards are met 

and the Group’s expectations of its suppliers have been clearly stated in Press Metal’s Vendor Code of Conduct. Our Quality 

Department assesses the suppliers by carrying out product quality inspections intermittently.
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Supplier Assessment Criteria

Safety & Health Prices Delivery

Environment Services Quality

We engage a number of suppliers including distributors and contractors for sourcing raw materials, spare parts and 

packaging among others. While a majority of our suppliers are local, we also engage foreign suppliers. We prioritise local 

suppliers for its lower environmental impact in terms of emission from transportation and the opportunities created for local 

businesses. It is only when the quality of materials are limited and if the materials are not available locally that we procure 

from credible foreign suppliers. Press Metal’s business to local suppliers constituted approximately 60% of total expenditure 

on supplies spent on local suppliers in the reporting year. With 2,039 suppliers engaged, 93% of them are local suppliers. 

A summary of our suppliers’ composition based on divisions is provided below. 

Press Metal Supplier Engagement by Divisions

UPSTREAM

93.81%
Local Suppliers

52%
of Procurement

Budget Spent on

Local Suppliers

1083
Total Suppliers

MID/DOWNSTREAM

92%
Local Suppliers

80.1%
of Procurement

Budget Spent on

Local Suppliers

956
Total Suppliers
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ECO-CONSCIOUS CORPORATE CITIZEN 

OUR APPROACH

We aspire to minimise our environmental impact by monitoring operational efficiency and ensuring responsible usage of our 

resources. 

Contributions to SDGs

  

Our Environmental Policy guides on how to address and minimise environmental impacts arising from our activities. As part of 

our commitment to safeguard the environment, we have adopted five policies for sustainable development as highlighted in 

our Environmental Mission Statement. This statement outlines our procedures to manage water, air emissions, waste, climate 

change and energy. At the Group level, Group Environmental, Health and Safety Department oversees, aligns, coordinates 

and monitors the environmental, health and safety practices of the entities. 

Material Stewardship
301-2

Proper management of material inputs and identifying methods for resource efficiency are necessary to reduce wastage 

and foster sustainable practices in our operations. This entails actions to improve the upstream processes, as it requires 

significant raw material inputs, to support the production of the material. Press Metal’s approach encompasses the use of 

the 4 Rs: Reduce, Reuse, Recycling and Recovery. We optimise the consumption of resources to reduce waste generation. 

Likewise, we closely monitor our material consumption patterns to identify areas where consumption can be optimised or 

even reduced. Another sustainable practice is to use recycled material as input instead of sourcing new material. 

We reduce the amount of carbon anode used at our potline by improving our pot operation control method and optimising the 

anode usage. During the development process to optimise the carbon anode, a designated working committee comprising 

of our production experts, works closely with our suppliers for product re-design and underwent series of test runs to ensure 

the efficient use of the carbon anode. Resulting from the success of anode re-designing, it has increased our raw material 

consumption efficiency and less waste was generated. 

In line with the 4R approaches, we endeavour to minimise aluminium scrap generated by implementing a casting quality 

control and casting process optimisation. During the casting process, aluminium scraps, such as sow bin, aluminium swarf, 

billet tops and billet ends, are collected and categorised based on alloy composition. These materials are then re-melted in 

the casting furnace for the production of new products. 
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We fuse refined aluminium scraps together with higher purity aluminium to form billets for extruded products which only 

require a fraction of energy to produce our products. This division works closely with our stakeholders, whereby aluminium 

scrap from certified aluminium recyclers are collected and categorised for remelt. These efforts help decrease our raw 

material consumption and moving forward we plan on investing in machinery to process aluminium swarf for reuse. Swarf are 

shredded metal debris or metal chips generated as by-products from the manufacturing processes. 

Percentage of Recycled Materials Input

2017

24.5%

2018

23.3%

2019

22.0%

Note: The figures capture the percentage of recycled materials input at PMBTU, PMS, PMB, PMI, PMIT and PMAR

Emissions 
102-48, 305-1, 305-2, 305-4, 305-7

Increasing concerns about climate change are pushing many companies to evaluate and better manage their carbon 

footprint. Aluminium producers worldwide are moving forward to reduce their carbon emissions; aligning to the targets of the 

Paris Agreement (2015).

As stated in our Environmental Policy and Environmental Mission Statement, we monitor our daily activities, including air 

emissions, to ensure regulatory compliance. We have placed engineering controls to ensure air emissions from our plants 

are within the permissible limits set by the Department of Environment (“DOE”). Additionally, we engage with stakeholders to 

communicate solutions and measures to reduce our emissions.

To ensuring our compliance with environmental regulations, we have an in-house professional team, the Fume Treatment 

Department, where its functions are dedicated to monitoring air emissions from our operations and implement emission 

mitigating measures. Our smelting division has in place a Performance Management System (“PMSys”) which sets internal 

targets for each department to reduce emissions at an acceptable range. 

Carbon Emissions

We have embarked on several initiatives to minimise carbon dioxide emissions and other polluting particulates. Our efforts 

include the optimisation of the electrolysis process by redesigning the product in collaboration with our supplier, to increase 

electricity efficiency as well as to reduce the material consumption. In addition, our casting operation now utilised biodiesel 

(instead of diesel) to reduce CO2 emission.
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The illustration below shows the total carbon emissions for the Group; an increase of 0.63% in carbon emissions compared 

to last year. This is due to the higher consumption of energy to increase output of value-added products as per the Group’s 

target to increase production of value-added aluminium products. Through value added products such as billets and wire 

rods, our customers are able to utilise our products directly, minimising the need to re-melt ingots to produce desired 

products, thus reducing the customer’s consumption of energy sources and reducing their emissions.

Total Carbon Emissions (Million kgCO2e)

Total
CO2

Emissions
(Million kgCO2e)

2017

2018

2019

2,198.7

2,203.3

2,217.2

Note: Figures above capture carbon emissions at PMBTU, PMS, PMB, PMI, PMIT and PMAR 

Carbon Emissions by Scope

Scope
Total CO2 Emissions (Million kgCO2e)

2017 2018 2019

Scope 1 (Diesel, Natural Gas) 72.4 79.6 84.2

Scope 2 (Electricity) 2,126.3 2,123.7 2,133.0

CO2 Emissions per aluminium tonne (kgCO2e/tonne)

Scope 1 and 2 2,207.2 2,258.4 2,278.2

Note: Figures above capture carbon emissions at PMBTU, PMS, PMB, PMI, PMIT and PMAR

   Conversion Factor Source: Malaysia Energy Statistics Handbook 2018
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Air Emissions

Press Metal has in place a designated department, namely, the Fume Treatment Department to keep track of the air 
emissions by ensuring proper environmental monitoring that covers stack emission monitoring and ambient air monitoring. At 
our upstream division, we utilise the Continuous Emissions Monitoring System that transmits continuous records of emission 
data directly to the DOE’s system. In the event of abnormal operations, mitigation measures are triggered immediately. In 
addition, air emissions monitoring is carried out by independent approved third-party laboratories and are submitted to the 
DOE on a quarterly basis. One of the essential control measures by the Fume Treatment Department in managing its stack 
emissions is to ensure that filter bags at the chimney are replaced promptly based on their maintenance schedule to maintain 
the effectiveness of Fume Treatment System. Our operations stay well within the limits set out by the DOE, and therefore, has 
not incurred penalties or legal implications for environmental non-compliance. 

Total Upstream Emissions (Tonnes)

SOx HF

TF TPM

6,295.756,806.04

5,483.11

273.2
192.09

245.79

76.22
67.83

86.35

60.1

78.51

54.82

SOx : Sulphur Oxides

TF : Total Fluoride

TPM : Total Particulate Matter

HF : Hydrogen Fluoride

2017

2018

2019

Note: The chart captures our emission levels at Upstream Division. We have restated our emission figures due to the change in disclosure methodology. 

Energy Consumption
302-1, 302-3

The process of aluminium smelting requires substantial amount of energy, therefore, we strive to adopt more energy efficient 

technologies to mitigate our existing power requirements. As a member of ASI, we are committed to producing our aluminium 

products as sustainably as possible. 

We have established our Environmental Policy that states our commitment to provide quality products while ensuring the 

protection of the environment. Improvements are to be made through the implementation of PMSys in conjunction with an 

effective Management System. The policy on energy management in our Environmental Mission Statement describes our 

efforts to continually optimise the energy performance of our equipments, systems and processes through improvements in 

technology and other research and development activities. 
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The main types of energy consumed by our operations are electricity, diesel/biodiesel and natural gas. In alignment with the 

Group’s objective to raise the output of value-added products, our energy consumption has increased year by year. To mitigate 

this, we have invested in energy efficient machineries such as regenerative burners that utilise less fuel and minimise our carbon 

footprint. Our smelting plants run on the renewable source of hydropower, decreasing the need to use non-renewable sources.

Total Energy Consumption (Gigajoules or GJ)

2017 2018 2019

Total Energy Consumption 39,986,129 40,123,739 40,432,316

Energy Consumption per tonne of aluminium 40.14 41.13 41.55

Note: Figures above capture energy consumption at PMBTU, PMS, PMB, PMI, PMIT and PMAR

               Conversion Factor Source: Malaysia Energy Statistics Handbook 2018

Electricity Consumption

Total electricity consumption of our operations increased this year by 0.57%, which was aligned with the Group’s realisation 

to increase production output. We continue to strive to identify ways to improve our processes to reduce resource 

consumption and improve energy efficiency.

Total Electricity Consumption (Million GJ)

2017
38.6

2018
38.6

2019
38.8

Note: Figures capture electricity consumption at PMBTU, PMS, PMB, PMI, PMIT and PMAR

    Conversion Factor Source: Malaysia Energy Statistics Handbook 2018

Unlike other smelting plants which are dependent on gas or coal for electricity, PMBTU and PMS receive its electricity 
predominantly from hydropower which is a renewable energy source and that minimises our carbon emissions compared to coal-
fired plants. Our long-term purchasing agreement with Sarawak Energy Berhad ensures PMBTU and PMS operations are not 
affected by price fluctuations. Our extrusion plant in China, PMI installed solar panels at the production site in 2017. This year the 
solar panels have generated 31,974 GJ, which saved 14% of the extrusion plant’s total electricity consumption sourced from the 
grid.
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While total electricity consumption increased in FY2019, the electricity consumed per tonne of aluminium produced reduced 
by 1.6% at our upstream division. The reduction in electricity intensity was mainly due to the efficient product redesign of 
carbon anodes and transformer optimisation. 

Diesel Consumption

Diesel consumption has increased from last year by 20.6%. The increase of diesel consumption is a result from the increase 
in production of value-added products such as A356, billets, wire rods, amongst others. In order to reduce the environmental 
impact of increased diesel consumption, our smelting plants have been moving from diesel to biodiesel, progressively in 
stages in FY2019. We have also begun the use of our regenerative burners to help reduce energy consumption.

Total Diesel Consumption (GJ)

2017

315,567.91

418,946.39

505,076.62

2018 2019

Note: The bar chart captures diesel consumption at our production and logistics operations

     Conversion Factor Source: Malaysia Energy Statistics Handbook 2018

Natural Gas Consumption

Our natural gas consumption has increased as compared to last year from 1.153 million Gigajoules to 1.155 million 
Gigajoules. This increase is attributed to focusing in aluminium extrusion to produce more value added products such as 
electronics and household products.

Total Natural Gas Consumption (Million GJ)

2017

1.117

2018

1.153

2019

1.155

Note: The illustration captures our natural gas consumption at Mid/Downstream Division

        Conversion Factor Source: Malaysia Energy Statistics Handbook 2018
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Waste Management
306-2 

Proper waste management is paramount to public safety and health and the environment. Failing to comply with the 

necessary regulations to dispose waste is detrimental in the long term as it contaminates the surrounding environment. 

Recognising the need for proper waste management, our EHS team closely monitor our waste to ensure that we are 

employing best practices when handling waste.

Waste generated as a result of our operations must follow a strict waste management procedure. Our Waste Management 

Procedures and Housekeeping Policy govern how waste is segregated, packaged, labelled and stored separately at 

designated areas and checked regularly by the EHS department. These procedures and policy also govern the safe disposal 

of waste through DOE licensed waste collectors in Malaysia and waste collectors licensed by the Guangdong Provincial 

Department of Ecology and Environment in China. Guidelines for waste management are cascaded through training to all 

workers that are directly involved in waste management.

As disclosed under Material Stewardship, we stress the practice of the 4Rs: to reduce, reuse, recycle and strive to recover all 

waste from our aluminium production where possible to avoid disposal at landfills. Internally, we have a target to achieve zero 

waste to landfill.

Our smelting operations practice the 4Rs by implementing an internal recovery process for aluminium dross, carbon dross 

and iron dross which are by-products of the manufacturing processes. Aluminium dross is delivered to the internal Aluminium 

Dross Recovery Unit to recover aluminium to be used in the casting process. The residuals are then packaged and delivered 

to a licensed secondary aluminium recycler for further re-processing. Similarly, carbon dross which is a by-product of 

smelting undergoes extraction of materials to be reused back in the smelting process. What remains after the extraction is 

then delivered to carbon-related industries. Iron dross, on the other hand, a by-product of the cast iron operations, is mixed 

with water, cement, gravel and sand to be reused for the construction of pathways and road curbs surrounding our facilities. 

In addition, the spent potlining (“SPL”) generated from pot relining2 is re-processed and used in cement industry. We 

collaborated with a cement manufacturer to co-process our SPL and transform it into raw material input for the production of 

their cement.

Other initiatives include the recovery of Aluminium Hydroxide and Caustic Soda from wastewater generated from etching and 

mould cleaning process. The recovery process extracts Aluminium Hydroxide and Caustic Soda from the wastewater and 

water recovered will be re-use in the etching process. As for the Aluminium Hydroxide and Caustic Soda, it will be delivered 

to licensed third party handler to be used as raw material in water purification. A total of RM1.6 million was invested to 

improve the efficiency of our Aluminium Hydroxide and Caustic Soda Recovery system.

Other types of scheduled wastes are sent to licensed recovery or recycling vendors for further refining and extraction. Non-

hazardous waste is disposed at municipal landfills which have been approved by the district council. We conduct regular 

inspections and monitoring to ensure the proper management of waste. 
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Total scheduled waste has increased (as shown in the illustration below) in FY2019 compared to previous years attributed by 

the increase in pot relining2 frequency to replace aged pots.

For this year, we achieved a recovery rate of 96.06% of our total scheduled waste, an improvement of 1.1% compared to 

FY2018. This demonstrates the effectiveness of implementing the 4Rs to our waste where possible. Press Metal continues to 

explore methods to improve the implementation of 4Rs.

2017

13,494

2018

23,061

2019

42,170

Total Scheduled Waste (Tonne)

Note: Figures capture scheduled waste at PMBTU, PMS, PMB, PMI, PMIT and PMAR

Water Consumption
102-48, 303-5

Our approach to manage water consumption includes regular maintenance of our machineries and equipment in order to run 

effectively and efficiently. A water saving initiative undertaken at our upstream facilities was the use of rainwater to reduce the 

amount of potable water used.

Furthermore, to improve water monitoring, we installed water meters at production processes to identify and to assess the 

efficiency of each manufacturing process in order to introduce water saving methods.

In our mid/downstream operations, extrusion and anodising processes consume a significant amount of water. Our initiatives 

to reduce water consumption include repairing and upgrading our cooling tower to ensure optimum performance and 

enabling us to recycle water, preserve energy and save costs.
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Despite our water saving efforts, the production of value-added products led to an increase in water consumption in FY2019. 

Total Water Consumption (m3)

3,250,987

3,401,814

3,330,499

FY2018 FY2019FY2017

Note: Figures3 capture water consumption at PMBTU, PMS, PMB, PMI, PMIT and PMAR

We target to reduce water consumption by 5% by the year 2023 and 10% by 2030, using the restated baseline of 

2,976,035m3 recorded in FY20163. 

Biodiversity
304-2

We are committed to mitigating our environmental footprint and looking after the health of the ecosystem which we are part 
of. It is imperative that we carefully evaluate the possible risks the industry poses to the environment and biodiversity.

Press Metal evaluates the risks its plant’s operations pose to the surrounding environment so as to minimise any adverse exposure. 
PMBTU has engaged Curtin University to conduct an ecological study on the impact of its plant operations on the surrounding 
ecosystem to address any environmental risks that were observed. During the reporting period, the study is still ongoing.
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SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES & WORKFORCE 

OUR APPROACH

In order to create deep-rooted sustainable value, we strive to provide additional value for customers and promote social 
interaction and cultural enrichment for our employees and local communities. Focusing on product quality, we aspire to ensure 
that the consistency of our products are of upmost satisfactory and safe for customers.

We recognise the importance of our employees dedication and community engagement, as such, we provide various 
platforms to provide positive impacts for our employees and communities. 

Contributions to SDGs

     

Product Quality And Customer Satisfaction
416-1, 416-2

Product quality is an integral aspect of Press Metal’s sustainability journey. We believe that in order to remain competitive in 

this industry, we need to deliver consistent superlative products that are effective, efficient and beneficial to our stakeholders. 

We strive to provide the highest quality aluminium products that meet our customers’ quality expectations while ensuring the 

products are safe for people and the environment. 

Press Metal’s P1020A ingots are LME certified High Grade Primary Aluminium, which is known for its strict requirements 

on purity, quality, shape and weight. Our aluminium EC grade rods with minimum aluminium purity of 99.5% are the 

preferred choice. This is due to its high conductivity, lightweight characteristic, excellent form, corrosion resistance and 

superb malleability to fit a wide range of processing. Owing to the excellent characteristics of our aluminium wire rods, it is 

predominantly used in overhead power transmission and distribution cables.

Our entities are ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management Systems 

certified. Guided by the quality objective of this standard, we 

focus on consistency in quality of products and services, and 

reliability of our production and deliverables to our customers. In 

terms of product safety, we test the element composition of our 

products and conduct a mechanical test to test the strength of 

the products and their wear resistance. In FY2019, there were no 

incidents of non-compliance concerning the health and safety of 

our products. 

Sustainability Report

Cont’d

Our entities are certified to ISO 9001:2015 Quality 

Management Systems, which enable us to always 

be on our toes to assess any risks and 

opportunities presence while continuously 

improving our business operations.   



Press Metal Aluminium Holdings Berhad

64

We are proud to disclose that we are certified for the following country specific or/and international standards:

Business Operations Entities Certifications

Upstream PMS 
ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management Systems 

PMBTU

Mid/Downstream PMB MS 2289:2010 Aluminium and Aluminium Alloy – Extruded Shapes for Windows and 

Sliding Doors 

PMAR ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management Systems

PMI ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management Systems

IATF 16949:2016 Automotive Quality Management System 

Certificate of Work Approval - China Classification Society 

Approval of Manufacturer Certificate - Det Norske Veritas

Approval of Manufacturing Process - Nippon Kaiji Kyokai 

Approval Certificate for Material - Bureau Veritas

Certificate of Conformity of the Factory Production Control - Bureau Veritas 

Quality Label for Liquid and Powder Organic Coatings on Aluminium for Architectural 

Applications (QUALICOAT) Seaside Standard

Laboratory Accreditation Certificate - China National Accreditation Service for 

Conformity Assessment

Authorised Economic Operator (AEO) Certificate - China National Accreditation 

Service for Conformity Assessment

PMIT ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management Systems

IATF 16949:2016 Automotive Quality Management System

Authorised Economic Operator (AEO) Certificate - China National Accreditation 

Service for Conformity Assessment

With these certifications, we operate in accordance with strict and controlled processes and procedures which guide our 

management and staff for consistency and continuous quality improvement. 

In addition, our wire rods are in compliance with REACH and RoHS of the European Union. At Press Metal, we have 

authorised a third-party laboratory to conduct the RoHS and REACH tests. As of today, all our samples meet the REACH and 

RoHS criteria.
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Customer Satisfaction 

We conduct an annual customer satisfaction survey to gauge customer and stakeholder satisfaction levels towards our 

products. Key areas are assessed by the respective operating entities, which share the same objective and that is to meet 

customer expectations and to further improve our services. The key areas of assessment include the following: 

• Ordering and Delivery

• Product Quality

• Delivery Quality

• Price/Value/Billing

• Commercial and Technical support

• Customer Service

• Customer Complaint

• Image of the Company

In FY2019, we recorded a 66% and 38% reduction of complaints compared to that of the previous year for upstream and 

mid/downstream operation, respectively. The reduction in the complaints give merit to our robust methods in root cause 

identification and corrective action plan. Our Quality Department works closely with the Production Department on the 

complaints received to identify corrective measures as well as to formulate and oversee the implementation of preventive 

actions to ensure the products quality.

For our upstream operations, the average customer satisfaction survey score in FY2019 was 92.5%, while for mid/

downstream operations, it was 86%.

Entities

Score (%)

2017

Score (%)

2018

Score (%)

2019

Upstream 85% 90% 93%

Mid/Downstream 91% 90% 86%

Human Rights
408-1, 409-1

We treat our employees with dignity and respect. We provide equal employment opportunities, create a safe and harmonious 

work environment and discourage any form of discrimination. The Group’s CoC expects all employees to respect the privacy 

and rights of each individual they interact with at work and not in any way violate their human rights. 

 

At Press Metal, there are policies and procedures in place to protect employee rights such as the Child Labour Policy, 

Underage Worker Management Policy, Discrimination Policy, Forced Labour Policy and other related procedures mentioned in 

the Employee Handbook.
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Child Labour Policy and Procedure

Procedure was established in accordance with Children and Young Person Employment Act 1966 and provisions on 

Prohibition of Child Labour and Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China. Companies are prohibited to 

employ candidates below the age of 16 and employees are prohibited to refer candidates below the age of 16. 

Underage Worker Management Policy and Procedure

Policy was established in accordance with Children and Young Person Employment Act 1966 and Labour Law of 

the People’s Republic of China and Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Minors to ensure the 

recruitment process is lawfully complied. Companies are to ensure underage workers (above 16 years old and below 18 

years old) have the necessary certificates and undergo a medical check-up periodically.

Discrimination Policy and Procedure

This Policy was established in accordance with government law, rule and regulation to prevent any violation of employee’s 

employment rights and interest. Any discrimination against race, skin colour, age, gender, sexual orientation, nationality, 

disability, pregnancy, religion, political persuasion, member of association and marital status is prohibited.

Forced Labour Policy and Procedure

The Company advocates personal freedom, work equality and personal dignity. Any violation of this policy shall be subject 

to disciplinary action. 

We have incorporated these policies and procedures as part of our terms and conditions in contracts. Suppliers are required 

to sign the agreement including the social responsibility commitment and are made aware of the supplier audit criteria that 

addresses human rights such as timely pay and prohibition of child employment. 

 

Occupational Health And Safety 
403-1, 403-2, 403-4, 403-5, 403-9, 403-10 

The health and safety of our stakeholders have always been important to us, especially our employees and contractors. 

At Press Metal, we are committed to provide a safe and injury-free work environment. All our operating plants in Malaysia 

and China are certified to ISO 45001:2018 (Occupational Health and Safety Management System) and/or OHSAS 18001:2007 

(Occupational Health and Safety Assessment Series). PMBTU and PMAR are currently transitioning to ISO 45001:2018 

which is the replacement standard for OHSAS 18001:2007. We are reviewed annually by third party auditors to ensure our 

management approach continues to be in line with ISO criteria. 
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Underpinned by our Occupational Health and Safety Policy, we pledge to: 

Providing the necessary resources that assist in executing our organisation’s OH&S commitment and responsibility 

towards its stakeholders. 

Respect and conform to the applicable OH&S legislation and requirements, as well as other obligations assumed 

voluntary.

Establish appropriate OH&S objectives and targets, within the integrated management system, with annually review for 

continual improvement. 

Shaping a culture where people care about their safety and that of everyone around them by regularly conducting 

training, auditing and safety campaigns.

Sharing responsibility which requiring active commitment and participation of all our leaders, employees, vendors and 

contractors in promoting a safe working environment. 

Making OH&S as part of the organisation’s decision-making mechanism in respect of panning for growth, development, 

operations and continual improvement. 

Educating employees in safe work practice and raise employee’s awareness of OH&S threats and opportunities. 

Taking responsibility to engage with employees, contractors and all relevant stakeholders to share our practices and 

insight. We recognize and respect diverse cultures, communities and points of view. 

Actively identify, assess and manage risks by providing adequate safeguards through engineering control and other 

measures to minimise the OH&S risks on our people, communities, stakeholders and operations. 

Leading the organisation by setting targets, assessing and reporting OH&S performance for continual OH&S 

performance and achieve success.

Every Press Metal entity has established an EHS Steering Committee that consists of a chairman, secretary and employer-

employee representatives. The EHS steering committees are responsible for overseeing and assessing EHS risks, and 

conduct monthly and quarterly meetings to discuss the current EHS issues.

 

Our standard operating procedures and Stop Work Policy cover all operational areas and activities. In cases where the work 

activity is deemed dangerous and may cause injury, employees reserve the right to stop work. In addition to employees, 

contractors or suppliers of Press Metal are also required to attend EHS induction and are provided a copy of Press Metal’s 

EHS Policy statement. 

Injuries and accidents can be prevented at the workplace. We conduct Hazard Identification, Risk Assessment and Risks 

Control to identify potential hazards at the different process levels and its corresponding control measures. In the case of an 

accident, a review meeting will be conducted to identify the root cause and to review the effective corrective actions. 
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Each EHS Committee has their own safety programmes which include: 

• EHS Awareness Training

• Emergency Response Training 

• Site inspections

• Personal protective equipment

• Safety equipment for high risk task i.e. working at heights, confined space 

• Firefighting exercise and facility

• First aid facility

 

  EHS Awareness Training      First Aid Training

In FY2019, the Group’s Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (“LTIFR”) was 5.54 (for every one million man hours worked), which 

shows a 29% decrease from the previous year. The reduction in LTIFR was the direct result of Press Metal’s decision to 

mandate health and safety awareness training for employees. Three One Point Lessons relating to health and safety are 

provided to employees on a monthly basis. 

Average Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate

7.14 7.81

5.54

2017 2018

LTIFR

2019

Note: Figures capture data from PMBTU, PMS, PMB, PMI, PMIT and PMAR

As a safety mechanism to prevent accidents, we have installed light sensors on our machines to detect any near object or 

obstacle which, if detected, will trigger the shut-down of the machines.
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We have also improved our forklift alert system to ensure a two meter distance is maintained between operating forklifts, 

thereby minimising the risk of collision. 

We strive to maintain zero fatalities. However, much to our dismay, we had one fatality involving a PMBTU employee in 

December 2019. The accident has been subject to investigation to identify the root cause and possible corrective action 

to ensure it will not recur in the future. During 17,646,788 man hours in total in FY2019, there were 111 cases of recordable 

work-related injuries of which 2 were high-consequence work-related injuries. The investigations concluded that most of the 

incidents occurred at operational or production areas due to human error. The injuries in FY2019 included laceration wounds, 

swollen wrist and minor injuries of fingers or hands.

Talent Management 
102-7, 102-8, 202-2, 401-1, 401-2, 401-3, 404-1, 404-2, 405-1

Anchored by our Diversity Policy, we embrace diversity and welcome employees of varying age, ethnicity, nationality and 

cultural background. Year by year, Press Metal continues to grow, which is a direct result of our plant expansion. In 2019, our 

workforce had the total strength of 5,703 employees. 

Although the aluminium manufacturing industry is a male-dominated sector, we at Press Metal do not hinder women from 

working at our operations, which made up 15% of our workforce. We support the local economy and community as 68% 

of Senior Management were locals. Below is the summary of our workforce based on gender, locality, age group and 

employment category.

Workforce by Age Group

Local vs Non-local Workforce

Local Non-local

<30 years 30-50 years >50 years

Workforce by Gender

Workforce by Employment Category

Senior Management Management

Executive Non-Executive

Men Women

36%

64%

50%47%

3%

87%

10%

2%
1%

15%

85%
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In FY2019, we hired 2,266 new candidates of which 16% were women. Below is the summary of new employees hired based 

on gender and age group. 

Total Number of New

Employee Hires by Gender 

1,904

362

Men Women

Total Number of New

Employee Hires by Age Group

1,295

949

22

Below 30 30-50 Above 50

Whereas our turnover rate was 39%. Below is the summary of employees resigned based on gender and age group. 

Total Number of Employees

Resigned by Gender

1,841

406

Men Women

Total Number of Employees

Resigned by Age Group

1,012

1,176

59

Below 30 30-50 Above 50
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Summary of 2017-2019 Performance Data: Talent Management 

2017 2018 2019 

Total Number of Employees 5,803 5,780 5,703

Employee Breakdown by Gender, Region and Age Group 

(a) By Gender

 Male 4,857 4,905 4,868

 Female 946 875 835

(b) By Locality

 Local 3,501 3,557 3,637

 Non-Local 2,302 2,223 2,066

(c) By Age Group 

 < 30 2,975 2,672 2,860

 30 – 50 2,675 2,941 2,656

 > 50 153 167 187

Total Number of New Hires 2,344 2,009 2,266

(a) By Gender 

 Male 1,685 1,619 1,904

 Female 659 390 362

(b) By Age Group 

 < 30 1,502 1,275 1,295

 30 – 50 826 722 949

 > 50 16 12 22

Total Number of Employees Resigned 2,406 2,052 2,247

(a) By Gender 

 Male 1,836 1,596 1,841

 Female 570 456 406

(b) By Age Group

 < 30 1,200 1,099 1,012

 30 – 50 1,153 925 1,176

 > 50 53 28 59
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Succession Planning 

On 26 February 2019, the Group adopted a Succession Planning Policy as a strategic move to develop future leaders. 

Succession planning is a process designed to ensure that the Group identifies and develops a talent pool of employees 

through mentoring, training and job rotation. This plan covers the identification of internal candidates, development plans for 

internal candidates and appropriate identification of external candidates to replace key business leaders within the Group. 

This policy shall be reviewed annually by the BOD.

Training And Engagement 

Training is intrinsic to the development of our employees as they are the backbone of the Group. We invest in our employees 

by providing training both internally and externally to develop their skills. In addition to EHS training conducted by the EHS 

Department, the Management of Press Metal reviews an employee’s training needs to strengthen his or her capability and 

prepares an annual training plan accordingly. Training not only constitutes of soft and leadership skills, but also includes 

competency training, talks on healthy living and training on the latest technology and best practices in the aluminium industry. 

Types of Training Objectives 

Technical training To enhance technical skills of our employees in terms of operating equipment, 

ensuring quality, production processes and product development. 

Non-technical training To upskill employees’ soft and analytical skills, while promoting work life balance 

through talks and employee engagement. 

2017

51,789

2018

73,608

2019

81,919

Total Training Hours Average Training Hours per

Employee

2017

7

2018

11

2019

13
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We provided a total of 81,919 training hours to employees in FY2019, with an average of 

13 hours of training per employee, 2 hours per female employee and 11 hours per male 

employee.

We also conduct annual job appraisals for employees, in which they receive performance 

and career development review. 

In order to create diversified learning opportunities for employees, PMI and PMIT have signed an agreement with SooChow 

University to provide a comprehensive online learning platform for employees. It allows employees to attend customised 

online courses and requires them to undergo examination to complete the course. The investment was approximately 

RM177,0004.

We set up a mobile library that has at least 2,000 books for our employees to encourage a reading culture and to instil 

reading habits. The resource of books is shared as there are 308 mobile libraries in Foshan City, where books can be 

borrowed and returned to any mobile library.

Employee Engagement

We provide opportunities for our employees to interact and socialise by organising events, team building programmes, festive 

celebrations, annual dinners and outdoor activities such as hiking and road trips.

Sports Day at Press Metal

We strongly believe that we prosper when we have good relations with our employees. Press Metal has conducted more 

than 70 joint employee engagement events which include netball competition, female health seminar, summer event, ball 

tournament, annual employee reward and employee birthday celebrations. The total expenditure for employee engagement 

events was approximately RM891,000. 

Sustainability Report
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81,919 total training hours
were provided to Press Metal’s 

employees, with an average

13 hours of training per 
employee

4 Converted from RMB currency. The conversion is only applicable for activities conducted by China operating entities, PMI and PMIT
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Empowering Women 

At our upstream operations, we introduced “Open Participation for Development Programmes” 

to encourage women to participate, to sign up and attend any of the programmes conducted at 

the plants. 

At mid/downstream operations, we continue to promote and support women by providing 

flexibility in terms of time allocation for nursing and nursing room facilities. In FY2019, we 

organised a women health day, which included medical check-ups for breast cancer and 

cervical cancer and a total of 127 employees participated in this event. 

The number of women employees holding managerial roles decreased by 4% compared to last 

year. Moving forward, we strive to increase women’s representation at the management level.

Employee Benefits 

We strive to be a preferred employer and we want to see our employees achieve great success beyond the workplace. We 

designed a series of benefit packages in order to meet employee expectations. 

Healthcare

Insurance

Healthcare Compassionate

Leave

Accommodation Transportation

Educational

Assistance

Performance

Award

Housing and Utility

Subsidy

Volunteer

Opportunity

Festive Celebrations Parental Leave Examination/

Study Leave

Meal Subsidy Recreational

Activities
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Women in Managerial Roles

24% 23%

28%

2017 2018 2019
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In FY2019, 143 employees took parental leave with 88% of them returning to work after said leave. The table below 

summaries the number of employees that took parental leave in FY2019. 

Women Men

Number of employees that took parental leave in FY2019. 52 91

Number of employees that returned to work after parental leave ended. 40 86

Number of employees that returned to work after parental leave ended that were still 
employed 12 months after their return to work.

39 75

Local Communities 
413-1

Encouraging Talent 

As a responsible corporate citizen, we share the responsibility to cultivate and develop future leaders in the areas where 

we operate. We participated in campus career fairs to provide exposure to graduates about the prospects of working in the 

aluminium industry. 

This year, we continued the Aluminium Smelting Programme, a 12-month career development programme for students with the 

aim of training and providing exposure to all aspects of the industry. For undergraduate students, we offer internship placements 

through our Apprenticeship Programme for the opportunity to learn the ropes within the aluminium industry. In FY2019, 

7 students participated in this programme which brings to a total of 39 students since FY2017. We also offer scholarships 

to qualified undergraduates to pursue their tertiary education at top public and local private institutions in various fields of 

engineering. In addition to this, PMBTU offers an internship programme where a total of 43 participants from various fields of 

studies, such as Chemical Engineering, Business Management, Oil and Gas Piping and Mechatronics Technology were involved.

Aluminium Smelting Programme 2019 Engineering Development Programme
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In 2019, PMI and PMIT recruited 16 trainees from its Management Trainee Programme where they were trained for one year with 

job rotation in different departments for two years. Based on the trainee’s performance, a permanent employment opportunity 

is made available. Our Management Trainee Programme offers various technical training such as engineering training, process 

training and other skill training such as problem-solving, action planning, leadership, conflict management and self-management. 

PMBTU and the Pejabat Pendidikan Bintulu jointly established an Innovative Creative Centre (“ICC”) to provide an avenue for 

students to develop their robotic skills. ICC also helps to inspire and cultivate interest amongst local students in the area of 

industrial transformation.

In FY2019, our smelting operations participated in recruitment roadshows such as the Exhibition Development Fair. Through 

this engagement, we were able to identify potential candidates for recruitment. 

Pesta Tasik Biru
Karnival Pekerjaan Sistem Insuran Pekerjaan (SIP) Perkeso 

Peringkat Negeri Sarawak

Borneo International Kite Festival 2019
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Engaging The Community

We endeavour to provide societal development to the local communities via educational support, 

donation and sponsorship. We strive to create positive long-term impacts to the well-being of the 

surrounding communities. Among key programmes conducted in 2019:

Event Objectives

Tarian Naga equipment contributions 

to SMK St. Patrick, Mukah

To support culture development and talent among our younger generation

Gotong Royong With Sekolah 

Kebangsaan Sungai Badengan Mukah 

To inculcate positive culture of teamwork and togetherness

Contribution to the Sport Council 

for Sport Tournament for Sekolah 

Menengah Kebangsaan Oya, Mukah 

To support sports development and talent among our younger generation 

Sponsorship to The Salvation Army for 

Operation Fund-Youth Camp

To support youths in need that require funding for continual improvement

Blood Donation Drive with Hospital 

Bintulu

To create awareness on helping the community by saving life and improve the

community healthcare with donation

Fishing Safari 2019, Mukah To create awareness among employees and stakeholders on healthy living while 

raise fund for those in needs

Santa Run 2019, Bintulu To create awareness among employees and community while raising fund for those 

in needs

Sponsorship Sport Council for Sport Tournament for Sekolah 

Menengah Kebangsaan Oya, Mukah

Sponsorship to The Salvation Army for Operation Fund-Youth 

Camp
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Approximately RM1.6 million was 

donated for charity purposes, 

education funds,

community development

and school development 
during 2019
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Santa Run 2019

In December 2019, Press Metal organised the seventh instalment of its annual Santa Run at Samalaju Industrial Park. Our 

Santa Run is an annual community fund raising event where all the proceeds are donated back to the community. This 

year the event successfully attracted approximately 3,000 participants. As for the proceeds, we donated approximately 

RM230,000 to the education institutions. This event strengthen the bond between Press Metal with its stakeholders in line 

with our efforts to uphold local community development.
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GRI CONTENT INDEX 
102-55

GRI 
Disclosure Description Section Pg Number

GRI 102:
General 
Disclosure 

102-1 Name of the organisation About This Report 28-29

102-2 Activities, brands, products, and services Press Metal at a Glance 30-32

102-3 Location of headquarters Press Metal at a Glance 30-32

102-4 Location of operations Press Metal at a Glance
Letter to Stakeholders and
Management Discussion & 
Analysis

30-32
4-11102-6 Markets served

102-5 Ownership and legal form Annual Report 2019

102-7 Scale of the organisation Press Metal at a Glance
Talent Management

30-32
69-75

102-8 Information on employees and other workers Talent Management 69-75

102-9 Supply chain Press Metal at a Glance 
Economic Performance
Supply Chain Management

30-32
51

52-53

102-10 Significant changes to the organisation and its supply 
chain 

Press Metal at a Glance
Letter to Stakeholders and 
Management Discussion & 
Analysis

30-32
4-11

102-11 Precautionary Principle of approach Managing Challenges, Risks 
and Opportunities 
Corporate Governance 
Overview Statement
Audit Committee Report
Statement on Risk 
Management and Internal 
Control

40

83-94

97-100
101-104

102-13 Membership of associations Engaging our Stakeholders 41-43

102-15 Key impacts, risks and opportunities Managing Challenges, Risks 
and Opportunities 
Engaging our Stakeholders
Letter to Stakeholders and
Management Discussion & 
Analysis

40

41-43
4-11

102-16 Values, principles, standards, and norms of behaviour Sustainability Framework 
and Approach 
Corporate Ethics

34-38

48
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GRI 

Disclosure Description Section Pg Number

GRI 102:

General 

Disclosure

102-17 Mechanisms for advice and concerns about ethics Corporate Ethics 48

102-18 Governance Structure Sustainability Stewardship 39

102-19 Delegating Authority 39

102-20 Executive-level responsibility for economic, 

environmental, and social topics 

39

102-26 Role of highest governance body in setting purpose, 

values and strategy

39

102-40 List of stakeholder groups Engaging our Stakeholders 41-43

102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement 41-43

102-44 Key topics and concerns raised 41-43

102-45 Entities included in the consolidated financial statements Annual Report 2019

102-46 Defining report content and topic boundaries About This Report 28-29

102-47 List of material topics Material Sustainability 

Matters

44-47

102-48 Restatements of information Emission

Water Consumption

55-57

61-62

102-50 Reporting period About This Report 28-29

102-52 Reporting cycle 28-29

102-53 Contact point for questions regarding the report 28-29

102-55 GRI content index GRI Content Index 79-82

GRI 103: 

Management 

Approach 

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its boundary All Sections 

103-2 The management approach and its components 

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 

GRI 202:

Market 

Presence

202-2 Proportion of senior management hired from the local 

community

Talent Management 69-75

GRI 203:

Indirect 

Economic 

Impacts

203-2 Significant indirect economic impacts Economic Performance 51

GRI 204: 

Procurement 

Practices 

204-1 Proportion of spending on local suppliers Supply Chain Management 52-53

GRI 301:

Materials

301-2 Recycled input materials used Material Stewardship 54-55
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GRI 

Disclosure Description Section Pg Number

GRI 302: 

Energy 

302-1 Energy consumption within the organisation Energy Consumption 57-59

302-3 Energy intensity 57-59

GRI 303: 

Water and 

Effluents 

303-5 Water consumption Water Consumption 61-62

GRI 304:

Biodiversity 

304-2: Significant impacts of activities, products, and 

services on biodiversity 

Biodiversity 62

GRI 305: 

Emissions 

305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions Emissions 55-57

305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions 55-57

305-4 GHG emissions intensity 55-57

305-7 Nitrogen oxides (NOx), sulfur oxides (SOx) and other 

significant air emissions 

55-57

GRI 306:

Effluents and 

Waste 

306-2 Waste by type and disposal method Waste Management 60-61

GRI 307:

Environmental

Compliance

307-1 Non-compliance with environmental laws and 

regulations

Regulatory Compliance 49-50

GRI 401: 

Employment 

401-1 New employee hires and employee turnover Talent Management 69-75

401-2 Benefits provided to full-time employees that are not 

provided to temporary or part-time employees 

69-75

401-3 Parental leave 69-75

GRI 404: 

Training and 

Education 

404-1 Average hours of training per year per employee 69-75

404-2 Programs for upgrading employee skills and transition 

assistance programs

69-75

GRI 405: 

Diversity 

and Equal 

Opportunities 

405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees 69-75
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GRI 

Disclosure Description Section Pg Number

GRI 403: 

Occupational 

Health and 

Safety 

403-1 Occupational health and safety management system Occupational Health and 

Safety 

66-69

403-2 Hazard identification, risk assessment, and incident 

investigation

66-69

403-4 Worker participation, consultation, and communication 

on occupational health and safety 

66-69

403-5 Worker training on occupational health and safety 66-69

403-9 Work-related injuries 66-69

403-10 Work-related ill health 66-69

GRI 408: 

Child Labour

408-1 Operations and suppliers at significant risk for 

incidents of child labour

Human Rights 65-66

GRI 409:

Forced or 

Compulsory 

Labour

409-1 Operations and suppliers at significant risk for 

incidents of forced or compulsory labour

65-66

GRI 413: 

Local 

Communities 

413-1 Operations with local community engagement, impact, 

assessments, and development programs 

Local Communities 75-78

GRI 416:

Customer 

Health

and Safety

416-1 Assessment of the health and safety impacts of 

product and service categories

Product Quality and 

Customer Satisfaction

63-65

416-2 Incidents of noncompliance concerning the health and 

safety impacts of products and services

63-65
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT

The Board of Directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of Press Metal Aluminium Holdings Berhad (“Press Metal” or the 

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are committed to high standards of corporate governance as a 

fundamental part of its responsibilities to ensure greater transparency and protection of shareholders’ interest. The Board is 

responsible for the Group’s corporate governance standards and policies, and stresses their importance across the Group.

This Corporate Governance Overview Statement is supplemented with a Corporate Governance Report, based on a 

prescribed format to provide a detailed articulation on the application of the Group’s corporate governance practices vis-à-vis 

the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (“MCCG”) during the financial year ended 31 December 2019. The Corporate 

Governance Report is available on the Company’s website (www.pressmetal.com) as well as via an announcement on the 

website of Bursa Malaysia Berhad. The Corporate Governance Overview Statement and Corporate Governance Report are 

made pursuant to paragraph 15.25 of the Main Market Listing Requirements by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“MMLR”) 

and are developed with reference to the guidance provided in Practice Note 9 of MMLR and the Corporate Governance Guide 

(3rd Edition) issued by Bursa Malaysia Berhad.

The Corporate Governance Overview Statement sets out the Group’s key corporate governance practices with reference 

to the Code, where appropriate. This Statement should also be read alongside other statements in this Annual Report (e.g. 

Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control, Audit Committee Report and Sustainability Report) as the application of 

certain corporate governance promulgations may be better contextualised and narrated in the respective statements.

Corporate Governance Approach 

The Board is committed to ensure that the Company upholding sound corporate governance and sustainable in creating and 

delivering value to its shareholders and stakeholders. Over the course of more than 3 decades since the Group’s inception, 

corporate governance has been steadily embedded in its lexicon based on the premise that a sound corporate governance 

framework is essential to form the bedrock of responsible and responsive decision making.

The Group’s overall approach to corporate governance is to: 

• Promote individual accountability particularly at the leadership level (i.e. Board and Senior Management) as they 

represent the nucleus and conscience of the Group;

• Drive the application of good governance practices in tandem with the value creation process of the Group; 

• Demonstrate openness and accountability in the way the Group conducts its business and engages with and reports to 

stakeholders; and

• Interweave governance, economic, environmental and social considerations into its business operation in line of 

becoming economic resilient, sustainable and responsible corporate citizen.

The Board regularly reviews the Group’s corporate governance systems and procedures to ensure they reflect market 

dynamics, evolving expectations of stakeholders and best practices whilst simultaneously addressing the needs of the Group. 
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Summary of Corporate Governance Practices

In its effort to achieve its corporate governance aspirations, Press Metal has benchmarked its practices against the relevant 

promulgations and best practices.

Press Metal has consistently applied all the Practices espoused by MCCG, save for:

• Practice 4.1  (Board to have a majority of independent directors);

• Practice 4.5  (Board to comprise 30% women directors);

• Practice 11.2  (Adoption of Integrated Reporting); and

• Practice 12.3  (Adoption of technology to facilitate remote participation and voting).

Press Metal has adopted Step Up 8.4 (establishment of a wholly independent Audit Committee) which is aspirational in nature 

and voluntary in implementation. 

In May 2019, Press Metal has adopted Step Up 9.3 (establishment of a separate Risk Management Committee) which 

comprises a majority of independent directors, to oversee the Company’s risk management framework for managing risks, 

the adequacy of the risk management function and the quality of the risk management processes and systems. 

In line with the flexibility accorded in the application mechanism of MCCG and the widely held notion that there is no 

“one-size fits all” modality in applying corporate governance practices, the Company has provided clear and forthcoming 

explanations for departures from the aforementioned Practices in MCCG. The explanations on the departures are 

supplemented with a description on the alternative practices, measures put in place to apply the departed Practices and the 

anticipated elapsed timeframe to apply the departed Practices.

A summary of the Group’s corporate governance practices with reference to the MCCG is described below.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The Board of Press Metal is responsible in setting the strategic direction and providing leadership for overall direction as well 

as long-term success of the Group.

Board Committees have been established to assist the Board in its oversight function with reference to specific responsibility 

areas. The written terms of reference clearly set out the authority delegated by the Board to make decision. These terms 

of reference also set out the conduct of meetings including quorum, voting requirements and qualifications for Board 

Committee membership. The Board Committees will review its terms of reference from time to time to ensure relevance. 

Any changes to the terms of reference for any Board Committee require the Board’s approval. The Board accepts that while 

these Board Committees have the authority to examine issues and will report back to the Board with their decisions and/or 

recommendations, the ultimate responsibility for all matters lies with the Board. The effectiveness of each Board Committee is 

also constantly monitored by the Board.
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Roles and Responsibilities of the Board  cont’d

Board of Directors
Responsible for

providing stewardship

and oversight of

the Group’s

business and affairs

Review candidates for Board appointment and 

re-election and conduct annual assessment of 

the Board, Board Committees and Directors.

Nomination Committee (“NC”)

Oversee the Company’s risk management 

framework, policies and its implementation 

processes.

Risk Management Committee (“RMC”)

Review of financial reporting, internal controls, 

related party transactions and conflicts of 

interest, internal audit as well as external audit 

reports and processes.

Audit Committee (”AC”)

Review and recommend the remuneration 

packages for individual Directors and Senior 

Management.

Remuneration Committee (“RC”)

Head of Internal Audit,

Internal Audit Department

Group Chief

Executive Officer
Responsible for the executive

management of the Group’s business

and implementation of Board’s

policies and decisions

Senior Management
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Roles and Responsibilities of the Board  cont’d

The Board delegates the day-to-day management of the Group to the Executive Directors but reserves for its consideration 

pertinent significant matters including those outlined in Guidance to Practice 1.1 of MCCG. The Board has also established 

sub-holding boards for each of the Group’s businesses to ensure that the strategies and policies set at the Group level are 

implemented at the respective business divisions.

There is a clear separation of roles between the Chairman of the Board and the Group Chief Executive Officer as an effective 

check and balance mechanism. The Group Chief Executive Officer as the “Chief of Management” is responsible for the 

executive management of the business and activities of the Group and implements the strategies, policies and decisions 

approved by the Board. The Board has also appointed a Senior Independent Director who serves as a sounding board to the 

Chairman and an intermediary for other Directors when necessary.

The Board has formalised a Board Charter which delineates the responsibilities of the Board, Board Committees and 

individual Directors, including the matters that are solely reserved for the Board’s decision. The Board Charter is reviewed 

by the Board to ensure it reflects the fast-changing market dynamics as well as the evolving needs of the Group. The Board 

Charter is made available on the Company’s website.

The Board believes that when making decisions, all Directors discharge their duties and responsibilities at all times as 

fiduciaries and act objectively in the interests of the Company. The matters which specifically require the Board’s approval or 

guidance are those involving: 

a. Strategies and objectives of the Group;

b. Delegation of authority matrix;

c. Announcements on financial results; 

d. Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial Statements; 

e. Annual Report and Sustainability Report; 

f. Declaration of interim dividends to shareholders; 

g. Corporate action/exercises, including issuance of new shares in the capital of the Company; and

h. Material acquisition and disposal of assets/investments, including material financial/funding arrangements and capital 

expenditures.

The Board and Board Committees meet regularly to discuss strategy, operational matters and governance issues. Board 

and Board Committees’ meetings for the calendar year 2019 have been scheduled in advance in consultation with the 

Directors to ensure maximum attendance. The Non-Executive Directors of the Company, who are all Independent Directors, 

constructively challenge and help develop proposals on strategy, review the performance of Management and monitor the 

reporting of performance. Attendance via telephone or video conference, if required, at Board or Board Committees’ meetings 

is permitted by the Company’s Constitution and/or the written terms of reference of the Board Committees, as the case may 

be. Ad hoc meetings will be convened where circumstances require as such. Between Board meetings, the Board and Board 

Committees may also make decisions through circular resolutions in writing. A record of the Directors’ attendance at Board 

and Board Committees’ meetings during the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (“FY2019”) is set out at the next page.
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Roles and Responsibilities of the Board  cont’d

Directors Board AC NC RC RMC

Executive Directors

Koon Poh Ming 5/5 2/2

Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong 5/5

Dato’ Koon Poh Tat 5/5

Koon Poh Weng 5/5

Koon Poh Kong 5/5

Independent Non-Executive Directors 

Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman Bin Megat Ahmad 5/5 1/1 1/1

Tan Heng Kui 4/5 4/5 1/1 2/2

Loo Lean Hock 5/5 5/5 1/1

Noor Alina Binti Mohamad Faiz 5/5 5/5 1/1 1/1

Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim 5/5 2/2

Chairman Member

In performing their duties, all Directors have access to advice and services of two professionally qualified company 

secretaries (“Secretaries”). The Secretaries act as corporate governance counsels and ensure good information flow within 

Board, Board Committees and Senior Management. The Secretaries advise the Directors on the requirements encapsulated 

in the Company’s Constitution and legislative promulgations such as the Companies Act 2016 and MMLR. Management 

provides Directors with adequate and timely information prior to meetings and on an ongoing basis to enable them to make 

informed decisions. The appointment and removal of the Secretaries is a matter reserved for the Board as a whole. 

The Board acknowledges its role in setting the “tone at the top” and creating an ethical culture that will form the very fabric of the 

Group’s conduct. To this end, the Board has adopted and implemented a Code of Conduct for Directors, Management and 

employees of the Group as well as Code of Ethics for the Board. The Board has adopted Whistle-Blower Policy with the aim that 

the employee or stakeholder can report and disclose through established channels any improper or unethical activities relating to the 

Company and the Group. It is worth noting that there was zero whistle-blowing instances during the financial year under review. 

Board Composition

Recognising that the Group is now a leading aluminium player in Southeast Asia, the Board strives to ensure that it has an 

appropriate mix of skills, experience, and diversity to reflect the Group’s nature of business. The Board, from time to time, 

undertakes a review of its composition to determine areas of strengths and improvement opportunities.

Appointments to the Board are made via a formal, rigorous and transparent process, premised on meritocracy and taking into 

account objective criteria such as qualification, skills, experience, professionalism, integrity and diversity needed on the Board 

in the context of the Group’s strategic direction. In the case of Independent Directors, the NC assesses the candidate’s ability 

to bring the element of detached impartiality and objective judgment to boardroom deliberations.
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Board Composition  cont’d

The Board is currently helmed by an Independent Non-Executive Chairman and has ten members (including the Chairman) 

- comprising five Executive Directors and five Independent Non-Executive Directors (including the Chairman). The Board 

considers that its current size is commensurate with the present scope and scale of the Group’s business operations. The Board 

is also composed of members with experience and expertise in engineering, business development, law and accounting which 

allows for informed deliberation, decision-making at the Board level as well as meeting corporate objectives. 

The size and composition of the Board are reviewed from time to time by the NC to ensure that the size of the Board is 

appropriate and conducive for effective discussion and decision-making, with a strong element of independence. No 

individual or small group of individuals dominates the Board’s decision-making process. The Independent Directors possess 

sufficient self-esteem and confidence to stand up for an independent point of view. Accordingly, there is a strong and 

independent element on the Board. The NC, with the concurrence of the Board, is of the view that the current Board size is 

adequate, taking into account the nature and scope of the Group’s operations, the requirements of the business and the need 

to avoid undue disruptions from changes to the composition of the Board and Board Committees.

Whilst the Board does not comprise a majority of Independent Directors as espoused by MCCG, half of its Board members are 

Independent. The presence of an Independent Chairman on the Board allows for discussions to be framed and mediated in an 

objective manner. In addition, Mr. Tan Heng Kui had been designated by the Company as Senior Independent Director to act as 

an intermediary to the other Independent Directors and serve as a conduit to stakeholders on corporate governance matters. 

In accordance with Clause 95 of the Constitution of the Company, all Directors shall retire from office at least once in every 

three (3) years but shall be eligible for the re-election. Clause 102 provides that any Directors appointed by the Board during 

the financial year are required to retire at the next following Annual General Meeting but are eligible for re-election. 

A granular view of the Board composition can be illustrated as below: 

Director’s Core

Competencies

Engineering Legal

Business
Development

Accounting/
Audit
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Board Composition  cont’d

Age Composition

10% 10%

10%

70%

41-50 51-60 61-70 Above 70

Nature of Directorships

50% 50%

30% 10%

10%

Executive Directors

Non-Executive Independent Directors

Independent Directors

Independent Chairman

Senior Independent Director

On an annual basis, the Board, Board Committees and individual Directors including Independent Directors are subjected to 

a rigorous evaluation process that effectively reviews their performance and assess their effectiveness. The assessment is 

conducted using customised questionnaires that is based on a self and peer rating assessment model. 

The NC, which is responsible for reviewing the independence of each Director on an annual basis, has adopted the MMLR’s 

definition of what constitutes an Independent Director. In addition, the NC requires each Independent Director to assess his 

own independence by completing a Confirmation of Independence whether he/ she considers himself/ herself independent. 

The Board reviews and determines whether each Director is independent, taking into account the views of the NC and any 

existence of relationships or circumstances. The Directors are required to avoid situations in which their own personal or 

business interests directly or indirectly conflict, or appear to conflict, with the interests of the Group. Where a Director has 

a conflict of interest, or it appears that he might have a conflict of interest, in relation to any matter, he should immediately 

declare his interest at a meeting of the Directors or send a written notice to the Company containing details of his interest 

and the conflict, and recuse himself from participating in any discussion and decision on the matter. Where relevant, the 

Directors have complied with such requirement, and such compliance has been duly recorded in the minutes of meeting 

and/ or Directors’ Resolutions in writing. The NC and the Board have assessed the independence of each of the Independent 

Directors and recommended that the Company seeks shareholders’ approval at its coming Annual General Meeting through 

a two-tier voting process as 2 Independent Directors, namely, Mr. Loo Lean Hock and Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman 

Bin Megat Ahmad had served beyond 12 years in accordance with Practice 4.2 of the MCCG. Meanwhile, Mr. Tan Heng Kui 

will be retiring at the end of the upcoming AGM on 11 June 2020 and will be stepping down as Senior Independent Director, 

member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Risk Management Committee. 
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During the financial year, the NC has undertaken the following key activities in discharging its duties:

(i) assessed effectiveness of each individual Director, effectiveness of the Board Committees, balance and composition of 
the Board and independence of Independent Directors; the size of the Board and Committees are of an appropriate size 
and comprise appropriate balance of skills, knowledge and experience as well as diversity of age and gender;

(ii) reviewed retention of Independent Non-Executive Directors, re-election of the Directors at the Annual General Meeting 
and the continuation in office of Independent Directors who had exceeded 12 years’ tenure; 

(iii) assessed training needs of the Directors; and
(iv) reviewed terms of office and performance of AC and each of its members through annual evaluations.

From performance assessment conducted by the NC on 24 February 2020, it was concluded that the Board as a whole, Board 
Committees, individual Directors have discharged their roles and responsibilities in a commendable manner. 

As part of training and professional development for the Board, the Company ensures that Directors are briefed from time to 
time on changes to regulations, guidelines and accounting standards, as well as other relevant trends or issues. In addition, the 
Company’s external auditors, KPMG PLT (“External Auditors”) and/or the Group Financial Controller update the Board on the 
changes to accounting standards and issues which have a direct impact on financial statements from time to time. The Group 
Chief Executive Officer also provide the Board with regular updates on the Group’s operations and any changes to commercial 
risks. These are done either during Board meetings or at specially convened sessions, including training sessions and seminars 
conducted by external professionals at the Company’s expense. Directors are also encouraged to request further explanation, 
briefings or informal discussion on any aspect of the Group’s operations or business issues from Management. The Directors 
have additionally attended external trainings, seminars and conferences to enhance their skillsets and knowledge in areas 
pertinent to the Group.

Directors Programme Date

Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul 

Rahman Bin Megat Ahmad

Tax Risk Management and Board’s Responsibility 20 August 2019

Koon Poh Ming Tax Risk Management and Board’s Responsibility 20 August 2019

Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh 

Keong

UBS Greater China Conference 2019

Credit Suisse Market Outlook Seminar 2019

KSI 2019 Malaysian Economic & Strategic Outlook Forum 

JP Morgan 2019 Equity Market Outlook

Tax Risk Management and Board’s Responsibility

ACCCIM National Economic Forum 2019

Metal Bulletin International Aluminium Conference 2019

19th Annual Forbes Global CEO Conference

18th Annual Asia Pacific Summit

7 & 8 January 2019

23 January 2019

29 January 2019

12 April 2019

20 August 2019

29 August 2019

22 - 25 September 2019

15 &16 October 2019

20 & 21 November 2019
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Directors Programme Date

Dato’ Koon Poh Tat Tax Risk Management and Board’s Responsibility 20 August 2019

Koon Poh Weng Tax Risk Management and Board’s Responsibility 20 August 2019

Koon Poh Kong Tax Risk Management and Board’s Responsibility 20 August 2019

Tan Heng Kui Tax Risk Management and Board’s Responsibility 20 August 2019

Loo Lean Hock National Tax Conference

Tax Risk Management and Board’s Responsibility

The Effects of Digital Tax in Malaysia

MIA International Accountants Conference 2019

5 & 6 August 2019

20 August 2019

5 September 2019

22 & 23 October 2019

Noor Alina Binti Mohamad 

Faiz

Read Interpret and Analyze Financial Statements For Company 

Secretaries (Intermediate Level)

Tax Risk Management and Board’s Responsibility

Corporate Rescue and Insolvency

Preparing for corporate liability in Malaysia and How Ethics 

makes businesses sustainable

16 August 2019

20 August 2019

10 & 11 October 2019

14 November 2019

Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim Cryptocurrency & Blockchain

FIDE Forum: Reading the Signs: The next financial crisis and its 

potential impact on Asia

BNM-FIDE Forum: Dialogue with the Deputy Governor on the 

draft Risk Management in Technology Policy

Understanding the Evolving Cybersecurity Landscape

Digital Assets: Global Trends, Legal Requirements and 

Opportunities for Financial Institutions

Tax Risk Management and Board’s Responsibility

IIC – SIDC Governance Convention 2019: Rising Beyond 

Principles and Policies

13 March 2019

14 March 2019

8 April 2019

23 April 2019

26 April 2019

20 August 2019

18 November 2019
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Remuneration

A fair remuneration package is critical to attract, retain and motivate Directors and Senior Management personnel. Towards this 
end, the Board has adopted a methodical process for setting the remuneration of Directors and Senior Management. In relation 
to Executive Directors and other Senior Management personnel, the components parts of remuneration are structured to link 
rewards to individual and corporate performance whilst for Non-Executive Directors, the remuneration packages are based on 
their position in the Board, participation in boardroom activities and specific skills or expertise that they bring to bear.

As for oversight on remuneration matters, the Board has established a specialised Committee, namely RC which comprises 
exclusively of Independent Directors. The RC is responsible for recommending the remuneration packages of Executive 
Directors and Senior Management to the Board with reference to the guidance available in the Directors’ and Senior 
Management’s Remuneration Policy. Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration is a matter to be decided by the Board as a 
whole, with the Director concerned abstaining from deliberations and voting on decisions in respect of his or her individual 
remuneration, prior to the tabling of such for shareholders’ approval.

The RC has considered market practices for non-executive director compensation. On its recommendation, the Board has 
decided to increase the fee structure of 5% from the previous year. The fee structure for the newly established RMC is similar 
to that of the AC. 

The detailed remuneration of the Board and top five (5) Senior Management are disclosed in the Corporate Governance 
Report of the Company. 

Audit Committee

The AC provides robust and comprehensive oversight on financial reporting, objectivity and effectiveness of external and 
internal audit processes, reportable related party transactions, conflict of interest situations as well as risk management 
matters. The AC is chaired by an Independent Director, who is distinct from the Chairman of the Board. AC members possess 
the requisite financial literacy and business knowledge that support the sound understanding of matters under their purview. 

The AC has unrestricted access to both the internal and external auditors, who report functionally and directly to the AC. The 
AC has established transparent arrangements to maintain an appropriate relationship with the Company’s auditors. During 
the year under review, the external auditors have provided assurance that its personnel are and have been independent 
throughout the conduct of the audit in accordance to the terms of relevant professional and regulatory requirements.

The activities of the AC are further detailed in the AC Report as contained in the Annual Report.

Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

The Board recognises its responsibility to ensure that Management maintains a sound system of risk management and 
internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets, and will also determine the nature and extent of 
the significant risks which the Board is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives. The Enterprise Risk Management 
framework referenced to ISO 31000 which the Board adopted strengthens the Group’s capability to recognise and capitalise on 
new challenges and opportunities so as to add value to Management’s decision-making, business planning, resource allocation 
and operational management. The RMC reviews the Group’s risk appetite framework and risk tolerance for the enterprise risks. 
Using qualitative and quantitative measures, risks are calibrated so that balanced control processes are matched against the 
strategic objectives of each business unit. The Board, with the assistance of the RMC and AC, undertakes periodic reviews and 
a formal annual assessment on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. 
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Risk Management and Internal Control Framework  cont’d

The Group has an in-house internal audit department, which is augmented with outsourced internal auditors for specialised 
expertise in selected areas. The internal audit function is independent of the activities or operations of the other operating 
units in the Group. The internal audit function adopts a risk-based audit approach when executing each audit assignment 
which is carried out in accordance with the annual audit plan. The annual audit plan covers the major subsidiaries of the 
Group. The internal audit function provides the AC and the Board with assurance regarding the adequacy and integrity of the 
systems of risk, governance and internal controls. 

The Group’s risk management and internal framework is made available in the Statement on Risk Management and Internal 
Control of the Annual Report.

Communication with Stakeholders

The Company is mindful of its obligations to provide material information in a fair and organised manner and on a timely basis 
to its shareholders. The Company strives to ensure regular, effective and fair communication with its shareholders, and be 
as descriptive, detailed and forthcoming as possible in disclosing the information and to inform shareholders of changes in 
the Company or its business which would likely to materially affect the price or value of the Company’s shares. The Board 
treats all shareholders fairly and equitably and seeks to protect and facilities exercise of shareholder’s rights. The Company 
publicly release all material information prior to general meeting. Price sensitive information, quarterly and full year results 
announcements are always released through the Bursa Securities on a timely basis for dissemination to shareholders and the 
public in accordance with the requirements of the MMLR.

The Group’s investor relations activities are aimed at developing and maintaining a positive relationship with analysts, current 
and potential shareholders through active two-way communication. The Company’s website contains dedicated sections on 
corporate information and financial information. 

Conduct of General Meetings

The Group is of the view that Annual General Meetings (“AGM”) are the principal platform 
to engage with its shareholders as well as to address their concerns. All Board members 
were present at the Third AGM of the Company held in May 2019. The Engagement 
Partner of the external audit firm was also present at the AGM to answer questions from 
shareholders relating to the external audit process and the attendant outcome.

The Group encourages shareholders to attend and participate in general meetings 
by circulating the AGM notice at least 28 days prior to the meeting. The notice for 
general meetings outlines the resolutions to be tabled during the said meeting and is 
accompanied with explanatory notes and background information where applicable. 

Shareholders who are unable to attend the AGM may appoint up to two proxies to attend, 
participate, speak and vote on their behalf. In accordance with the MMLR of Bursa 
Malaysia, all resolutions set out in the notice of the Third AGM were voted by poll. An 
independent scrutineer was appointed to validate all votes and results of the voting.

A summary of the key matters discussed at the AGM is published on the Company’s 
website as soon as practicable after the conclusion of the AGM.

Notice of upcoming AGM

Date : 

Thursday, 11 June 2020

Broadcast Venue : 

Suite 61 & 62, Setia Avenue

No. 2, Jalan Setia Prima S U13/S

Setia Alam Seksyen U13

40170 Shah Alam

Selangor, Malaysia

√ 28 days’ notice

√ Remote Participation and Voting
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Conduct of General Meetings  cont’d

In view of the current COVID-19 pandemic, the forthcoming Fourth AGM of the Company will be conducted entirely through 

live streaming and online remote voting using the Remote Participation and Voting facilities (“RPV”). Shareholders who 

attend the Fourth AGM via remote participation will also be able to submit their questions during the AGM. Shareholders are 

encouraged to use the RPV to participate and vote remotely at the Fourth AGM.

Focus Areas on Corporate Governance 

Board Diversity

The Board will escalate its efforts to establish a diverse Board which bears a variety in the dimensions of skills, experience, 

age, cultural background and gender. Candidates will be appointed based on their merit as well as value they bring towards 

raising the calibre of members that make-up the composition. 

Future Priorities 

Going forward, the Board will continue to review and enhance the corporate governance measures and value creation 

objective in the best interest of its stakeholders. 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT IN RESPECT OF THE PREPARATION OF THE AUDITED FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the financial statements of the Group are drawn up in accordance with the 

Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies 

Act 2016. The Board is also responsible for ensuring that the annual audited financial statements of the Group are prepared 

with reasonable accuracy from the accounting records of the Group to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 

Group as of 31 December 2019 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are satisfied that the Group has selected and applied consistently suitable 

accounting policies and made reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Board is of the opinion that the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all relevant approved 

financial reporting standards and have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
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Additional Compliance Information

1. Material Contracts involving interest of Directors, Chief Executive and Major Shareholders

 

 Save as disclosed below, there were no material contracts entered into by the Group involving interest of Directors, 

Chief Executive and major shareholders during the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

 The Group has entered into the following related party transaction contracts involving interest of Directors, Chief 

Executive and major shareholders:

 a) Conditional sale and purchase of shares agreement(s) entered into between PMB (Klang) Sdn Bhd (“PMB Klang”), 

a wholly-owned subsidiary of Press Metal International (HK) Limited, which in turn the wholly-owned subsidiary 

of the Company with Everlast Aluminium (M) Sdn Bhd (“Everlast Aluminium”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of PMB 

Technology Berhad on 29 October 2019 for acquisition of the entire equity interests in PMB Central Sdn Bhd, PMB 

Northern Sdn Bhd and PMB Eastern Sdn Bhd for a total cash consideration of RM43,182,000.

 b) A conditional sale and purchase of shares agreement entered into between PMB Klang and PMB Technology 

Berhad on 29 October 2019 for acquisition of the entire equity interest in PMB Aluminium Sabah Sdn Bhd for a 

total cash consideration of RM1,204,000.

 (collectively referred to as “Proposed Acquisition”)

 The Proposed Acquisition was completed on 19 December 2019. PMB Central Sdn Bhd, PMB Northern Sdn Bhd, PMB 

Eastern Sdn Bhd and PMB Aluminium Sabah Sdn Bhd have become wholly-owned subsidiaries of PMB (Klang) Sdn 

Bhd, which in turn are subsidiaries of the Company. 

2. Audit and Non-Audit Fees

 

 During the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the amount of audit and non-audit fees paid by the Company and 

the Group to the external auditors are as follows:

Company

(RM’000)

Group

(RM‘000)

Audit services rendered 175 1,847

Non-audit services rendered 20 648

Total 195 2,495
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3. Recurrent Related Party Transactions of Revenue or Trading Nature

 The details for the Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature transacted pursuant to the 

Shareholders’ Mandate during the financial year ended 31 December 2019 are stated in Section 2.3 and Section 2.4 of 

the Circular to Shareholders dated 13 May 2020 and Note 33 of the Financial Statements.

4. Utilisation of Proceeds raised from Corporate Proposals

 a) Islamic Medium-Term Notes Programme of up to RM5.0 Billion in Aggregate Nominal based on the Shariah 

Principle of Wakalah Bi-Al Istithmar (“Sukuk Programme”)

  The Company has on 17 October 2019, made its first issuance of Sukuk Wakalah under the Sukuk Programme 

for an aggregate nominal value of RM1.0 billion with tenures of 5 years, 7 years and 10 years. The net proceeds 

from the Sukuk Wakalah have been utilised towards refinancing of existing indebtedness and general corporate 

purposes.

 b) Warrant C 2011/2019 (“Warrants”)

  A total of approximately RM34.0 million was raised from the exercise of the Company’s warrants during the 

financial year ended 31 December 2019. The proceeds were utilised for working capital purposes of the Group. 

The warrants expired on 22 August 2019 and were removed from the Official List of Bursa Malaysia Securities on 

23 August 2019.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

COMPOSITION OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three (3) members, all of whom are Independent Non-Executive Directors which satisfy the 

requirements of Paragraph 15.09(1)(a) and (b) of the Main Market Listing Requirements (“MMLR”) of Bursa Malaysia Securities 

Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) and Practice 8.4 under Principle B of the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance. Details of 

the composition of the Audit Committee are as follows:-

Loo Lean Hock (Chairman)

Independent Non-Executive Director; Member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants

Tan Heng Kui (Member)

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

Noor Alina Binti Mohamad Faiz (Member)

Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Loo Lean Hock is a Chartered Accountant of Malaysian Institute of Accountants, a practicing member of Malaysian 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Fellow of Certified Public Accountant Australia, associate member of Chartered 

Tax Institute of Malaysia and professional member of Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia, which is in compliance with 

Paragraph 15.09(1)(C) of the MMLR of Bursa Securities.

TERMS OF REFERENCE

The duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are spelt out in the Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee. A copy 

of the Terms of Reference is available on the Company’s website at www.pressmetal.com.

ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS
 

The details of attendance of each member at the Audit Committee meetings held during the financial year ended 2019 are as 

follows:-

Audit Committee Members Number of meetings attended

Loo Lean Hock 5/5

Tan Heng Kui 4/5

Noor Alina Binti Mohamad Faiz 5/5

Audit Committee Report
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SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee reports regularly to the Board on the activities carried out by the Committee in discharging their duties 

and responsibilities in accordance with its Terms of Reference. 

The activities carried out by the Audit Committee during the financial year ended 31 December 2019 were summarised as 

follows:- 

1 Financial Reporting

 (a) The Audit Committee had ensured that the quarterly financial results of the Group complied with the Malaysian 

Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”) and Appendix 9B of the MMLR. They reviewed and discussed the 

unaudited quarterly financial results of the Group with the Management at the scheduled quarterly Audit 

Committee meetings, and recommended the same to the Board for approval and release to Bursa Securities;

 (b) Reviewed the audited financial statements for the financial year ended 2018 before recommending to the Board 

for approval.

  The review focused primarily on:-

  • major judgemental areas, significant and unusual events;

  • significant adjustments resulting from audit; and

  • the going concern assumptions

2 External Audit

 (a) At the meeting held on 26 February 2019, the Audit Committee reviewed and discussed with the External Auditors 

the status of audit for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 including the issues arising from their audit 

of the annual financial statements and their resolution of such issues as highlighted in their report to the Audit 

Committee;

 (b) Reviewed, discussed and approved the Audit Plan of the Group inclusive the scope of work of the external 

auditors to ensure it is adequately covers the activities of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 

2019 at the meeting held on 28 November 2019;

 (c) Assessed and discussed the performance, suitability and independence of the External Auditors based on among 

others, the External Auditors’ competency and audit independence, objectivity and professional skepticism before 

recommending to the Board their re-appointment and remuneration; and

 (d) Had private sessions with the External Auditors twice during the financial year, i.e. on 26 February 2019 and 28 

November 2019 respectively without the presence of any executive Board members and Management to ensure 

there were no restrictions on their scope of audit and to discuss any matters that the External Auditors did not 

wish to raise in the presence of the Management. During the private session with the External Auditors, it was 

noted that there were no major concerns from the External Auditors and they had been receiving full cooperation 

from the management during their course of audit.

Audit Committee Report

Cont’d
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SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE  cont’d

3 Internal Audit

 (a) At the meeting held on 26 February 2019, the Audit Committee reviewed the adequacy of the scope, functions, 
competency and resources of the internal audit function to ensure its effectiveness and efficiency;

 (b) Reviewed and approved the Internal Audit Plan for 2019 to ensure adequate scope and comprehensive coverage 
over the activities of the Company and the Group;

 (c) Reviewed and discussed the findings on the internal audit reports including follow-up report which were 
tabled during the year, the audit recommendations made as well as the management’s response to these 
recommendations and the implementation of agreed action plan on quarterly basis;

 (d) Monitored the implementation of mitigating actions taken by Management on outstanding issues to ensure all key 
risks and control weaknesses are properly addressed; and

 (e) Met with the Internal Auditors, both outsourced and in-house on 26 February 2019 and 20 August 2019 
respectively without the presence of any executive Board members and the Management for discussion on 
internal audit related matters. 

4 Related Party Transaction

 (a) Reviewed and considered any related party transactions and conflict of interest situation that may arise within 
the Company or the Group, including any transactions, procedure or course of conduct that raise questions of 
management integrity on quarterly basis;

 (b) Reviewed recurrent related party transactions on quarterly basis to ascertain if the transactions were at arm’s 
length basis and on normal commercial terms; and

 (c) Reviewed the Circular to Shareholders in respect of the recurrent related party transactions prior to recommending 
for the Board’s approval to seek shareholders’ mandate at the annual general meeting of the Company.

5 Others

 (a) Reported to and updated the Board on significant issues and concerns discussed during the Audit Committee 
meetings and where appropriate, made the necessary recommendation to the Board;

 (b) Reviewed the Audit Committee Report and Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control prior to their 
inclusion in the Company’s Annual Report;

 (c) Reviewed the Aging Report on quarterly basis; and
 
 (d) Conducted a self-assessment exercise to evaluate their own effectiveness in discharging their duties and 

responsibilities for the financial year ended 31 December 2018. 

In all Audit Committee meetings, the Group Financial Controller was present to report on the results of the Group as well as to 

answer questions posed by the Audit Committee in relation to the results to be announced.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The primary role of the internal audit function is to undertake regular and systematic review of the systems of internal control 
so as to provide sufficient assurance that the Group has sound system of internal control and that established policies and 
procedures are adhered to.

The Company has established an in-house internal audit team as well as engaging an independent external audit firm namely 
Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng Governance Sdn. Bhd. to carry out the internal audit function for the Group.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2019, both in-house internal auditors and outsourced internal auditors have 
performed operational audits on business units of the Group to ascertain the adequacy of the internal control systems and 
to make recommendations for improvement where weaknesses exist in accordance with the risk based internal audit plan 
approved by the Audit Committee. The auditable entity and business process are as follows:

Name of entity Auditable areas

Press Metal Bintulu Sdn. Bhd. • Environmental, Health & Safety Management
• Management of General IT and Application Controls and Data Recovery Plans
• Accounting and Finance Management
• Casthouse Production Management

Press Metal Sarawak Sdn. Bhd. • Human Resource Management & Payroll Function
• Anode Rodding Management
• Anode Rodding Repair Management
• Electrolysis Management

Angkasa Jasa Sdn. Bhd. • Human Resource Management & Payroll Function and Finance Management & 
General Accounting Controls

Press Metal Aluminium Rods Sdn. Bhd. • Procurement Management

Press Metal International Limited • Logistic Management
• Transportation Management

Press Metal International Technology Ltd. • Logistic Management
• Transportation Management

Press Metal North America Inc. • Sales Management
• Procurement Management
• Accounting and Finance Management

Press Metal UK Limited • Sales Management
• Accounting and Finance Management
• Inventory and Transportation Management

Findings from the internal audit reviews, including the recommended corrective actions, were discussed with Management 
and the relevant head of departments prior to present to Audit Committee at their scheduled meetings on a quarterly basis.
The in-house internal auditors will also perform follow-up reviews on implementation status of action plans previously agreed 
by Management to ensure that corrective actions have been implemented on a timely manner.

The total cost incurred for the internal audit function of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 was 
RM560,000 (2018: RM480,000).
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control

INTRODUCTION

In accordance with Paragraph 15.26(b) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, the 

Board of Directors of public listed companies are required to include in their annual report a statement about the state of 

risk management and internal control of the listed issuer as a group. The Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance requires 

listed companies to maintain a sound system of internal control to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the group’s 

assets. Set out below is the Board’s Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control, which has been prepared in 

accordance with the “Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers” (the 

“Guidelines”).

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY

The Board is committed to maintaining both a sound system of risk management and internal control and the proper 

management of risks throughout the operations of the Group in order to safeguard shareholders’ investments and assets of 

the Group. The Board acknowledges that it is ultimately responsible for the Group’s system of internal control including the 

establishment of an appropriate control environment and framework, which encompass financial, operational and compliance 

controls, and risk management. 

The Board is responsible for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks of the Group, as well as reviewing the 

adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system on an ongoing basis. This process has been 

in place for the financial year under review and up to the date of approval of this statement for inclusion in the annual report.

The Board believes the risk management and internal control system in place are adequate and effective to manage the risk 

of the Group. Nevertheless, it should be noted that due to the inherent limitations in any system, such systems are designed 

to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. In addition, it should be noted that any 

system can provide only reasonable, but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION AND RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Board delegates the responsibility of monitoring the system of risk management and internal controls to the Risk 

Management Committee and Audit Committee. Notwithstanding the delegated responsibilities, the Board retains its overall 

responsibility in the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework and internal controls systems. 

The Board recognises that the internal controls systems are designed to manage and minimise rather than eliminate and 

avoid occurrences of material misstatements or unforseen circumstances, fraud or losses. This statement does not deal 

with the associates and joint operation of the Group. Assessment on the adequacy, efficiency and effectiveness of the 

internal control of the associates and joint operation are performed under the purview of their respective establish governing 

procedures.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION AND RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK  cont’d

Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) was established to assist the Board in providing oversight, direction and 

counsel on the overall risk management process, establishing and reviewing the risk management framework, process and 

responsibilities as well as assessing whether they provide reasonable assurance that risks are managed within tolerable limits. 

The specific duties of the RMC are as follows:

1. Review the adequacy of the scope, function, authority and resources of the Risk Management Department;

2. Providing oversight, direction and counsel to the risk management process to ensure that appropriate risk management 

policies, framework and processes are implemented;

3. Review the Group’s risk profile and ensure that potential significant risks that are outside tolerable ranges are addressed 

with appropriate and effective preventive and mitigation actions;

4. Monitor and evaluate the risk profile and risk appetite of the Group; and

5. Conduct periodic review of the Group’s Risk Management Policy and Framework.

Risk Management Department

The Risk Management Department (“RMD”) assists the Board and RMC in discharging their risk management responsibilities. 

RMD is structured to provide adequate support to the Head Office and Business Units with regard to risk management 

implementation and monitoring. The RMD is mainly responsible for the following:

1. Outlining the strategic plan to guide the priorities and direction of the Group’s risk management activities;

2. Developing the appropriate risk management guidelines;

3. Monitoring risk exposure and tolerance limits across the Group;

4. Provide the necessary guidance and support for the risk management activities of the Group; and

5. Assessing the effectiveness of the preventive and mitigating controls implemented.

Audit Committee 

For the current year, both the outsourced internal auditors and in-house internal auditors assisted the Audit Committee to 

fulfill its responsibilities by conducting internal audits in accordance with audit plans reviewed and approved by the Audit 

Committee. A risk-based approach is adopted via the development of internal audit policies, establishment of annual audit 

plans, audit work processes and audit work reporting. 

The Audit Committee reviewed the adequacy of the scope, functions, competency and resources of the internal audit function 

to ascertain its effectiveness in discharging duties assigned. The details on the Internal Audit function are further explained on 

page 100 of this Annual Report.

During the year, the outsourced internal auditors conducted four (4) audits covering six (6) business functions and the in-

house internal auditors conducted eight (8) audits covering sixteen (16) business functions. The internal auditors also 

conducted follow up reviews on the implementation status of action plans previously agreed by management. 
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION AND RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK  cont’d

Audit Committee  cont’d

The results of the internal audits and recommendations for improvement co-developed with management were tabled at the 
Audit Committee meetings for discussion and assessment. Key and significant issues were reported to the Board by the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee for further deliberation. 

WEAKNESSES

A few weaknesses in internal control were identified during the period, all of which have been, or are being addressed. None 
of these weaknesses resulted in any material errors, losses, contingencies or uncertainties that would warrant a disclosure in 
the Group’s annual report. 

OTHER KEY ELEMENTS OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Apart from risk management and internal audit, the other key elements of the Group’s internal control system are described below:

• A management structure with job descriptions and defined lines of responsibilities in place for all business operating units;
• Seven of its subsidiaries have the following accreditation for their operational processes:-

Press Metal Berhad • ISO 14001:2015 on Environmental Management Systems

• ISO 45001:2018 on Occupational Health and Safety Management Systems 

PMB (Klang) Sdn. Bhd. • ISO 9001:2015 on Quality Management Systems

Press Metal International Limited • ISO 9001:2015 on Quality Management Systems

• ISO 14001:2015 on Environmental Management Systems

• BS OHSAS 18001:2007 on Occupational Health and Safety Management

• ISO 50001:2011 Energy Management Systems

Press Metal Sarawak Sdn. Bhd. • ISO 9001:2015 on Quality Management Systems

• ISO 14001:2015 on Environmental Management Systems

• ISO 45001:2018 on Occupational Health and Safety Management Systems 

Press Metal Bintulu Sdn. Bhd. • ISO 9001:2015 on Quality Management Systems

• ISO 14001:2015 on Environmental Management Systems

• BS OHSAS 18001:2007 on Occupational Health and Safety Management

Press Metal International 

Technology Ltd. 

• ISO 9001:2015 on Quality Management Systems

• ISO 14001:2015 on Environmental Management Systems

• BS OHSAS 18001:2007 on Occupational Health and Safety Management

Press Metal Aluminium Rods Sdn. 

Bhd.

• ISO 9001:2015 on Quality Management Systems

• ISO 14001:2015 on Environmental Management Systems

• OHSAS 18001:2007 on Occupational Health and Safety Management 
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• Review of all proposals for material capital and investment acquisitions by the management prior to the review and 

approval by the Board of Directors;

• Information is provided by management to the Board on a quarterly basis, covering financial performance as well as 

key performance indicators, such as cash flow performance, product sales analysis and operating cost analysis. These 

performance reports are benchmarked against budget;

• Quarterly monitoring of results and financial position by the Board;

• Visits to business operating units by key members of the Board and the management team at least every 6 months;

• Quarterly review of the Group’s related party transactions by the Audit Committee;

• Company value statement, code of conduct and policies and procedures are in place and made available to all staff; and

• Charters of responsibilities and functions of the Board of Directors and its main committees - Audit Committee, 

Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Risk Management Committee are formally established and 

implemented.

ASSURANCE PROVIDED BY THE GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND GROUP FINANCIAL 

CONTROLLER

In line with the Guidelines, the Group Chief Executive Officer and Group Financial Controller have provided assurance to the 

Board stating that the Group’s risk management and internal control system have operated adequately and effectively, in all 

material aspects, to meet the Group’s objectives during the period under review.

REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS 

The external auditors have reviewed this Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control pursuant to the scope set out 

in Audit and Assurance Practice Guide (“AAPG”) 3, Guidance for Auditors on Engagements to Report on the Statement on 

Risk Management and Internal Control included in the Annual Report issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA”) 

for inclusion in the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019, and reported to the Board that nothing 

has come to their attention that cause them to believe that the statement intended to be included in the annual report of the 

Group, in all material respects:

(a) has not been prepared in accordance with the disclosures required by paragraphs 41 and 42 of the Statement on Risk 

Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers, or

(b) is factually inaccurate.

AAPG 3 does not require the external auditors to consider whether the Directors’ Statement on Risk Management and 

Internal Control covers all risks and controls, or to form an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk 

management and internal control system including the assessment and opinion by the Board of Directors and management 

thereon. The auditors are also not required to consider whether the processes described to deal with material internal control 

aspects of any significant problems disclosed in the annual report will, in fact, remedy the problems.

Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control

Cont’d
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company 

for the financial year ended 31 December 2019. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding activities whilst the principal activities of the subsidiaries are as 

stated in Note 8 to the financial statements. There has been no significant change in the nature of these activities during the 

financial year.

SUBSIDIARIES

The details of the Company’s subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 8 to the financial statements.

RESULTS

Group Company

RM’000 RM’000

Profit for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company 473,968 275,423

Non-controlling interests 107,708 -

581,676 275,423

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

There were no material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year under review except as disclosed 

in the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 31 December 2019
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DIVIDENDS

Since the end of the previous financial year, the amount of dividends paid by the Company were as follows: 

i) In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2018 as reported in the Directors’ Report of that year, a fourth 

interim ordinary dividend of 1.50 sen per ordinary share totalling RM60,292,000 declared on 26 February 2019 and paid 

on 2 April 2019.

ii) In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2019: 

 • a first interim ordinary dividend of 1.25 sen per ordinary share totalling RM50,403,000 declared on 27 May 2019 

and paid on 28 June 2019.

 • a second interim ordinary dividend of 1.25 sen per ordinary share totalling RM50,477,000 declared on 20 August 

2019 and paid on 24 September 2019.

 • a third interim ordinary dividend of 1.25 sen per ordinary share totalling RM50,477,000 declared on 28 November 

2019 and paid on 30 December 2019.

Subsequent to the end of the current financial year, the Directors declared a fourth interim ordinary dividend of 1.25 sen per 

ordinary share totalling RM50,477,000 on 24 February 2020 in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2019, which 

was paid on 30 March 2020. 

The Directors do not recommend any final dividend to be paid for the financial year under review.

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

Directors who served during the financial year until the date of this report are:

 Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman bin Megat Ahmad

 Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong

 Koon Poh Ming

 Dato’ Koon Poh Tat

 Koon Poh Kong

 Koon Poh Weng

 Loo Lean Hock

 Tan Heng Kui

 Noor Alina binti Mohamad Faiz

 Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim 
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

The interests and deemed interests in the shares and warrants of the Company and of its related corporations (other than wholly-

owned subsidiaries) of those who were Directors at financial year end (including the interests of the spouses or children of the 

Directors who themselves are not Directors of the Company) as recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings are as follows:

 Number of ordinary shares

At 

1.1.2019

Bought^/

Transferred Sold

At

31.12.2019

Interests in the Company:

Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman bin Megat Ahmad 280,000 - - 280,000

Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong

- own 596,076,672 5,953,100 (18,000,000) 584,029,772

- spouse 76,102,320 - - 76,102,320

Koon Poh Ming

- own 281,867,258 10,000,000 - 291,867,258

- spouse 70,560,000 8,000,000 - 78,560,000

Dato’ Koon Poh Tat

- own 127,791,380 7,500,000 - 135,291,380

- spouse 4,214,302 - - 4,214,302

Koon Poh Kong

- own 87,750,686 5,500,000 - 93,250,686

- spouse 1,006,920 - - 1,006,920

- children 10,050,000 - - 10,050,000

Koon Poh Weng

- own 186,914,068 5,000,000 - 191,914,068

- spouse 55,456,080 15,000,000 - 70,456,080

- children 54,880 - - 54,880

Tan Heng Kui 801,640 - - 801,640

Deemed interests in the Company:

Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong * 884,612,115 55,091,215 - 939,703,330

^ Including shares issued pursuant to the conversion of warrants
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES  cont’d

 Number of warrants

At 

1.1.2019 Bought Converted

At

31.12.2019

Interests in the Company:

Koon Poh Ming 10,000,000 - (10,000,000) -

Deemed interests in the Company:

Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong * 55,091,215 - (55,091,215) -

* Deemed interested by virtue of the Director’s interests in Alpha Milestone Sdn. Bhd.

In accordance with the Companies Act, the interests and deemed interests of the spouses and children of the Directors in the 

shares and warrants of the Company and of its related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) shall be treated as 

the interests of the Directors also.

By virtue of their interests in the shares of the Company, Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong, Koon Poh Ming, Dato’ Koon Poh Tat, 

Koon Poh Kong and Koon Poh Weng are also deemed interested in the shares of the subsidiaries during the financial year to 

the extent that Press Metal Aluminium Holdings Berhad has an interest.

None of the other Directors holding office at 31 December 2019 had any interest in the shares and warrants of the Company 

and of its related corporations during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received nor become entitled to receive any 

benefit (other than those fees and other benefits included in the aggregate amount of remuneration received or due and 

receivable by Directors as shown in the financial statements or the fixed salary of a full time employee of the Company or of 

related corporations) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a firm 

of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest, other than a 

Director who received rental income from a company in the Group in the ordinary course of business as disclosed in Note 33 

to the financial statements.

There were no arrangements during and at the end of the financial year which had the object of enabling Directors of the 

Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body 

corporate apart from the issue of warrants by the Company.
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ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

During the financial year, the Company issued 87,263,501 new ordinary shares arising from the exercise of warrants at an 

issuance price of RM0.39 each. Warrants reserve were transferred to share capital upon the exercise of warrants.

There were no other changes in the issued and paid-up capital of the Company during the financial year. 

There were no debentures issued during the financial year. 

OPTIONS GRANTED OVER UNISSUED SHARES 

No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company during the financial year apart from the 

issue of warrants described below.

Warrants

In 2017, the Company issued new warrants to the warrant holders of Press Metal Berhad (“PMB”) pursuant to a warrants 

exchange following an internal reorganisation which resulted in the Company assuming the listing status of PMB. There were 

no changes to the terms and conditions attached to the warrants.

The warrants were in registered form and constituted by a deed poll. The registered holders were entitled to subscribe for 

one new ordinary share in the Company at a price of RM0.39 per ordinary share for every warrant held. The conversion ratio 

was subject to the aforesaid deed poll and could be exercised at any time during the eight-year subscription period up to 22 

August 2019. The warrants had expired during the financial year.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE COSTS

During the financial year, the total amount of indemnity sum insured and premium paid for Directors of the Company are 

RM5,000,000 and RM36,040 respectively. There are no indemnity and insurance purchased for the officers and auditors of the 

Group and of the Company.

QUALIFICATION OF SUBSIDIARIES’ FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 

The auditors’ report on the audit of the financial statements of the Company’s subsidiaries did not contain any qualification.
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OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION 

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps to 

ascertain that:

i) all known bad debts have been written off and adequate provision made for doubtful debts, and

ii) any current assets which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business have been written down to an 

amount which they might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:

i) that would render the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts in the Group 

and in the Company inadequate to any substantial extent, or 

ii) that would render the value attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 

misleading, or

iii) which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of 

the Company misleading or inappropriate, or

iv) not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements that would render any amount stated in the financial 

statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

At the date of this report, there does not exist:

i) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year and which 

secures the liabilities of any other person, or 

ii) any contingent liability in respect of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year. 

No contingent liability or other liability of any company in the Group has become enforceable, or is likely to become 

enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will or 

may substantially affect the ability of the Group and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due. 

In the opinion of the Directors, except for the unrealised derivative gain amounting to RM40,453,000 of the Company as 

disclosed in Note 25 to the financial statements, the financial performance of the Group and of the Company for the financial 

year ended 31 December 2019 have not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and 

unusual nature nor has any such item, transaction or event occurred in the interval between the end of that financial year and 

the date of this report.
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SIGNIFICANT AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

i) In February 2019, Press Metal Bintulu Sdn. Bhd. (“PMBTU”), an 80% owned subsidiary of the Company, completed the 

acquisition of 50% equity interest in Japan Alumina Associates (Australia) Pty. Ltd. (“JAA”) for a total cash consideration 

of AUD151.9 million (equivalent to approximately RM442 million). At the same time, a loan of AUD108.0 million 

(equivalent to approximately RM314 million) was extended to JAA.

ii) In May 2019, Press Metal International Limited (“PMI”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired the entire 

equity interest in Press Metal International (HK) Ltd. (“PMIHK”) from a third party for a total cash consideration of 

HKD1.0 million (equivalent to approximately RM0.5 million). 

 Subsequently in October 2019, PMIM Extrusion Sdn. Bhd. (“PMIM”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 

transferred its entire investments in the following subsidiaries to PMIHK for a total consideration of USD13.0 million 

(equivalent to approximately RM55 million):

 • Press Metal UK Limited

 • Press Metal Aluminium (Australia) Pty. Ltd.

 • Press Metal North America Inc.

iii) In July 2019, the Company signed a Power Purchase Agreement with Syarikat Sesco Berhad (“SESCO”) for the supply 

of electric power of up to 500MW for a new plant at Samalaju Industrial Park, Bintulu (“Samalaju Plant”). 

 Subsequently, PMBTU commenced the construction of Phase 3 of its smelter plant in Samalaju which is scheduled to 

be completed by the last quarter of 2020. The entire construction is expected to cost RM1.3 billion, of which RM504 

million has been capitalised as of 31 December 2019.

iv) In August 2019, the Company made a lodgement with the Securities Commission Malaysia for the establishment of 

Islamic Medium-Term Notes of RM5.0 billion in nominal value based on the Shariah Principle of Wakalah Bi Al-Istithmar 

(“Sukuk Programme”), for a tenure of up to thirty (30) years.

 In October 2019, the Company made its first issuance of the Sukuk Programme for an aggregate nominal value of 

RM1.0 billion with tenures ranging from 5 to 10 years.

 The Group utilised the proceeds from the issuance to restructure and pay off its existing financing and borrowings and 

for general corporate purposes.

v) In August 2019, the Company incorporated a new wholly-owned subsidiary, PMB (Klang) Sdn. Bhd. (“PMBK”) with a 

paid-up share capital of RM2 comprising 2 ordinary shares. PMBK is principally engaged in the manufacturing and 

trading of aluminium products and investment holding activities.

 In November 2019, the Company transferred its entire equity interest in PMBK to PMIHK for a total consideration of 

USD3.4 million (equivalent to approximately RM14 million).

 In December 2019, the extrusion business of Press Metal Berhad was transferred to PMBK.
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SIGNIFICANT AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  cont’d

vi) In October 2019, PMBK entered into conditional sale and purchase agreements with PMB Technology Berhad (“PMBT”), 

an associate of the Company, for the proposed acquisition of the entire equity interests in the following subsidiaries of 

PMBT for a total cash consideration of RM44.4 million:

 • PMB Central Sdn. Bhd. 

 • PMB Northern Sdn. Bhd. 

 • PMB Eastern Sdn. Bhd. 

 • PMB Aluminium Sabah Sdn. Bhd.

 The acquisition has been completed on 19 December 2019 and the above entities became wholly-owned subsidiaries of 

the Group.

vii) In November 2019, the Company entered into a share subscription agreement (“SSA”) and a shareholders’ agreement 

(“SHA”) with several third parties, for the proposed subscription of 25% equity interest in PT Bintan Alumina Indonesia 

(“PT BAI”) (“Proposed Subscription”).

 PT BAI is principally involved in the production of non-ferrous metals and is currently constructing an alumina refinery 

plant together with the necessary facilities in Galang Batang, Indonesia.

 As at 31 December 2019, the Company paid a deposit of USD14.0 million (equivalent to approximately RM58 million) for 

the Proposed Subscription.

 In February 2020, the Company completed the Proposed Subscription for a total cash consideration of USD80.2 million 

(equivalent to approximately RM333 million) in accordance with the terms of the SSA. 

viii) The coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic was announced by the World Health Organisation in March 2020 given 

the outbreak of the virus in countries across the world including Malaysia. The Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in 

disruptions to businesses and various macro-economic impacts. The global economic downturn resulted by Covid-19 

has caused aluminium prices to decline while aluminium demand is expected to remain weak.

 The Group and the Company consider that the effects related to this outbreak to be a non-adjusting event as it was not 

a condition that existed as at 31 December 2019, the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the current conditions 

arising from this outbreak do not have an impact on the carrying amounts reported for the financial year ended 31 

December 2019.

 As at the date of the financial statements are authorised for issuance, based on available information, the Group 

has assessed the resultant impact from lower aluminium prices and expects lower sales (mainly extrusion products) 

and profits to be recorded in financial year 2020. Due to the unpredictability of aluminium prices caused by this 

unprecedented event, it is not practicable for the Group and the Company to further estimate the exact financial effect 

of Covid-19 at this juncture.
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SIGNIFICANT AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  cont’d

viii) Nevertheless, the impact is expected to be cushioned by commodity swaps which the Group has entered into to hedge 

its forecast sales, the corresponding decrease in key raw material prices which are also influenced by aluminium prices, 

and the Group’s product mix which is highly focused on smelting products of which demand has remained stable. The 

Group and the Company are actively monitoring and managing the Group’s and the Company’s operations to minimise 

any impacts that may arise from Covid-19. In particular, the Group and the Company will look into further entering 

commodity swaps to hedge their position and align to the risk management policies of the Group. 

AUDITORS 

The auditors, KPMG PLT, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

The auditors’ remuneration is disclosed in Note 25 to the financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong      Koon Poh Ming

Director         Director

Petaling Jaya, Selangor

Date: 13 May 2020 
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 Group  Company

Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Assets

Property, plant and equipment 3 5,589,680 4,832,298 70 42

Right-of-use assets 4 530,412 - - -

Prepaid lease payments 5 - 9,946 - -

Investment properties 6 22,318 17,406 - -

Intangible assets 7 64,330 39,125 - -

Investments in subsidiaries 8 - - 1,207,862 1,207,862

Investments in associates 9 138,345 138,017 70,656 70,656

Other investments 10 1,803 1,803 - -

Derivative financial assets 11 82,918 715 40,453 -

Deferred tax assets 12 3,752 - 1,957 -

Trade and other receivables 13 239,302 - 1,125,428 74,452

Prepayments and other assets 10,332 - - -

Total non-current assets 6,683,192 5,039,310 2,446,426 1,353,012

Inventories 14 1,421,374 1,539,499 - -

Contract assets 15 74 94 - -

Trade and other receivables 13 989,526 1,287,828 149,812 70,287

Prepayments and other assets 59,808 35,842 - -

Current tax assets 10,770 10,498 - -

Derivative financial assets 11 132,003 229,171 - -

Cash and cash equivalents 16 363,818 199,050 19,171 1,036

2,977,373 3,301,982 168,983 71,323

Asset classified as held for sale 17 - 235 - -

Total current assets 2,977,373 3,302,217 168,983 71,323

Total assets 9,660,565 8,341,527 2,615,409 1,424,335

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2019
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 Group  Company

Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Equity

Share capital 1,088,487 1,046,903 1,088,487 1,046,903

Reserves 122,752 12,218 (230,702) (223,088)

Retained earnings 2,454,776 2,177,593 632,655 568,817

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 18 3,666,015 3,236,714 1,490,440 1,392,632

Non-controlling interests 813,701 790,871 - -

Total equity 4,479,716 4,027,585 1,490,440 1,392,632

Liabilities

Loans and borrowings 19 3,030,223 2,020,531 1,000,000 -

Lease liabilities 199,236 - - -

Provisions 20 78,712 - - -

Deferred tax liabilities 12 231,257 183,962 - -

Derivative financial liabilities 11 56,355 21,311 7,772 -

Total non-current liabilities 3,595,783 2,225,804 1,007,772 -

Loans and borrowings 19 611,759 964,114 - -

Lease liabilities 19,926 - - -

Provisions 20 8,382 - - -

Trade and other payables 21 917,668 933,891 116,017 31,703

Contract liabilities 15 10 1,027 - -

Current tax liabilities 6,402 7,748 996 -

Derivative financial liabilities 11 20,919 181,358 184 -

Total current liabilities 1,585,066 2,088,138 117,197 31,703

Total liabilities 5,180,849 4,313,942 1,124,969 31,703

Total equity and liabilities 9,660,565 8,341,527 2,615,409 1,424,335

The notes on pages 128 to 258 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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 Group  Company

Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Revenue 22 8,804,572 9,170,122 262,333 272,511

Cost of sales (7,569,852) (7,812,032) - -

Gross profit 1,234,720 1,358,090 262,333 272,511

Other income 40,176 102,406 56,908 33,095

Distribution expenses (176,380) (176,628) - -

Administrative expenses (197,680) (170,697) (37,012) (25,349)

Net (loss)/gain on impairment of financial instruments 

and contract assets (250) 1,685 - -

Other expenses (77,159) (60,443) (8,486) -

Results from operating activities 823,427 1,054,413 273,743 280,257

Finance income 23 8,869 5,825 8,091 147

Finance costs 24 (203,525) (192,094) (5,722) -

Net finance (costs)/income (194,656) (186,269) 2,369 147

Share of profit of equity-accounted associates, net of 

tax 2,446 2,310 - -

Profit before tax 25 631,217 870,454 276,112 280,404

Tax expense 26 (49,541) (97,588) (689) -

Profit for the year 581,676 772,866 275,423 280,404

Other comprehensive income/(expense), net of 

tax

Items that are or may be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or loss

Cash flow hedge 30.7.3 117,011 602,941 - -

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign 

 operations (8,897) (25,570) - -

Share of other comprehensive (expense)/income of 

equity-accounted associates (44) 186 - -

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of 

tax 108,070 577,557 - -

Total comprehensive income for the year 689,746 1,350,423 275,423 280,404

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 December 2019
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 Group  Company

Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the Company 473,968 618,934 275,423 280,404

Non-controlling interests 107,708 153,932 - -

Profit for the year 581,676 772,866 275,423 280,404

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company 592,116 1,184,645 275,423 280,404

Non-controlling interests 97,630 165,778 - -

Total comprehensive income for the year 689,746 1,350,423 275,423 280,404

Basic earnings per ordinary share (sen) 27 11.79 15.89

Diluted earnings per ordinary share (sen) 27 11.79 15.57

The notes on pages 128 to 258 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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  Attributable to owners of the Company 

  Non-distributable Distributable
Non-

controlling

interests

Total

equityGroup Note

Share

capital

Translation

reserve

Hedging

reserve

Warrants

reserve

Retained

earnings Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 2018 990,641 64,408 (625,515) 17,830 1,823,281 2,270,645 699,796 2,970,441

Cash flow hedge - - 590,847 - - 590,847 12,094  602,941

Foreign currency 

translation differences 

for foreign operations:

- Losses arising during 

the year - (25,322) - - - (25,322) (248) (25,570)

- Share of gain of 

equity-accounted 

associates - 186 - - - 186 - 186

Total other comprehensive 

income for the year - (25,136) 590,847 - - 565,711 11,846 577,557

Profit for the year - - - - 618,934 618,934 153,932 772,866

Total comprehensive 

income for the year - (25,136) 590,847 - 618,934 1,184,645 165,778 1,350,423

Contributions by and 

distributions to owners 

of the Group

Issue of ordinary shares:

- Exercise of warrants 18 56,262 - - (10,216) - 46,046 - 46,046

Dividends to owners of 

the Company 28 - - - - (253,978) (253,978) - (253,978)

Dividends to non-

controlling interests - - - - - - (60,000) (60,000)

56,262 - - (10,216) (253,978) (207,932) (60,000) (267,932)

Adjustment in purchase 

consideration on partial 

disposal of a subsidiary 

in previous years 8.2 - - - - (10,644) (10,644) (14,703) (25,347)

Total transactions with 

owners of the Group 56,262 - - (10,216) (264,622) (218,576) (74,703) (293,279)

At 31 December 2018 1,046,903 39,272 (34,668) 7,614 2,177,593 3,236,714 790,871 4,027,585

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2019
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  Attributable to owners of the Company 

  Non-distributable Distributable
Non-

controlling
interests

Total
equityGroup Note

Share
capital

Translation
reserve

Hedging
reserve

Warrants
reserve

Retained
earnings Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 2019 1,046,903 39,272 (34,668) 7,614 2,177,593 3,236,714 790,871 4,027,585

Cash flow hedge - - 127,172 - - 127,172 (10,161) 117,011

Foreign currency translation 
differences for foreign 
operations:

- Losses arising during 
the year - (8,980) - - - (8,980) 83 (8,897)

- Share of loss of 
equity-accounted 
associates - (44) - - - (44) - (44)

Total other comprehensive 
income for the year - (9,024) 127,172 - - 118,148 (10,078) 108,070

Profit for the year - - - - 473,968 473,968 107,708 581,676

Total comprehensive 
income for the year - (9,024) 127,172 - 473,968 592,116 97,630 689,746

Contributions by and 
distributions to owners of 
the Group

Issue of ordinary shares:

- Exercise of warrants 18 41,584 - - (7,550) - 34,034 - 34,034

Dividends to owners of the 
Company 28 - - - - (211,649) (211,649) - (211,649)

Dividends to non-controlling 
interests - - - - - - (60,000) (60,000)

41,584 - - (7,550) (211,649) (177,615) (60,000) (237,615)

Adjustment in purchase 
consideration on partial 
disposal of a subsidiary 
in previous years 8.2 - - - - 14,800 14,800 (14,800) -

Transfer of lapsed warrants 
not exercised - - - (64) 64 - - -

Total transactions with 
owners of the Group 41,584 - - (7,614) (196,785) (162,815) (74,800) (237,615)

At 31 December 2019 1,088,487 30,248 92,504 - 2,454,776 3,666,015 813,701 4,479,716

The notes on pages 128 to 258 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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 Non-

 distributable Distributable

Company Note

Share

capital

Reorganisation

reserve

Warrants

reserve

 Retained

 earnings

Total

equity

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 2018 990,641 (230,702) 17,830 542,391 1,320,160

Profit and total comprehensive 

income for the year - - - 280,404 280,404

Contributions by and distributions 

to owners of the Company

Issue of ordinary shares:

- Exercise of warrants 18 56,262 - (10,216) - 46,046

Dividends to owners of the 

Company 28 - - - (253,978) (253,978)

Total transactions with owners 

of the Company 56,262 - (10,216) (253,978) (207,932)

At 31 December 2018/1 January 

2019 1,046,903 (230,702) 7,614 568,817 1,392,632

Profit and total comprehensive 

income for the year - - - 275,423 275,423

Contributions by and distributions 

to owners of the Company

Issue of ordinary shares:

- Exercise of warrants 18 41,584 - (7,550) - 34,034

Dividends to owners of the 

Company 28 - - - (211,649) (211,649)

41,584 - (7,550) (211,649) (177,615)

Transfer of lapsed warrants not 

exercised - - (64) 64 -

Total transactions with owners 

of the Company 41,584 - (7,614) (211,585) (177,615)

At 31 December 2019 1,088,487 (230,702) - 632,655 1,490,440

The notes on pages 128 to 258 are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2019
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 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 631,217 870,454 276,112 280,404

Adjustments for:

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments - 619 - -

Depreciation of investment properties 360 364 - -

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 380,090 388,481 10 3

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 23,080 - - -

Dividend income - - (240,859) (257,415)

Finance costs 203,525 192,094 5,722 -

Finance income (8,869) (5,825) (8,091) (147)

Gain on dilution of interest in an associate (7,114) - - -

Gain on disposal of asset held for sale (3,065) - - -

Gain on disposal of investment properties - (781) - -

Gain on disposal of investments in subsidiaries - - (1,629) (32,993)

(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (316) 1,718 - -

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment - 7,000 - -

Others 245 - - -

Property, plant and equipment written off 25,624 34,107 - -

Share of profit of equity- accounted associates, net of tax (2,446) (2,310) - -

Unrealised derivative loss/(gain) 112 436 (32,497) -

Unrealised foreign exchange loss/(gain) 3,505 (2,130) 24 (88)

Operating profit/(loss) before changes in working 

capital 1,245,948 1,484,227 (1,208) (10,236)

Change in derivatives (4,145) 27 - -

Change in inventories 204,515 (324,010) - -

Change in trade and other payables and provisions (123,889) (3,212) 1,364 2,077

Change in trade and other receivables and prepayments 172,797 (9,274) (8,493) (582)

Change in contract assets 20 (94) - -

Change in contract liabilities (1,017) (6,438) - -

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 1,494,229 1,141,226 (8,337) (8,741)

Tax paid (34,794) (31,366) (1,650) -

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 1,459,435 1,109,860 (9,987) (8,741)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2019
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 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of a joint operation, net of cash and cash 

equivalents acquired (Note 34.1) (381,262) - - -

Acquisition of an associate - (32,440) - -

Acquisition of an indirect subsidiary, net of cash and cash 

equivalents acquired (Note 34.4) - (68,554) - -

Acquisition of investment properties (5,272) (75) - -

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (730,052) (292,712) (38) (45)

Acquisition of right-of-use assets (1,260) - - -

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash and cash 

equivalents acquired (Note 34.2) (33,967) - - -

Change in pledged deposits 2,209 54,289 - -

Deposit paid for proposed subscription of PT BAI       (58,374) - (58,374) -

Dividends received from subsidiaries - - 240,000 266,949

Dividends received from an associate 859 644 859 644

Increase in amounts due from subsidiaries - - (69,804) (7,038)

Increase in investments in subsidiaries - - (12,600) -

Interest received from Irredeemable Convertible Secured 

Loan Stocks (“ICULS”) of an associate 1,765 - 1,765 -

Interest received from short-term deposits 7,104 5,825 144 147

Loans to a subsidiary, net of repayment - - (987,672) -

Proceeds from disposal of asset held for sale 3,300 - - -

Proceeds from disposal of investment properties - 1,500 - -

Proceeds from disposal of other investments - 15,000 - -

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 7,035 3,370 - -

Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets 236 - - -

Proceeds from disposal of investments in subsidiaries - - 14,229 -

Subscription of ICULS of an associate - (58,844) - (58,844)

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities   (1,187,679) (371,997) (871,491) 201,813
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 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cash flows from financing activities

Adjustment of consideration on partial disposal of a 

subsidiary in previous years (Note 8.2) - (25,347) - -

Decrease in amount due from an associate 1,513 451 - -

Decrease in amount due to an associate - (139) - -

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries (60,000) (60,000) - -

Dividends paid to owners of the Company (211,649) (253,978) (211,649) (253,978)

Increase in amounts due to subsidiaries - - 77,233 15,807

Interest paid in relation to lease liabilities (8,427) - - -

Interest paid on loans and borrowings (173,942) (180,760) (5) -

Payment of lease liabilities (17,945) - - -

Proceeds from issuance of Islamic Medium-Term Notes 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 -

Proceeds from issue of shares via exercise of warrants 34,034 46,046 34,034 46,046

Repayment of bank loans (217,324) (443,968) - -

(Repayment)/Drawdown of bankers’ acceptances (417,401) 170,307 - -

Repayment of finance lease liabilities - (10,644) - -

Repayment of revolving credits (30,489) (13,418) - -

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (101,630) (771,450) 899,613 (192,125)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 170,126 (33,587) 18,135 947

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (3,226) 27,870 - -

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 193,880 199,597 1,036 89

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 360,780 193,880 19,171 1,036
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Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents included in the statements of cash flows comprise the following statements of financial position 

amounts:

 Group  Company

Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Deposits 16 25,881 11,760 - -

Less: Pledged deposits 16 (2,822) (5,031) - -

23,059 6,729 - -

Cash and bank balances 16 337,937 187,290 19,171 1,036

Bank overdrafts 19 (216) (139) - -

360,780 193,880 19,171 1,036

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment

During the previous financial year, the Group and the Company acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregate 

cost of RM302,647,000 and RM45,000 respectively, of which RM9,935,000 and Nil were acquired by means of finance leases.

Cash outflows for leases as a lessee

 Group  Company

Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Included in net cash from operating activities:

Payment relating to short-term leases 25 10,504 - 388 -

Payment relating to leases of low-value assets 25 19 - - -

Included in net cash from financing activities:

Interest paid in relation to lease liabilities 24 8,427 - - -

Payment of lease liabilities 17,945 - - -

Total cash outflows for leases 36,895 - 388 -
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Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities 

At

1.1.2018

Net changes

from

financing

cash flows

Arising from 

business 

combinations 

(Note 34.4)

Acquisition

of new

lease

Foreign

exchange

movements

Other

changes

At

31.12.2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

Bank loans 1,140,596 (443,968) 5,250 - 2,859 5,305 710,042

Finance lease liabilities 14,438 (10,644) 417 9,935 - - 14,146

Senior Notes 1,593,962 - - - 34,980 5,168 1,634,110

Bankers’ acceptances 305,085 170,307 98,147 - (3,409) - 570,130

Revolving credits 69,496 (13,418) - - - - 56,078

Total liabilities from 

financing activities 3,123,577 (297,723) 103,814 9,935 34,430 10,473 2,984,506
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Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities  cont’d

At

31.12.2018

Adjustment 

on initial 

application 

of MFRS 16

At

1.1.2019

Net 

changes

from

financing

cash flows

Arising 

from 

acquisition 

of a joint 

operation 

(Note 34.1)

Arising

from 

acquisition 

of 

subsidiaries

(Note 34.2)

Acquisition

of new

lease

Foreign

exchange

movements

Other

changes

At

31.12.2019

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

Bank loans 710,042 - 710,042 (217,324) 313,751 - - (11,816) 7,678 802,331

Finance lease 

liabilities 14,146 (14,146) - - - - - - - -

Lease liabilities - 29,094 29,094 (17,945) 173,902 1,247 34,410 (987) (559) 219,162

Senior Notes 1,634,110 - 1,634,110 - - - - (17,049) 5,298 1,622,359

Islamic Medium-

Term Notes - - - 1,000,000 - - - - - 1,000,000

Bankers’ 

acceptances 570,130 - 570,130 (417,401) - 35,633 - 3,125 - 191,487

Revolving credits 56,078 - 56,078 (30,489) - - - - - 25,589

Total liabilities 

from financing 

activities 2,984,506 14,948 2,999,454 316,841 487,653 36,880 34,410 (26,727) 12,417 3,860,928

At

1.1.2018

Net changes 

from

financing 

cash flows

At

31.12.2018/ 

1.1.2019

Net changes 

from

financing 

cash flows

At

31.12.2019

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Company

Amounts due to subsidiaries 13,680 15,807 29,487 77,233 106,720

Islamic Medium-Term Notes - - - 1,000,000 1,000,000

Total liabilities from financing activities 13,680 15,807 29,487 1,077,233 1,106,720

The notes on pages 128 to 258 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Press Metal Aluminium Holdings Berhad is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and 

is listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The addresses of the principal place of business and 

registered office of the Company are as follows:

Principal place of business

Setia 61 & 62, Setia Avenue

No. 2, Jalan Setia Prima S U13/S

Setia Alam Seksyen U13

40170 Shah Alam

Selangor Darul Ehsan

Registered office

12th Floor, Menara Symphony

No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim

Seksyen 13

46200 Petaling Jaya

Selangor Darul Ehsan

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 comprise 

the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually referred to as “Group entities”) and the 

Group’s interests in associates. The financial statements of the Company as at and for the financial year ended 31 December 

2019 also include a joint operation.

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding activities whilst the principal activities of the subsidiaries are as 

stated in Note 8 to the financial statements.

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 13 May 2020.

Notes to the Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION

 (a) Statement of compliance

  The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian 

Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 

Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

  The following are accounting standards, interpretations and amendments of the MFRSs that have been issued by 

the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board but have not been adopted by the Group and by the Company:

  MFRSs, interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

  • Amendments to MFRS 3, Business Combinations – Definition of a Business

  • Amendments to MFRS 101, Presentation of Financial Statements and MFRS 108, Accounting Policies, 

Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors – Definition of Material

  • Amendments to MFRS 9, Financial Instruments, MFRS 139, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement and MFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

  MFRSs, interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

  • MFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

  MFRSs, interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

  • Amendments to MFRS 101, Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification of Liabilities as Current or 

Non-current

  MFRSs, interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date yet to be 

confirmed

  • Amendments to MFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and MFRS 128, Investments in Associates and 

Joint Ventures – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

  The Group and the Company plan to apply the abovementioned accounting standards, interpretations and 

amendments:

  • from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2020 for those amendments that are effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

  • from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2022 for the amendment that is effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

  The Group and the Company do not plan to apply MFRS 17, Insurance Contracts that is effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 as it is not applicable to the Group and to the Company.

  The initial application of the accounting standards, interpretations or amendments is not expected to have any 

material financial impacts to the current period and prior period financial statements of the Group and of the 

Company.
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION  cont’d

 (b) Basis of measurement

  The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis other than as disclosed in Note 2.

 (c) Functional and presentation currency

  The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is the Company’s functional currency. All 

financial information is presented in RM and has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

 (d) Use of estimates and judgements

  The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with MFRSs requires management to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

  Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

  There are no significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

that have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements other than those disclosed in the 

following notes:

  • Note 4 - extension options and incremental borrowing rate in relation to leases

  • Note 7 - measurement of the recoverable amounts of cash-generating units

  • Note 12 - measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities

  • Note 20 - provisions

  • Note 22 - revenue

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to the periods presented in these financial 

statements and have been applied consistently by Group entities, unless otherwise stated.

 Arising from the adoption of MFRS 16, Leases, there are changes to the accounting policies applied to lease contracts 

entered into by the Group entities as compared to those applied in previous financial statements. The impacts arising 

from the changes are disclosed in Note 37.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (a) Basis of consolidation

  (i) Subsidiaries

   Subsidiaries are entities, including structured entities, controlled by the Company. The financial statements of 

subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until 

the date that control ceases. 

   The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 

the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Potential voting rights 

are considered when assessing control only when such rights are substantive. The Group also considers it 

has de facto power over an investee when, despite not having the majority of voting rights, it has the current 

ability to direct the activities of the investee that significantly affect the investee’s return.

   Investments in subsidiaries are measured in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost less any 

impairment losses, unless the investment is classified as held for sale or distribution. The cost of investment 

includes transaction costs.

  (ii) Business combinations

   Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method from the acquisition date, which is 

the date on which control is transferred to the Group.

   For new acquisitions, the Group measures the cost of goodwill at the acquisition date as:

   • the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

   • the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus

   • if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the 

acquiree; less

   • the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 

assumed.

   When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

   For each business combination, the Group elects whether it measures the non-controlling interests in the 

acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the 

acquisition date.

   Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group 

incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (a) Basis of consolidation  cont’d

  (iii) Acquisitions of non-controlling interests

   The Group accounts for all changes in its ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of 

control as equity transactions between the Group and its non-controlling interest holders. Any difference 

between the Group’s share of net assets before and after the change, and any consideration received or 

paid, is adjusted to or against Group reserves.

  (iv) Acquisitions from entities under common control

   Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are under the control of the 

shareholder that controls the Group are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of 

the earliest comparative period presented or, if later, at the date that common control was established; for 

this purpose comparatives are restated. The assets and liabilities acquired are recognised at the carrying 

amounts recognised previously in the Group controlling shareholder’s consolidated financial statements. The 

components of equity of the acquired entities are added to the same components within Group’s equity and 

any resulting gain/loss is recognised directly in equity.

  (v) Associates

   Associates are entities, including unincorporated entities, in which the Group has significant influence, but 

not control, over the financial and operating policies.

   Investments in associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity 

method less any impairment losses, unless it is classified as held for sale or distribution. The cost of the 

investment includes transaction costs. The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of 

the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associates, after adjustments if any, to align the 

accounting policies with those of the Group, from the date that significant influence commences until the 

date that significant influence ceases.

   When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the carrying amount of that interest 

including any long-term investments is reduced to zero, and the recognition of further losses is discontinued 

except to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the associate.

   When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, any retained interest in the former 

associate at the date when significant influence is lost is measured at fair value and this amount is regarded 

as the initial carrying amount of a financial asset. The difference between the fair value of any retained 

interest plus proceeds from the interest disposed of and the carrying amount of the investment at the date 

when equity method is discontinued is recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (a) Basis of consolidation  cont’d

  (v) Associates  cont’d

   When the Group’s interest in an associate decreases but does not result in a loss of significant influence, any 

retained interest is not remeasured. Any gain or loss arising from the decrease in interest is recognised in 

profit or loss. Any gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are also reclassified 

proportionately to profit or loss if that gain or loss would be required to be reclassified to profit or loss on the 

disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

   Investments in associates are measured in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost less any 

impairment losses, unless the investment is classified as held for sale or distribution. The cost of investment 

includes transaction costs.

  (vi) Joint arrangements

   Joint arrangements are arrangements of which the Group has joint control, established by contracts requiring 

unanimous consent for decisions about the activities that significantly affect the arrangements’ returns. 

   A joint arrangement is classified as “joint operation” when the Group or the Company has rights to the 

assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to an arrangement. The Group accounts for each of its share 

of the assets, liabilities and transactions, including its share of those held or incurred jointly with the other 

investors, in relation to the joint operation.

  (vii) Non-controlling interests

   Non-controlling interests at the end of the reporting period, being the equity in a subsidiary not attributable 

directly or indirectly to the owners of the Company, are presented in the consolidated statement of financial 

position and statement of changes in equity within equity, separately from equity attributable to the owners 

of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group is presented in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of the profit or loss and total 

comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling interests and owners of the Company. 

   Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interests 

even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.

  (viii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

   Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 

transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

   Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted associates are eliminated against the 

investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investees. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same 

way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (b) Foreign currency

  (i) Foreign currency transactions

   Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at 

exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

   Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period are 

retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.

   Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are not retranslated at the end of the 

reporting period, except for those that are measured at fair value which are retranslated to the functional 

currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined.

   Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for differences 

arising on the retranslation of equity instruments where they are measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income or a financial instrument designated as a cash flow hedge, which are recognised in 

other comprehensive income.

   In the consolidated financial statements, when settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to 

a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains 

and losses arising from such a monetary item are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign 

operation and are recognised in other comprehensive income, and are presented in the foreign currency 

translation reserve (“FCTR”) in equity.

  (ii) Operations denominated in functional currencies other than Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”)

   The assets and liabilities of operations denominated in functional currencies other than RM, including 

goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated to RM at exchange rates at the end 

of the reporting period, except for goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from business combinations 

before 1 January 2011 (the date when the Group first adopted MFRS) which are treated as assets and 

liabilities of the Company. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to RM at exchange 

rates at the dates of the transactions.

   Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the FCTR in 

equity. However, if the operation is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary, then the relevant proportionate share of 

the translation difference is allocated to the non-controlling interests. When a foreign operation is disposed 

of such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the FCTR related to 

that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

   When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the relevant 

proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the Group disposes of only 

part of its investment in an associate that includes a foreign operation while retaining significant influence or joint 

control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (c) Financial instruments

  (i) Recognition and initial measurement

   A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised in the statement of financial position when, and only 

when, the Group or the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

   A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without significant financing component) or a financial liability 

is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction 

costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issuance. A trade receivable without a significant 

financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

   An embedded derivative is recognised separately from the host contract where the host contract is not 

a financial asset, and accounted for separately if, and only if, the derivative is not closely related to the 

economic characteristics and risks of the host contract and the host contract is not measured at fair value 

through profit or loss. The host contract, in the event an embedded derivative is recognised separately, is 

accounted for in accordance with policy applicable to the nature of the host contract.

  (ii) Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement

   Financial assets

   Categories of financial assets are determined on initial recognition and are not reclassified subsequent to 

their initial recognition unless the Group or the Company changes its business model for managing financial 

assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period 

following the change of the business model.

   (a) Amortised cost

    Amortised cost category comprises financial assets that are held within a business model whose 

objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise on 

specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 

outstanding. The financial assets are not designated as fair value through profit or loss. Subsequent 

to initial recognition, these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange 

gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is 

recognised in profit or loss.

    Interest income is recognised by applying effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount except 

for credit impaired financial assets (see Note 2(l)(i)) where the effective interest rate is applied to the 

amortised cost.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (c) Financial instruments  cont’d

  (ii) Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement  cont’d

   Financial assets  cont’d

   (b) Fair value through profit or loss

    All financial assets not measured at amortised cost as described above are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. This includes derivative financial assets (except for a derivative that is a 
designated and effective hedging instrument). On initial recognition, the Group or the Company may 
irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at 
amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income as at fair value through profit or 
loss if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

    Financial assets categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at their fair 
value. Net gains or losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.

   All financial assets, except for those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to impairment 
assessment (see Note 2(l)(i)).

   Financial liabilities

   The categories of financial liabilities at initial recognition are as follows:

   (a) Fair value through profit or loss

    Fair value through profit or loss category comprises financial liabilities that are derivatives (except for 
a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument), 
contingent consideration in a business combination and financial liabilities that are specifically 
designated into this category upon initial recognition.

    On initial recognition, the Group or the Company may irrevocably designate a financial liability that 
otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost as at fair value through profit or loss:

    (a) if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise; 

    (b) a group of financial liabilities or assets and financial liabilities is managed and its performance is 
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment 
strategy, and information about the group is provided internally on that basis to the Group’s key 
management personnel; or

    (c) if a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives and the host is not a financial asset in 
the scope of MFRS 9, where the embedded derivative significantly modifies the cash flows and 

separation is not prohibited.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (c) Financial instruments  cont’d

  (ii) Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement  cont’d

   Financial liabilities  cont’d

   (a) Fair value through profit or loss  cont’d

    Financial liabilities categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at their 

fair value with gains or losses, including any interest expense are recognised in profit or loss.

    For financial liabilities where it is designated as fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition, 

the Group and the Company recognise the amount of change in fair value of the financial liability that 

is attributable to change in credit risk in other comprehensive income and remaining amount of the 

change in fair value in profit or loss, unless the treatment of the effects of changes in the liability’s 

credit risk would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch.

   (b) Amortised cost

    Other financial liabilities not categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured 

at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

    Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gains or 

losses on derecognition are also recognised in profit or loss.

  (iii) Financial guarantee contracts

   A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse 

the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with 

the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

   Financial guarantees issued are initially measured at fair value. Subsequently, they are measured at higher of:

   • the amount of the loss allowance; and

   • the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in 

accordance to the principles of MFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

   Liabilities arising from financial guarantees are presented together with other provisions.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (c) Financial instruments  cont’d

  (iv) Hedge accounting

   At inception of a designated hedging relationship, the Group and the Company document the risk 

management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The Group and the Company also document 

the economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, including whether the 

changes in cash flows of the hedged item and hedging instrument are expected to offset each other.

   Cash flow hedge

   A cash flow hedge is a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk 

associated with all, or a component of, a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction 

and could affect profit or loss. In a cash flow hedge, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument 

that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 

equity and the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss. The effective portion of changes in the fair value 

of the derivative that is recognised in other comprehensive income is limited to the cumulative change in fair 

value of the hedged item, determined on a present value basis, from inception of the hedge.

   Subsequently, the cumulative gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from 

equity into profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the hedged forecast cash flows affect 

profit or loss. If the hedged item is a non-financial asset or liability, the associated gain or loss recognised 

in other comprehensive income is removed from equity and included in the initial amount of the asset or 

liability. However, loss recognised in other comprehensive income that will not be recovered in one or more 

future periods is reclassified from equity into profit or loss immediately.

   The Group has elected to account for the entire forward contract/swap as a hedging instrument in its 

entirety. The forward element of these forward contracts/swaps is not separately accounted for from its 

spot element. Accordingly, the change in fair value of the entire forward contract/swap is recognised in the 

hedging reserve in equity.

   Cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when the hedging instrument expires or is 

sold, terminated or exercised, the hedge is no longer highly effective, the forecast transaction is no longer 

expected to occur or the hedge designation is revoked. If the hedge is for a forecast transaction, the 

cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument remains in equity until the forecast transaction occurs. 

When hedge accounting for cash flow hedges is discontinued, the amount that has been accumulated in the 

hedging reserve and the cost of hedging reserve remains in equity until, for a hedge of a transaction resulting 

in recognition of a non-financial item, it is included in the non-financial item’s cost on its initial recognition 

or, for other cash flow hedges, it is reclassified to profit or loss in the same period or periods as the hedged 

expected future cash flows affect profit or loss.

   If the hedged future cash flows are no longer expected to occur, then the amounts that have been accumulated 

in the hedging reserve and the cost of hedging reserve are immediately reclassified to profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (c) Financial instruments  cont’d

  (v) Derecognition

   A financial asset or part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the contractual rights to the cash flows 

from the financial asset expire or are transferred, or control of the asset is not retained or substantially all of 

the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred to another party. On derecognition 

of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the sum of 

consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is recognised in 

profit or loss.

   A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified in the 

contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. A financial liability is also derecognised when its terms are 

modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case, a new financial 

liability based on modified terms is recognised at fair value. On derecognition of a financial liability, the 

difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party 

and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in 

profit or loss.

  (vi) Offsetting

   Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 

position when, and only when, the Group or the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to 

set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and liability 

simultaneously.

 (d) Property, plant and equipment

  (i) Recognition and measurement

   Freehold land and capital work-in-progress are measured at cost. Other items of property, plant and 

equipment are measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 

losses.

   Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and any other 

costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use, and the costs 

of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. The cost of self-

constructed assets also includes the cost of materials and direct labour. For qualifying assets, borrowing 

costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy on borrowing costs. Cost also may include 

transfers from equity of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of 

property, plant and equipment.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (d) Property, plant and equipment  cont’d

  (i) Recognition and measurement  cont’d

   Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that 

equipment.

   When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 

accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

   The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the 

proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and is recognised net 

within “other income” or “other expenses” respectively in profit or loss.

  (ii) Subsequent costs

   The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying 

amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component 

will flow to the Group or the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the 

replaced component is derecognised to profit or loss. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, 

plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

  (iii) Depreciation

   Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual 

assets are assessed, and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, 

then that component is depreciated separately. 

   Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component 

of an item of property, plant and equipment from the date that they are available for use. Freehold land is not 

depreciated. Capital work-in-progress are not depreciated until the assets are ready for their intended use.

   The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

   • mine, conveying, refining and port facilities 4 - 65 years

   • buildings and renovation 10 - 50 years

   • plant and machinery 5 - 25 years

   • office equipment 10 years

   • motor vehicles 5 - 10 years

   • furniture and fittings 10 years

   • moulds and dies 3 - 6 years

   Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of the reporting period, and 

adjusted as appropriate.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (e) Leases 

  The Group has applied MFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, under which the cumulative effect 

of initial application is recognised as an adjustment to retained earnings at 1 January 2019. Accordingly, the 

comparative information presented for 2018 has not been restated – i.e. it is presented, as previously reported 

under MFRS 117, Leases and related interpretations.

  Current financial year

  (i) Definition of a lease

   A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for 

a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the 

use of an identified asset, the Group assesses whether:

   • the contract involves the use of an identified asset – this may be specified explicitly or implicitly, and 

should be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct asset. 

If the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the asset is not identified;

   • the customer has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset 

throughout the period of use; and

   • the customer has the right to direct the use of the asset. The customer has this right when it has the 

decision-making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used. 

In rare cases where the decision about how and for what purpose the asset is used is predetermined, 

the customer has the right to direct the use of the asset if either the customer has the right to operate 

the asset; or the customer designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it 

will be used.

   At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the 

consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease component on the basis of their relative stand-

alone prices. However, for leases of properties in which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate 

non-lease components and will instead account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease 

component.

  (ii) Recognition and initial measurement 

   (a) As a lessee

    The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The 

right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 

adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct 

costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the 

underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (e) Leases  cont’d

  Current financial year  cont’d

  (ii) Recognition and initial measurement  cont’d

   (a) As a lessee  cont’d

    The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 

the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot 

be readily determined, the respective Group entities’ incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group 

entities use their incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

    Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

    • fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments less any incentives receivable;

    • variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or 

rate as at the commencement date;

    • amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; 

    • the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise; and

    • penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to terminate 

early.

    The Group excludes variable lease payments that linked to future performance or usage of the 

underlying asset from the lease liability. Instead, these payments are recognised in profit or loss in the 

period in which the performance or use occurs.

    The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases 

that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises 

the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 

term.

   (b) As a lessor

    When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease 

or an operating lease.

    To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers 

substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the 

case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (e) Leases  cont’d

  Current financial year  cont’d

  (iii) Subsequent measurement

   (a) As a lessee

    The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 

commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of 

the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as 

those of property, plant and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by 

impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

    The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured 

when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there 

is a revision of in-substance fixed lease payments, or if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of 

the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes its 

assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.

    When the lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of 

the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset 

has been reduced to zero.

   (b) As a lessor

    The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term as part of “other income”.

  Previous financial year

  As a lessee

  (i) Finance lease

   Leases in terms of which the Group or the Company assumed substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership were classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset was measured 

at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset was accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy 

applicable to that asset. 
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 (e) Leases  cont’d

  Previous financial year  cont’d

  As a lessee  cont’d

  (i) Finance lease  cont’d

   Minimum lease payments made under finance leases were apportioned between the finance expense and 

the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense was allocated to each period during the lease 

term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Contingent 

lease payments were accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the 

lease when the lease adjustment was confirmed.

   Leasehold land which in substance was a finance lease was classified as property, plant and equipment, or 

as investment property if held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both.

  (ii) Operating lease

   Leases, where the Group or the Company did not assume substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership were classified as operating leases and, except for property interest held under operating lease, 

the leased assets were not recognised on the statement of financial position.

   Payments made under operating leases were recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 

term of the lease. Lease incentives received were recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the total 

lease expense, over the term of the lease. Contingent rentals were charged to profit or loss in the reporting 

period in which they were incurred.

   Leasehold land which in substance was an operating lease was classified as prepaid lease payments.

 (f) Intangible assets

  (i) Goodwill

   Goodwill which arises on business combinations is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment 

losses.

  (ii) Other intangible assets

   Intangible assets, other than goodwill, that are acquired by the Group, which have finite useful lives, are 

measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (f) Intangible assets  cont’d

  (iii) Subsequent expenditure

   Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the 

specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill 

and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

  (iv) Amortisation

   Goodwill is not amortised but is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that it 

may be impaired.

   Other intangible assets are amortised from the date that they are available for use. Amortisation is based on 

the cost of an asset less its residual value. Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 

over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets. The estimated useful life for the current period for other 

intangible assets is 7 years.

   Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 

adjusted, if appropriate.

 (g) Investment properties

  (i) Investment properties carried at cost

   Investment properties are properties which are owned or right-of-use asset held under a lease contract to 

earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, 

use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Investment properties 

are initially and subsequently measured at cost and are accounted for similarly to property, plant and 

equipment.

  (ii) Reclassification to/from investment property

   When an item of property, plant and equipment is transferred to investment property following a change in 

its use, the carrying amount of the item immediately prior to transfer is recognised as the deemed cost of the 

investment property for subsequent accounting. 

   When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment or 

inventories, its carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes its deemed cost for subsequent 

accounting.
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 (h) Inventories

  Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

  The cost of inventories is calculated using the first-in, first-out method, and includes expenditure incurred 

in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their 

existing location and condition. In the case of work-in-progress and finished goods, cost includes an appropriate 

share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity.

  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of 

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

 (i) Non-current asset held for sale

  Non-current assets that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use, 

are classified as held for sale.

  Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets are remeasured in accordance with the Group’s 

accounting policies. Thereafter generally the assets are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair 

value less costs of disposal.

  Property, plant and equipment once classified as held for sale is not amortised or depreciated.

 (j) Contract asset/Contract liability

  A contract asset is recognised when the Group’s or the Company’s right to consideration is conditional on 

something other than the passage of time. A contract asset is subject to impairment in accordance to MFRS 9, 

Financial Instruments (see Note 2(l)(i)).

  A contract liability is stated at cost and represents the obligation of the Group or the Company to transfer goods 

or services to a customer for which consideration has been received (or the amount is due) from the customers.

 (k) Cash and cash equivalents

  Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances and deposits with banks and highly liquid 

investments which have an insignificant risk of changes in fair value, and are used by the Group and by the 

Company in the management of their short-term commitments. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, 

cash and cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts and pledged deposits.
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 (l) Impairment

  (i) Financial assets

   The Group and the Company recognise loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets 

measured at amortised cost and contract assets. Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate 

of credit losses.

   The Group and the Company measure loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss, 

except for debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date, cash and bank 

balance and other debt securities for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition, 

which are measured at 12-month expected credit loss. Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract 

assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss.

   When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 

recognition and when estimating expected credit loss, the Group and the Company consider reasonable 

and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 

quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and 

informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information, where available.

   Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events 

over the expected life of the asset, while 12-month expected credit losses are the portion of expected credit 

losses that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. The 

maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the maximum contractual period over 

which the Group and the Company are exposed to credit risk.

   An impairment loss in respect of financial assets measured at amortised cost is recognised in profit or loss 

and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account.

   At each reporting date, the Group and the Company assess whether financial assets carried at amortised 

cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental 

impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 

   The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or full) to the extent that there 

is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group or the Company determines 

that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay 

the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to 

enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s or the Company’s procedures for recovering the 

amounts due.
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 (l) Impairment  cont’d

  (ii) Other assets

   The carrying amounts of other assets (except for inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets and non-

current assets classified as held for sale) are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine 

whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable 

amount is estimated. For goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated each period at the same time.

   For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets 

that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other 

assets or cash-generating units. Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purpose of goodwill 

impairment testing, cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the 

level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for 

internal reporting purposes. The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment 

testing, is allocated to a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units that are expected to 

benefit from the synergies of the combination.

   The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value 

less costs of disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the asset or cash-generating unit.

   An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit 

exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

   Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-

generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-

generating unit (or a group of cash-generating units) and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other 

assets in the cash-generating unit (groups of cash-generating units) on a pro rata basis.

   An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses 

recognised in prior periods are assessed at the end of each reporting period for any indications that the 

loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the 

estimates used to determine the recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. An 

impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had 

been recognised. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the financial year in which 

the reversals are recognised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (m) Equity instruments

  Instruments classified as equity are measured at cost on initial recognition and are not remeasured subsequently.

  Ordinary shares

  Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

 (n) Employee benefits

  (i) Short-term employee benefits

   Short-term employee benefit obligations in respect of salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and sick 

leave are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.

   A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing 

plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service 

provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

  (ii) State plans

   The Group’s contributions to statutory pension funds are charged to profit or loss in the financial year to 

which they relate. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a 

reduction in future payments is available.

 (o) Provisions

  A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation 

that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 

obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the 

discount is recognised as finance cost.

  (i) Employee entitlements

   The long service leave provision is measured at the present value of expected future payments in respect 

of services provided by the employees up to the end of the reporting period. Forecast future salary levels, 

experience of employees, turnover and periods of service are considered in determining the liability. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (o) Provisions  cont’d

  (ii) Restoration and rehabilitation

   Provision for restoration and rehabilitation is recognised in respect of the obligation such as 

decommissioning and demolition of all industrial and support infrastructure from the site and revegetation 

of the land. The provision is the best estimate of the present value of the expenditure required to settle 

the restoration obligation at the reporting date, based on current legal requirements and technology. Future 

restoration costs are reviewed annually and any changes are reflected in the present value of the restoration 

provision at the end of the reporting period.

 (p) Revenue and other income

  (i) Revenue from contracts with customers

   Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer in exchange for 

transferring goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The 

Group or the Company recognises revenue when (or as) it transfers control over a product or service to 

customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of the asset.

   The Group or the Company transfers control of a good or service at a point in time unless one of the 

following over time criteria is met:

   (a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided as the Group or the 

Company performs;

   (b) the Group’s or the Company’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as 

the asset is created or enhanced; or

   (c) the Group’s or the Company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use and the 

Group or the Company has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

  (ii) Rental income

   Rental income from property is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term of the 

lease.

  (iii) Dividend income

   Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s or the Company’s right to receive 

payment is established, which in the case of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (p) Revenue and other income  cont’d

  (iv) Interest income

   Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method in profit or loss except for 

interest income arising from temporary investment of borrowings taken specifically for the purpose of 

obtaining a qualifying asset which is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy on borrowing 

costs.

 (q) Borrowing costs

  Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 

are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

  Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 

assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised 

as part of the cost of those assets.

  The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for 

the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the 

asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when 

substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying assets for its intended use or sale are interrupted 

or completed.

  Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 

qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

 (r) Income tax

  Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or 

loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognised directly in equity or other 

comprehensive income.

  Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect 

of previous financial years.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (r) Income tax  cont’d

  Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position and their tax bases. Deferred tax is not 

recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of 

assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor 

taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary 

differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 

the reporting period.

  The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of 

the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 

date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities 

and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on 

different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis or their tax assets and 

liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

  A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 

against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each 

reporting period and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 

realised.

  Unutilised investment tax allowance, being a tax incentive that is not a tax base of an asset, is recognised as a 

deferred tax asset to the extent that it is probable that the future taxable profits will be available against which the 

unutilised tax incentive can be utilised.

 (s) Earnings per ordinary share

  The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares (“EPS”).

  Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own shares held.

  Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive 

potential ordinary shares, which comprise warrants.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

 (t) Operating segments

  An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 

revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s 

other components. Operating segment results are reviewed regularly by the chief operating decision maker, which 

in this case is the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the 

segment and to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

 (u) Contingencies

  Contingent liabilities

  Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated 

reliably, the obligation is not recognised in the statements of financial position and is disclosed as a contingent 

liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence 

will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as 

contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

 (v) Fair value measurements

  Fair value of an asset or a liability, except for share-based payment and lease transactions, is determined as 

the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date. The measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or 

transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market or in the absence of a principal market, in the most 

advantageous market. 

  For non-financial asset, the fair value measurement takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 

economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 

would use the asset in its highest and best use.

  When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as possible. 

Fair value is categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation 

technique as follows:

  Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access 

at the measurement date.

  Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly.

  Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

  The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the date of the event or change in 

circumstances that caused the transfers.
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Group Land

Mine, 

conveying, 

refining 

and port 

facilities

Buildings

and

renovation

Plant and

machinery

Office

equipment

Motor

vehicles

Furniture

and

fittings

Moulds

and dies

Capital

work-in-

progress Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cost

At 1 January 2018 375,878 - 1,642,442 4,146,473 70,094 108,965 11,912 306,407 127,071 6,789,242

Additions 464 - 17,374 166,427 13,369 7,993 2,405 17,916 76,699 302,647

Acquisition through 

business 

combinations 

(Note 34.4) 12,756 - 8,972 24,770 - 693 3,313 - 255 50,759

Disposals - - - (5,620) (2,786) (2,059) (2) (7,805) (228) (18,500)

Written off - - - (102,440) (1,792) (730) (4) - - (104,966)

Transfers - - 38,006  72,889 - - 199 - (111,094) -

Transfer to prepaid 

lease payments: 

- Offset of 

accumulated 

depreciation (911) - - - - - - - - (911)

- Transfer of 

carrying amount 

(Note 5) (2,589) - - - - - - - - (2,589)

Effect of 

movements in 

 exchange rates (7,527) - (6,474) (7,457) (733) (177) (37) (6,533) (182) (29,120)

At 31 December 

2018, as 

previously 

reported 378,071 - 1,700,320 4,295,042 78,152 114,685 17,786 309,985 92,521 6,986,562

Adjustment on 

initial application 

of MFRS 16 (352,771) - - (4,552) (163) (23,140) - - - (380,626)

At 1 January 2019, 

as restated 25,300 - 1,700,320 4,290,490 77,989 91,545 17,786 309,985 92,521 6,605,936
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  cont’d

Group Land

Mine,

conveying, 

refining 

and port 

facilities

Buildings

and

renovation

Plant and

machinery

Office

equipment

Motor

vehicles

Furniture

and

fittings

Moulds

and dies

Capital

work-in-

progress Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cost cont’d

At 1 January 2019, 

as restated 25,300 - 1,700,320 4,290,490 77,989 91,545 17,786 309,985 92,521 6,605,936

Additions - 1,136 29,988 114,425 11,161 2,153 1,161 19,993 580,145 760,162

Acquisitions 

through 

business 

combinations:

- joint operation 

(Note 34.1) - 726,017 - - - 103 - - 19,430 745,550

- subsidiaries 

(Note 34.2) - - 2,619  43  325  225  100 - - 3,312

Disposals - (615) - (4,554) (1,324) (1,390)  (135) (1,999) (2,878) (12,895)

Written off - - (172)  (214,521)  (11,997)  (877)  (446)  (104,910) (96) (333,019)

Transfers - 4,152 39,653 27,219 - - 31 - (71,055) -

Effect of 

movements in 

 exchange rates - (15,878) (3,843)  (3,901)  (298)  130  8  (4,837) (676) (29,295)

At 31 December 

2019 25,300 714,812 1,768,565 4,209,201 75,856 91,889  18,505 218,232 617,391 7,739,751



Press Metal Aluminium Holdings Berhad

156 Notes to the Financial Statements

Cont’d

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  cont’d

Group Land

Mine, 

conveying, 

refining 

and port 

facilities

Buildings

and

renovation

Plant and

machinery

Office

equipment

Motor

vehicles

Furniture

and

fittings

Moulds

and dies

Capital

work-in-

progress Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Depreciation and 

impairment 

loss

At 1 January 2018 46,830 - 221,243 1,232,315 37,675 51,253 4,773 265,182 - 1,859,271

Depreciation for 

the year 5,874 - 38,007 302,992 5,243 10,438 1,218 24,709 - 388,481

Impairment loss 

for the year - - 7,000 - - - - - - 7,000

Disposals - - - (3,346) (629) (1,630) (2) (7,805) - (13,412)

Written off - - - (69,997) (395) (465) (2) - - (70,859)

Offset of 

accumulated

 depreciation on 

land transferred 

to prepaid 

 lease payments (911) - - - - - - - - (911)

Effect of 

movements in 

 exchange rates (1,293) - (3,022) (4,921) (541) (125) (16) (5,388) - (15,306)

At 31 December 

2018, as 

previously 

reported 50,500 - 263,228 1,457,043 41,353 59,471 5,971 276,698 - 2,154,264

Adjustment on 

initial application 

of MFRS 16 (50,500) - -  (683)  (44)  (4,997) - - -  (56,224)

At 1 January 2019, 

as restated - - 263,228 1,456,360 41,309 54,474 5,971 276,698 -

 

2,098,040 
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  cont’d

Group Land

Mine, 

conveying, 

refining 

and port 

facilities

Buildings

and

renovation

Plant and

machinery

Office

equipment

Motor

vehicles

Furniture

and

fittings

Moulds

and dies

Capital

work-in-

progress Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Depreciation and 

impairment 

loss cont’d

At 1 January 2019, 

as restated - - 263,228 1,456,360 41,309 54,474 5,971 276,698 - 2,098,040

Depreciation for 

the year - 30,088 40,287  278,198  6,363  8,247  1,399  15,508 - 380,090

Disposals - (475) - (2,447) (463) (780)  (85) (1,926) - (6,176)

Written off - - -  (189,586)  (11,584)  (837)  (478)  (104,910) - (307,395)

Effect of 

movements in 

 exchange rates - (6,490)  (2,435)  (1,202)

 

(231)  43  1 (4,174) - (14,488)

At 31 December 

2019 -  23,123  301,080 1,541,323 35,394 61,147  6,808 181,196 - 2,150,071

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2018 329,048 - 1,421,199 2,914,158 32,419 57,712 7,139 41,225 127,071 4,929,971

At 31 December 

2018 327,571 - 1,437,092 2,837,999 36,799 55,214 11,815 33,287 92,521 4,832,298

At 31 December 

2019 25,300 691,689 1,467,485 2,667,878 40,462 30,742 11,697 37,036 617,391 5,589,680
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  cont’d

Company

Office 

equipment

Motor

vehicle Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cost

At 1 January 2018 - - -

Addition - 45 45

At 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 - 45 45

Addition 38 - 38

At 31 December 2019 38 45 83

Depreciation

At 1 January 2018 - - -

Depreciation for the year - 3 3

At 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 - 3 3

Depreciation for the year - 10 10

At 31 December 2019 - 13 13

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2018 - - -

At 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 - 42 42

At 31 December 2019 38 32 70

 3.1 Impairment loss

  During the previous financial year, the Group recognised an impairment loss of RM7,000,000 on certain property, 

plant and equipment of Press Metal International (Hubei) Ltd. based on the fair value less costs of disposal of 

these assets following the decision of management to close down the operations of the plant.

  At 31 December 2019, the Group has an accumulated impairment loss of RM47,045,000 (2018: RM47,045,000).

 3.2 Leased plant and machinery and motor vehicles

  On 1 January 2019, the leased plant and machinery and motor vehicles were reclassified to right-of-use assets 

upon adoption of MFRS 16 (Note 4).

  At 31 December 2018, the net carrying amounts of leased plant and machinery, and motor vehicles of the Group 

were RM21,890,000.
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  cont’d

 3.3 Security

  At 31 December 2019, property, plant and equipment of the Group with an aggregate carrying amount of 

RM724,325,000 (2018: RM4,460,640,000) are pledged as security and as fixed and floating charges to secure 

bank facilities granted to its subsidiaries (see Note 19).

 3.4 Capital work-in-progress

  As at 31 December 2019, the capital work-in-progress mainly relates to the construction of Phase 3 of PMBTU’s 

smelter plant in Samalaju. 

4. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 

Group Land Buildings

Plant, 

machinery

and motor

vehicles

Multi-fuel 

cogeneration 

facility Total

Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 2019 312,217 14,794 22,285 - 349,296

Acquisitions through business 

combinations:

- joint operation 34.1 - - - 173,238 173,238

- subsidiaries 34.2 727 137 1,386 - 2,250

Additions - 6,814 9,685 19,171 35,670

Depreciation (6,634) (5,865) (3,536) (7,045) (23,080)

Disposals - - (395) - (395)

Derecognition * - (546) - - (546)

Effect of movements in 

exchange rates (3,668) (114) - (2,239) (6,021)

At 31 December 2019 302,642 15,220 29,425 183,125 530,412

 
 * Derecognition of the right-of-use assets during 2019 is as a result of early termination of certain lease arrangements.
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 The Group leases a number of properties, machineries and facility that run between 1 year and 25 years and in some 

cases, with an option to renew the lease after that date. 

 4.1 Extension options

  Some leases of buildings contain extension options exercisable by the Group up to one year before the end of the 

non-cancellable contract period. Where practicable, the Group seeks to include extension options in new leases to 

provide operational flexibility. The extension options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the lessors. 

The Group assesses at lease commencement whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. 

The Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the options if there is a significant event or 

significant change in circumstances within its control. 

  The extension options of all leases are currently included in the lease term as the Group assessed that it is 

reasonably certain to exercise the extension options, which is supported by the high historical rate of extensions 

exercised by the Group. Hence, as at 31 December 2019, there are no potential future lease payments not 

included in lease liabilities.

 4.2 Significant judgements and assumptions in relation to leases

  The Group assesses at lease commencement by applying significant judgement whether it is reasonably certain 

to exercise the extension options. Group entities consider all facts and circumstances including their past practice 

and any cost that will be incurred to change the asset if an option to extend is not taken, to help them determine 

the lease term.

  The Group also applied judgement and assumptions in determining the incremental borrowing rate of the 

respective leases. Group entities first determine the closest available borrowing rates before using significant 

judgement to determine the adjustments required to reflect the term, security, value or economic environment of 

the respective leases.

 4.3 Security

  At 31 December 2019, the land of the Group with a carrying amount of RM33,359,000 is pledged as security to 

secure bank facilities granted to a subsidiary (see Note 19).
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5. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 

Group

Note RM’000

Cost

At 1 January 2018 -

Acquisition through business combinations 34.4 7,976

Transfer from property, plant and equipment 3 2,589

At 31 December 2018, as previously reported 10,565

Adjustment on initial application of MFRS 16 (10,565)

At 1 January 2019, as restated/31 December 2019 -

Amortisation

At 1 January 2018 -

Amortisation for the year 619

At 31 December 2018, as previously reported 619

Adjustment on initial application of MFRS 16 (619)

At 1 January 2019, as restated/31 December 2019 -

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2018 -

At 31 December 2018 9,946

At 31 December 2019 -

 Group

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Balance to be amortised:

Less than one year -  778

Between one and five years - 3,111

More than five years - 6,057

- 9,946

 Prepaid lease payments were related to the leases of land that have a remaining tenure of 11 to 16 years and were 

reclassified to right-of-use assets upon adoption of MFRS 16.
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5. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS  cont’d

 During the previous financial year, a land of the Group had been transferred from property, plant and equipment to 

prepaid lease payments following an assessment by management which indicated that the land was in substance an 

operating lease.

6. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Group

Note RM’000

Cost

At 1 January 2018 19,595

Additions 75

Transfer to asset held for sale 17 (271)

Disposal (768)

At 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 18,631

Additions 5,272

At 31 December 2019 23,903

Depreciation and impairment loss

At 1 January 2018 946

Depreciation for the year 364

Transfer to asset held for sale 17 (36)

Disposal (49)

At 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 1,225

Depreciation for the year 360

At 31 December 2019 1,585

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2018 18,649

At 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 17,406

At 31 December 2019 22,318
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6. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES  cont’d

 Group

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Included in the above are:

Land owned 328 328

Land leased 289 292

Buildings  18,081 16,786

18,698 17,406

Properties under construction  3,620 -

22,318 17,406

 At 31 December 2019, the Group has an accumulated impairment loss of RM200,000 (2018: RM200,000).

 Investment properties comprise land and a number of residential properties and commercial properties that are leased 

to third parties or are currently vacant. The Group leases one of its investment properties to a third party and the 

contribution arising from the lease income is not material to the Group. Hence, the disclosures required by MFRS 16 for 

a lessor are not presented.

 Investment properties of the Group amounting to RM5,422,000 (2018: RM5,542,000) have been charged to secure 

banking facilities granted to the Group (see Note 19).

 7 residential properties are currently under construction and the estimated fair values are likely to approximate their 

costs.

 During the previous financial year, a property of the Group had been transferred from investment properties to asset 

held for sale (see Note 17) following the commitment of the Group to a plan to sell the property to a third party. 
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6. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES  cont’d

 The following are recognised in profit or loss in respect of investment properties:

 Group

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Lease income 54 54

Direct operating expenses:

- income generating investment properties (133) (133)

- non-income generating investment properties (262) (262)

 Fair value information

 Fair value of investment properties is categorised as follows:

 Group

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Level 3

Land 3,696 3,765

Buildings 25,792 22,807

29,488 26,572

 Valuation process applied by the Group for Level 3 fair value

 The fair value of investment properties is estimated by the Directors using the comparison method. The comparison 

method entails critical analyses of recent evidences of values of comparable properties in the neighbourhood and 

making adjustment for differences such as differences in location, size and shape of land, age and condition of building, 

tenure, title restrictions, if any, and other relevant characteristics.



Annual Report 2019

165Notes to the Financial Statements

Cont’d

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group Goodwill Others Total

Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cost

At 1 January 2018 14,628 - 14,628

Acquisition through business combinations 34.4 28,628 - 28,628

At 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 43,256 - 43,256

Acquisitions through business combinations:

- Joint operation 34.1 8,489 633 9,122

- Subsidiaries 34.2 16,177 - 16,177

Effect of movements in exchange rates - (8) (8)

At 31 December 2019 67,922 625 68,547

Amortisation and impairment loss

At 1 January 2018/31 December 2018/1 January 2019

Accumulated amortisation - - -

Accumulated impairment loss 4,131 - 4,131

4,131 - 4,131

Amortisation for the year - 86 86

At 31 December 2019

Accumulated amortisation - 86 86

Accumulated impairment loss 4,131 - 4,131

4,131 86 4,217

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2018/31 December 2018/1 January 2019 39,125 - 39,125

At 31 December 2019 63,791 539 64,330
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  cont’d

 7.1 Impairment testing for cash-generating units containing goodwill

  For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s operating divisions which represent the 

lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

  The aggregate carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each unit are as follows:

 Group

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Press Metal International Limited 9,219 9,219

Press Metal Aluminium Rods Sdn. Bhd. 28,628 28,628

Japan Alumina Associates (Australia) Pty. Ltd. 8,489 -

PMB Central Sdn. Bhd. 6,763 -

53,099 37,847

Multiple units without significant goodwill 10,692 1,278

63,791 39,125

  The recoverable amount of each unit was based on its value in use.

  Value in use was determined by discounting the future cash flows expected to be generated from the continuing 

use of the units and was based on the following key assumptions:

  • Cash flows were projected based on past experience, actual operating results and a 5-year business plan. A 

terminal growth rate of 2% (2018: 2%) was then applied. Management believes that this terminal growth rate 

was justified due to the long-term nature of the aluminium business.

  • The anticipated annual revenue growth included in the cash flow projections was between 1% to 5% (2018: 

5%), which is lower than the average growth rate experienced in the past 3 years. 

  • The aluminium price was assumed to be similar to the average prices for the current financial year. 

  • Cost growth, based on past experience, was estimated to be between 1% to 5% (2018: 5%), which is in line 

with revenue growth.

  • Pre-tax discount rates of 8% - 10% (2018: 8% - 10%) were applied in determining the recoverable amount 

of the units. The discount rates were estimated based on an industry weighted average cost of capital. 
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  cont’d

 7.1 Impairment testing for cash-generating units containing goodwill  cont’d

  The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future trends in the 

aluminium industry and are based on both external sources and internal sources (historical data).

  In light of Covid-19 as disclosed in Note 36, management performed stress test on its assumptions by factoring 

a contraction of 10% to the revenue of year 2020 and a 1% to 5% growth (from the revised base) thereafter. 

No impairment is required based on the revised assumption and hence, management concluded that the above 

estimates are not particularly sensitive in any areas.

8. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

 Company

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Cost of investment 1,946,967 1,946,967

Less: Impairment loss (739,105) (739,105)

1,207,862 1,207,862
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8. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES  cont’d

 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of entity

Principal

place of

business Principal activities

Effective ownership

interest and voting interest

2019 2018

% %

Direct subsidiaries of the Company: 

Press Metal Bintulu Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Manufacturing and trading of 

aluminium products and marketing 

of share of alumina produced

80 80

and its subsidiary,

Press Metal Aluminium Rods Sdn. 

Bhd.

Malaysia Manufacturing and trading of 

aluminium products

80 80

Press Metal Sarawak Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Manufacturing and trading of 

aluminium products

80 80

Press Metal (Labuan) Ltd.  Malaysia Investment holding and to acquire or 

hold any securities

100 100

PMIM Extrusion Sdn. Bhd. (“PMIM”) Malaysia Investment holding 100 100

and its subsidiary,

Press Metal Berhad (“PMB”) Malaysia Manufacturing and trading 

of aluminium products and 

investment holding 

100 100

Angkasa Jasa Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Contracting and fabrication of 

aluminium and stainless steel 

products

100 100
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8. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES  cont’d

Name of entity

Principal
place of
business Principal activities

Effective ownership
interest and voting interest

2019 2018

% %

Direct subsidiaries of the Company 
cont’d:

Press Metal (HK) Limited * Hong Kong Investment holding 100 100

and its subsidiary,

Press Metal International Limited * China Manufacturing and trading 
of aluminium products and 
investment holding

100 100

and its subsidiaries,

Press Metal International 
Technology Ltd. *

China Manufacturing and trading of 
aluminium products

100 100

Press Metal Glomag Precision 
Technology Co. Ltd. *

China Manufacturing of moulds and dies 51 51

Press Metal International (HK) Ltd. 
* ^

Hong
Kong

Investment holding 100 -

and its subsidiaries (2018: 
Direct subsidiaries of PMIM),

Press Metal UK Limited * # United
Kingdom

Marketing of aluminium products 100 100

Press Metal Aluminium 
(Australia) Pty. Ltd. * #

Australia Marketing of aluminium products 100 100

Press Metal North America Inc. 
* #

United 
States of 
America

Marketing of aluminium products 100 100

PMB (Klang) Sdn. Bhd. 
(“PMBK”) ^^ 

Malaysia Manufacturing and trading 
of aluminium products and 
investment holding

100 -
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Name of entity

Principal
place of
business Principal activities

Effective ownership
interest and voting interest

2019 2018

% %

Direct subsidiaries of PMBK:

PMB Central Sdn. Bhd. ^^^ Malaysia Marketing of gypsum boards, 

aluminium extrusion and other 

related products

100 27

PMB Northern Sdn. Bhd. ^^^ Malaysia Marketing of aluminium and other 

related products

100 27

PMB Eastern Sdn. Bhd. * ^^^ Malaysia Marketing of gypsum boards and 

other related products

100 27

PMB Aluminium Sabah Sdn. Bhd. ^^^ Malaysia Marketing of all types of aluminium 

sections, gypsum boards and 

other related products

100 27

Direct subsidiaries of PMB:

PMB Recycling

 Management Sdn. Bhd. 

Malaysia Under Members’ Voluntary winding 

up

100 100

PMB Development Sdn. 

 Bhd. 

Malaysia Dormant 100 100

and its subsidiary,

PMB Spectrum Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Dormant 60 60

Wesama Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Investment holding 100 100

and its subsidiary,

Ace Extrusion Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Dormant 100 100

PMB Marketing Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Under Members’ Voluntary winding 

up

100 100
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8. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES  cont’d

Name of entity

Principal
place of
business Principal activities

Effective ownership

interest and voting interest

2019 2018

% %

Direct subsidiaries of PMB cont’d:

BI-PMB Waste Management Sdn. 

Bhd.

Malaysia Provision of a common waste water 

treatment plant to treat toxic waste

100 100

PMS Marketing Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Under Members’ Voluntary winding 

up

100 100

Hubei Press Metal Huasheng 

Aluminium & Electric Co. Ltd. * 

China Investment holding 100 100

and its subsidiary,

Press Metal International (Hubei) 

Ltd. *

China Dormant 100 100

 * Not audited by KPMG PLT.

 ^ In May 2019, Press Metal International Limited (“PMI”) acquired the entire equity interest in Press Metal International (HK) Ltd. 

(“PMIHK”) from a third party for a total cash consideration of HKD1.0 million (equivalent to approximately RM0.5 million). 

 ^^ In August 2019, the Company incorporated a wholly-owned subsidiary, PMB (Klang) Sdn. Bhd. (“PMBK”), with an issued and 

paid-up capital of RM2.

  In November 2019, the Company transferred its entire equity interest in PMBK to PMIHK for a total consideration of USD3.4 

million (equivalent to approximately RM14 million).

 # In October 2019, PMIM Extrusion Sdn. Bhd. transferred its entire investments in these subsidiaries to PMIHK for a total 

consideration of USD13.0 million (equivalent to approximately RM55 million). 

 ^^^ In December 2019, PMBK completed the acquisition of the entire equity interest in these companies for a total cash 

consideration of RM44.4 million. These companies were previously wholly-owned subsidiaries of PMB Technology Berhad, an 

associate of the Company.
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 8.1 Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries

  The Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests (“NCI”) are as follows: 

 2019

Press

Metal

Sarawak

Sdn. Bhd.

Press

Metal

Bintulu

Sdn. Bhd.

Other

subsidiaries

with

immaterial

NCI Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

NCI percentage of ownership interest and voting 

interest 20% 20%

Carrying amount of NCI 201,058 599,910 12,733 813,701

Profit allocated to NCI 3,126 101,476 3,106 107,708

Summarised financial information before intra-

group elimination

As at 31 December

Non-current assets 762,975 5,028,203

Current assets 790,910 2,264,584

Non-current liabilities (43,933) (2,462,829)

Current liabilities (504,662) (1,830,405)

Net assets 1,005,290 2,999,553

Year ended 31 December

Revenue 1,267,009 5,694,485

Profit for the year 15,630 507,380

Total comprehensive (expense)/income (50,789) 516,454

Cash flows from operating activities 245,480 901,730

Cash flows used in investing activities (19,764) (1,027,953)

Cash flows (used in)/from financing activities (223,729) 208,905

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,987 82,682

Dividends paid to NCI 10,000 50,000
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8. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES  cont’d

 8.1 Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries  cont’d

 2018

Press

Metal

Sarawak

Sdn. Bhd.

Press

Metal

Bintulu

Sdn. Bhd.

Other

subsidiaries

with

immaterial

NCI Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

NCI percentage of ownership interest and voting 

interest 20% 20%

Carrying amount of NCI 221,215 561,420 8,236 790,871

Profit allocated to NCI 28,374 123,279 2,279 153,932

Summarised financial information before intra-

group elimination

As at 31 December

Non-current assets 795,979 3,476,479

Current assets 799,710 2,524,185

Non-current liabilities (225,446) (1,924,558)

Current liabilities (264,168) (1,269,008)

Net assets 1,106,075 2,807,098

Year ended 31 December

Revenue 1,171,220 5,909,302

Profit for the year 141,868 616,397

Total comprehensive income 212,511 625,685

Cash flows from operating activities 264,667 1,004,733

Cash flows used in investing activities (24,472) (218,491)

Cash flows used in financing activities (268,848) (790,365)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (28,653) (4,123)

Dividends paid to NCI 10,000 50,000
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 8.2 Transactions with non-controlling interests

  In April 2014, the Group disposed 20% of its equity interest in PMBTU to the existing non-controlling interests 

holder (“NCI”) for a cash consideration of RM522,699,000. A gain on partial disposal amounting to RM405,962,000 

was recognised in equity as the change in ownership interest did not result in a loss of control to the Group.

  During the current and previous financial years, both parties had agreed to further settlements on the previous 

cash consideration as follows:

  2019

  The NCI was not entitled to a preference dividend declared and paid to PMB (the previous holding company of 

PMBTU) amounting to RM74,000,000, which resulted in a dilution of its interest in PMBTU by RM14,800,000.

  2018

  i) PMB was required to make a one-off payment to the NCI amounting to RM25,347,000; and

  ii) The NCI was not entitled to a preference dividend declared and paid to PMB amounting to RM73,515,000, 

which resulted in a dilution of its interest in PMBTU by RM14,703,000.

9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Investments in:

- Quoted shares 11,812 11,812 11,812 11,812

- ICULS together with free detachable warrants 9.1 58,844 58,844 58,844 58,844

- Unquoted shares 32,440 32,440 - -

Share of post-acquisition reserves 35,249 34,921 - -

Group’s share of net assets 138,345 138,017 70,656 70,656

Level 1 fair value of:

- Quoted shares 135,299 153,339 135,299 153,339

- ICULS 65,502 78,387 65,502 78,387

- warrants 12,886 17,932 12,886 17,932
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9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES  cont’d

 9.1 ICULS together with free detachable warrants

  In June 2018, the Company subscribed in full its 27.72% entitlement on the Rights Issue of ICULS together 

with free detachable warrants issued by PMB Technology Berhad (“PMBT”) for a total cash consideration of 

RM58,844,000.

  The salient features of the ICULS together with free detachable warrants are as follows:

  i) The ICULS will be maturing in 2023 and the coupon rate for the ICULS is 3% per annum;

  ii) The ICULS has a nominal value of RM2.74 each and is convertible to ordinary shares of PMBT at a price of 

RM2.74 per share;

  iii) The ICULS has a conversion ratio of 1:1, convertible any time from the date of issuance up to the maturity 

date. Any ICULS not converted by maturity date will be mandatorily converted to ordinary shares of PMBT 

upon maturity; and

  iv) The exercise price of the warrants is RM3.01, exercisable from the date of issuance up to market day falling 

immediately before the fifth anniversary of the date of the issuance of the warrants.

  The Directors have assessed that the ICULS together with free detachable warrants form part of the investment in 

PMBT as they give current access to the returns associated with the associate.

 Details of the material associates are as follows:

Name of entity

Principal

place of

business

 

Nature of the relationship

Effective ownership

interest and voting interest

2019 2018

% %

PMB Technology Berhad 

(“PMBT”)

Malaysia Trading of aluminium products purchased 

from the Group

21 27

Shandong Sunstone & PMB 

Carbon Ltd., Co. (“Sunstone”)

China Manufacturing of pre-baked carbon 

anodes for consumption of the Group

20 20

 As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s equity interest in PMBT has reduced to 20.99% (2018: 27.43%) mainly due to 

private placements of additional shares of PMBT, which were subscribed by selected investors. This has resulted in a 

gain on dilution of interest amounting to RM7,114,000 at the Group level.
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 The following table summarises the information of the Group’s material associates, adjusted for any differences in 

accounting policies.

2019

PMBT Sunstone Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Summarised financial information 

As at 31 December

Non-current assets 716,430 411,522

Current assets 421,460 267,600

Non-current liabilities (270,966) (159,018)

Current liabilities (332,091) (375,019)

Net assets 534,833 145,085

Year ended 31 December

Profit/(Loss) for the year 27,771 (8,132)

Other comprehensive expense (188) -

Total comprehensive income/(expense) 27,583 (8,132)

Included in the total comprehensive income is:

Revenue 553,181 272,660

Group’s share of results for the year ended 31 December

Group’s share of profit or loss 4,072 (1,626) 2,446

Group’s share of other comprehensive expense (44) - (44)

Group’s share of total comprehensive income/(expense) 4,028 (1,626) 2,402

Other information

Dividends received by the Group 859 -
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2018

PMBT Sunstone Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Summarised financial information 

As at 31 December

Non-current assets 432,062  387,956 

Current assets 343,749  132,016 

Non-current liabilities (131,874)  (187,395)

Current liabilities (286,254)  (176,038)

Net assets 357,683  156,539 

Year ended 31 December

Profit/(Loss) for the year 9,319 (1,364)

Other comprehensive income 672 -

Total comprehensive income/(expense) 9,991 (1,364)

Included in the total comprehensive income is:

Revenue 444,765 -

Group’s share of results for the year ended 31 December

Group’s share of profit or loss 2,583 (273) 2,310

Group’s share of other comprehensive income 186 - 186

Group’s share of total comprehensive income/(expense) 2,769 (273) 2,496

Other information

Dividends received by the Group 644 -
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 Group

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Contingent liabilities

Share of associates’ contingent liabilities incurred jointly with other investors:

- Guaranteed bank facilities and construction contracts 95,311 80,968

10. OTHER INVESTMENTS

 Group

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Non-current

Unquoted shares

Fair value through profit or loss 1,803 1,803
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11. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

Nominal

value Assets Liabilities

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

2019

Non-current

Commodity swaps 2,809,854 8,708 (50,777)

Forward exchange contracts 7,223,423 33,757 (5,578)

Cross currency swaps 1,000,000 40,453 -

11,033,277 82,918 (56,355)

Current

Commodity swaps 2,533,080  101,360 (20,807)

Forward exchange contracts 2,141,291  30,643 (112)

4,674,371 132,003 (20,919)

Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss 14,296 - (112)

Derivatives used for hedging 15,693,352 214,921 (77,162)

15,707,648 214,921 (77,274)

2018

Non-current

Commodity swaps 565,629 - (20,705)

Forward exchange contracts 1,231,136 715 (606)

1,796,765 715 (21,311)

Current

Commodity swaps 7,249,166 214,167 (180,922)

Forward exchange contracts 1,754,807 15,004 (436)

9,003,973 229,171 (181,358)

Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss 38,947 - (436)

Derivatives used for hedging 10,761,791 229,886 (202,233)

10,800,738 229,886 (202,669)
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11. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)  cont’d

Nominal

value Assets Liabilities

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Company

2019

Non-current

Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss:

- Commodity swaps 409,131 - (7,772)

- Cross currency swaps 1,000,000 40,453 -

1,409,131 40,453 (7,772)

Current

Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss:

- Commodity swaps 137,634 - (184)

 Commodity swaps are used to lock in aluminium prices while forward exchange contracts are used to manage the 

foreign currency exposures arising from the monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the 

functional currencies of Group entities. Most of the derivative contracts have maturities of less than five years after the 

end of the reporting period. Where necessary, the derivatives are rolled over at maturity.

 During the year, the Group and the Company also entered into a cross currency swap to swap their RM Islamic 

Medium-Term Notes (see Note 19.4) to USD. The proceeds from the Islamic Medium-Term Notes were advanced to 

Press Metal Bintulu Sdn. Bhd. for its daily operations, and the swap was performed to manage the Group’s exposure to 

USD and RM within the Group’s policy.
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 Recognised deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

 Assets  Liabilities  Net

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Group RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Property, plant and 

equipment 23 81 (363,433) (289,767) (363,410) (289,686)

Right-of-use assets - - (58,351) - (58,351) -

Lease liabilities 59,221 - - - 59,221 -

Provisions 27,485 - - - 27,485 -

Tax loss carry-forwards 24,969 9,699 - - 24,969 9,699

Capital allowance 

carry-forwards 672 5,051 - - 672 5,051

Investment tax 

allowance carry-

forwards 81,909 91,050 - - 81,909 91,050

Other items - - - (76) - (76)

Tax assets/(liabilities) 194,279 105,881 (421,784) (289,843) (227,505) (183,962)

Set off of tax (190,527) (105,881) 190,527 105,881 - -

Net tax assets/

(liabilities) 3,752 - (231,257) (183,962) (227,505) (183,962)

Company

Provisions 618 - - - 618 -

Tax loss carry-forwards 1,326 - - - 1,326 -

Other items 13 - - - 13 -

Tax assets 1,957 - - - 1,957 -
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 Movement in temporary differences during the year

At
1.1.2018

Recognised
in profit
or loss

(Note 26)

Arising 
from 

business 
combinations

(Note 34.4)

Effect of
movement

in 
exchange

rates
At

31.12.2018

Adjustment 
on initial 

application 
of

MFRS 16
At

1.1.2019

Recognised
in profit
or loss

(Note 26)

Arising 
from 

acquisition 
of a joint 

operation
(Note 34.1)

Arising 
from 

acquisition 
of 

subsidiaries 
(Note 34.2)

Effect of
movement

in 
exchange

rates
At

31.12.2019

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

Property, 
plant and 
equipment (267,778) (19,835) (4,402) 2,329 (289,686) 2,117 (287,569)  (18,036)

 
(56,977) (264)  (564) (363,410)

Right-of-use 
assets - - - - - (5,747) (5,747)  (633)  (51,971) -  - (58,351)

Lease liabilities - - - - - 3,630 3,630  3,421  52,170 -  - 59,221

Provisions - - - - - - -  5,444  22,025 -  16 27,485

Tax loss carry-
forwards 9,767 (68) - - 9,699 - 9,699  6,950  8,320 -  - 24,969

Capital 
allowance 
carry-
forwards 1,663 3,388 - - 5,051 - 5,051  (4,379)  - -  - 672

Investment tax 
allowance 

 carry-
forwards 142,821 (51,771) - - 91,050 - 91,050  (9,141)  - -

 
- 81,909

Other items (1,436) 816 544 - (76) - (76)  76  - - - -

(114,963) (67,470) (3,858) 2,329 (183,962) - (183,962)  (16,298)  (26,433) (264)  (548) (227,505)

Company

Provisions - - - - - - - 618 - - - 618

Tax loss carry-

forwards - - - - - - - 1,326 - - - 1,326

Other items - - - - - - - 13 - - - 13

- - - - - - - 1,957 - - - 1,957

 Estimation uncertainty and significant judgements

 In October 2013, PMBTU was awarded Pioneer Status by the Malaysian Investment Development Authority (“MIDA”), 

which entitled PMBTU exemption from tax for a period of 5 years from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2017 on 100% 

of statutory income derived from the production of aluminium products. PMBTU was allowed to apply for an additional 

5 years exemption upon expiry of the first 5 years. 

 In July 2014, the MIDA further granted PMBTU the right to apply for an additional 5 years Pioneer Status, resulting in a 

potential extension of exemption from tax up to 31 December 2027. 
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 Estimation uncertainty and significant judgements  cont’d

 In December 2017, PMBTU applied for the 5-year extension of Pioneer Status till 31 December 2022, of which the 

application was approved by the MIDA in March 2018.

 The measurement of the net deferred tax liabilities of PMBTU amounting to RM139,569,000 (2018: RM125,267,000) is 

based on the assumptions below:

 (i) PMBTU will successfully achieve the conditions imposed in the MIDA’s approval to further extend the pioneer 

period to 31 December 2027 at the end of the latest 5-year period granted;

 (ii) there will not be any substantial changes to the estimated useful lives of the property, plant and equipment of 

PMBTU nor will there be any significant disposals/write-off of existing property, plant and equipment up to 31 

December 2027; and

 (iii) there will not be any substantial changes to the currently enacted tax rates.

 Unrecognised deferred tax assets

 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items (stated at gross):

 Group

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Tax loss carry-forwards  61,853 64,263

Capital allowance carry-forwards  7,592 7,487

Investment tax allowance carry-forwards  9,907 10,068

 79,352 81,818

 Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against 

which these assets can be utilised. The tax loss carry-forwards of Group entities (other than foreign subsidiaries) can 

be carried forward up to 7 consecutive years of assessment. Based on the transitional provision, the accumulated tax 

loss carry-forwards up to year of assessment 2018 can be carried forward up to year of assessment 2025. Deferred tax 

assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable profits will be 

available against which the Group entities can utilise the benefits therefrom. 
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13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Non-current

Non-trade

Amounts due from subsidiaries 13.1 - - 79,382 74,452

Loans to a subsidiary 13.1 - - 987,672 -

Other receivables 13.2 180,928 - - -

Deposits 13.3 58,374 - 58,374 -

239,302 - 1,125,428 74,452

Current

Trade

Trade receivables from contracts with 

customers 803,407 879,433 - -

Less: Individual impairment allowance (8,080) (7,246) - -

795,327 872,187 - -

Amounts due from subsidiaries 13.1 - - 2,164 1,527

Amount due from an associate 13.1 18,466 70,622 - -

813,793 942,809 2,164 1,527

Non-trade

Amounts due from subsidiaries 13.1 - - 133,571 68,720

Amount due from an associate 13.1 78 1,591 - -

Other receivables 13.2 143,375 289,284 21 33

Deposits 13.3 19,295 8,511 14,056 7

Goods and services tax claimable 13.4 12,985 45,633 - -

175,733 345,019 147,648 68,760

989,526 1,287,828 149,812 70,287

1,228,828 1,287,828 1,275,240 144,739
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13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  cont’d

 13.1 Related party balances

  The non-current non-trade balances due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and are unlikely to be 

realised within twelve months after the end of the reporting period.

  Loans to a subsidiary are unsecured, subject to interest at 3% (2018: Nil) per annum with repayment terms ranging 

from year 2024 to 2029.

  The current trade balances due from subsidiaries and an associate are subject to normal trade terms. The current 

non-trade balances due from subsidiaries and an associate are unsecured, interest free and are expected to be 

realised within twelve months after the end of the reporting period.

 13.2 Other receivables

  Included in other receivables of the Group are advances made to purchasing agents for the procurement of capital 

work-in-progress, spare parts and materials on behalf of the Group entities amounting to RM274,339,000 (2018: 

RM205,260,000).

 13.3 Deposits

  Included in deposits of the Group and of the Company are deposits paid in relation to the proposed subscription 

of 25% equity interest in PT Bintan Alumina Indonesia amounting to RM58,374,000 (2018: Nil) (Note 36).
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13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  cont’d

 13.4 Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

  The following table provides information of financial assets and liabilities that have been set off for presentation 

purposes:

Gross

amount

Balances that

are set off

Net carrying 

amount in the 

statement of 

financial 

position

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

2019

Goods and services tax claimable 163,438 (150,453) 12,985

Goods and services tax payable (150,453) 150,453 -

2018

Goods and services tax claimable 191,016 (145,383) 45,633

Goods and services tax payable (145,383) 145,383 -

  The goods and services tax claimable and goods and services tax payable were set off for presentation purposes 

because each of the Group entities has enforceable right to set off and intends to settle on a net basis.
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14. INVENTORIES

 Group

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Raw materials 480,172 759,246

Work-in-progress 266,350 199,067

Finished goods 363,362 414,050

Consumable parts 107,073 59,018

Goods in transit 204,417 108,118

1,421,374 1,539,499

Carrying amount of inventories pledged as security for bank borrowings (see Note 19) - 1,014,368

Recognised in profit or loss:

Inventories recognised as cost of sales 7,457,232 7,547,956

15. CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

2019 2018

Group RM’000 RM’000

Contract assets 74 94

Contract liabilities (10) (1,027)

 The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to consideration for work completed on contracting and 

fabrication of aluminium and stainless steel products but not yet billed at the reporting date. Typically, the amount will 

be billed within 30 days and payment is expected within 60 days.

 The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance consideration received from a customer for contracting and fabrication 

of aluminium and stainless steel products, which revenue is recognised over time during the performance of contracting and 

fabrication works. The contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as revenue over a period of 90 days.

 There were no significant changes to contract assets. The changes in contract liabilities during the current and previous 

financial years were mainly due to the recognition of contract liabilities as revenue.
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16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
 
Deposits placed with licensed banks 25,881 11,760 - -

Cash and bank balances 337,937 187,290 19,171 1,036

363,818 199,050 19,171 1,036

 Included in deposits placed with licensed banks of the Group is RM2,822,000 (2018: RM5,031,000) pledged for bank 

facilities granted to certain subsidiaries (see Note 19).

17. ASSET CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 

 In the previous financial year, a property was presented as asset held for sale following the commitment of the Group 

to a plan to sell the property to a third party. Efforts to sell the property had commenced in December 2018 and the 

sale was completed during the current financial year. At 31 December 2018, the asset classified as held for sale was as 

follows:

Group

Note 2018

RM’000

Investment property 235

Cost 6 271

Accumulated depreciation 6 (36)

235
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18. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

 Share capital

 Group and Company

Amount

Number

of shares Amount

Number

of shares

2019 2019 2018 2018

RM’000 ’000 RM’000 ’000

Ordinary shares with no par value, issued and fully paid:

At 1 January 1,046,903 3,950,846 990,641 3,832,781

Issued during the year:

- Exercise of warrants 41,584 87,264 56,262 118,065

At 31 December 1,088,487 4,038,110 1,046,903 3,950,846

 Ordinary shares

 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and are entitled to one 

vote per share at meetings of the Company.

 Reorganisation reserve

 The reorganisation reserve in the separate financial statements of the Company represents the difference between the 

value of the shares issued by the Company in exchange with the shareholders of PMB and the total equity of PMB at 

the date of exchange.

 Translation reserve

 The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements 

of foreign operations. 

 Hedging reserve

 The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedges 

related to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred.
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19. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

 Group  Company

Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Non-current

Bank loans:

- secured 19.1 22,748 377,829 - -

- unsecured 19.1 385,116 - - -

Finance lease liabilities 19.2 - 8,592 - -

Senior Notes - unsecured 19.3 1,622,359 1,634,110 - -

Islamic Medium-Term Notes 

- unsecured 19.4 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 -

3,030,223 2,020,531 1,000,000 -

Current

Bank loans:

- secured 19.1 82,295 332,213 - -

- unsecured 19.1 312,172 - - -

Finance lease liabilities 19.2 - 5,554 - -

Bankers’ acceptances:

- secured 19.5 - 351,540 - -

- unsecured 19.5 191,487 218,590 - -

Revolving credits:

- secured 19.6 2,822 2,886 - -

- unsecured 19.6 22,767 53,192 - -

Bank overdrafts:

- unsecured 19.7 216 139 - -

611,759 964,114 - -

3,641,982 2,984,645 1,000,000 -
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19. LOANS AND BORROWINGS  cont’d

 19.1 Bank loans

 Group

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Loan 1 – secured 105 144

Loan 2 – unsecured (2018: secured) 163,857 201,882

Loan 3 – secured 251 282

Loan 4 – secured 102,325 289,520

Loan 5 – unsecured (2018: secured) 17,889 25,513

Loan 6 – secured 2,362 2,701

Loan 7 – unsecured (2018: secured) 150,000 190,000

Loan 8 – unsecured 347,905 -

Loan 9 – unsecured 5,879 -

Loan 10 – unsecured 11,758 -

802,331 710,042

  Securities and guarantees

  Loan 1 Secured over a building of a subsidiary with a carrying amount of RM732,000 (2018: RM758,000) and 

guaranteed by PMB

  Loan 2 Guaranteed by the Company (2018: Secured over property, plant and equipment of a subsidiary with a 

carrying amount of RM283,577,000, certain trade receivables, deposits pledged with a licensed bank of 

RM2,145,000 and guaranteed by the Company) 

  Loan 3 Secured over a building of a subsidiary with a carrying amount of RM551,000 (2018: RM563,000) and 

guaranteed by a Director of the Company

  Loan 4 Secured over land of a subsidiary with a carrying amount of RM33,359,000 (2018: RM33,726,000), 

fixed and floating charges over other property, plant and equipment and guaranteed by the Company

  Loan 5 Guaranteed by the Company (2018: Secured over property, plant and equipment of a subsidiary with a 

carrying amount of RM283,577,000, certain trade receivables, deposits pledged with a licensed bank of 

RM2,145,000 and guaranteed by the Company) 
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19. LOANS AND BORROWINGS  cont’d

 19.1 Bank loans  cont’d

  Securities and guarantees  cont’d

  Loan 6 Secured over buildings of a subsidiary with a carrying amount of RM5,422,000 (2018: RM5,542,000) 

and guaranteed by PMB

  Loan 7 Guaranteed by the Company (2018: Secured over land, buildings and plant and machinery of a 

subsidiary, fixed and floating charges over the entire assets and guaranteed by the Company)

  Loan 8 Guaranteed by the Company

  Loan 9 Guaranteed by a subsidiary

  Loan 10 Guaranteed by a subsidiary

  Significant covenants

  In connection with the significant bank loan facilities of Press Metal Bintulu Sdn. Bhd. and Press Metal Sarawak 

Sdn. Bhd., the subsidiaries and the Company have agreed on the following significant covenants with the lenders:

  Press Metal Sarawak Sdn. Bhd. (Loan 4)

  i) The subsidiary shall maintain a maximum net debt to tangible net worth of not more than 1.50 times, net 

debt-to-EBITDA of not more than 4.00 times and minimum Debt Service Cover Ratio (“DSCR”) of 1.25 times;

  ii) The consolidated financial statements of the Group shall maintain a maximum net debt to tangible net worth 

of not more than 1.50 times and net debt-to-EBITDA of not more than 3.00 times; and

  iii) The existing shareholders shall maintain their shareholdings in the subsidiary.

  Press Metal Bintulu Sdn. Bhd. (Loan 7)

  i) The subsidiary shall maintain a maximum net debt to tangible net worth of not more than 1.50 times and a 

minimum Finance Service Coverage Ratio of 1.25 times; and

  ii) The Company shall maintain its shareholdings of at least 75% in the subsidiary.
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19. LOANS AND BORROWINGS  cont’d

 19.1 Bank loans  cont’d

  Significant covenants  cont’d

  Press Metal Bintulu Sdn. Bhd. (Loan 8)

  i) The subsidiary shall maintain a maximum net debt to tangible net worth of not more than 1.50 times, net 

debt-to-EBITDA of not more than 3.00 times and minimum DSCR of 1.25 times; 

  ii) The consolidated financial statements of the Group shall maintain a maximum net debt to tangible net worth 

of not more than 1.50 times and net debt-to-EBITDA of not more than 3.00 times; and

  ii) The existing shareholders shall maintain their shareholdings in the subsidiary.

 19.2 Finance lease liabilities

  Finance lease liabilities were payable as follows:

Future

minimum

lease

payments Interest

Present

value of

minimum

lease

payments

2018 2018 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

Less than one year 6,305 (751) 5,554

Between one and five years 9,631 (1,201) 8,430

More than five years 201 (39) 162

16,137 (1,991) 14,146
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19. LOANS AND BORROWINGS  cont’d

 19.3 Senior Notes

  In October 2017, Press Metal (Labuan) Ltd. issued USD400 million 4.80% Senior Notes due 2022 (the “Notes”) 

to investors outside the United States of America and Malaysia in accordance with Regulation S of the U.S. 

Securities Act of 1933. The Notes are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

  The Notes are unconditionally and irrecoverably guaranteed by the Company as the parent guarantor and several 

subsidiaries which act as subsidiary guarantors. Unless previously redeemed, purchased or cancelled, the Notes 

will be redeemed at their principal amount on the maturity date in 2022. At any time on or after 30 October 2020, 

Press Metal (Labuan) Ltd. may redeem the Notes, in whole or in part, at specified redemption prices, plus accrued 

and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date.

 Group

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Proceeds from issue of the Notes, net of underwriting fees 1,644,291 1,644,291

Effect of movements in exchange rates (25,363) (8,314)

Transaction costs (7,897) (7,897)

Net proceeds 1,611,031 1,628,080

Amortisation of transaction costs, including underwriting fees 11,328 6,030

Carrying amount at 31 December 1,622,359 1,634,110

  Significant covenants

  Press Metal (Labuan) Ltd., the Company and/or subsidiary guarantors are, subject to certain thresholds, 

limitations, exceptions and qualifications, limited from:

  • incurring additional indebtedness and issuing preferred stocks; 

  • making investments or other specified restricted payments;

  • entering into agreement that restrict the ability to pay dividends, sell, lease or transfer assets, or make inter-

company loans;

  • issuing or selling equity shares;

  • issuing guarantees;

  • entering into transactions with shareholders or affiliates;

  • creating any liens;

  • entering into sale and leaseback transactions;

  • selling assets;

  • engaging in different business activities; and 

  • effecting a consolidation or merger.
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19. LOANS AND BORROWINGS  cont’d

 19.4 Islamic Medium-Term Notes 

  In August 2019, the Company made a lodgement with the Securities Commission Malaysia for the establishment 

of Islamic Medium-Term Notes of RM5.0 billion in nominal value based on the Shariah Principle of Wakalah Bi Al-

Istithmar (“Sukuk Programme”), for a tenure of up to thirty (30) years.

  In October 2019, the Company made its first issuance of the Sukuk Programme for an aggregate nominal value of 

RM1.0 billion with tenures ranging from 5 to 10 years repayable as follows:

  • RM550 million due in 2024

  • RM200 million due in 2026

  • RM250 million due in 2029

  The Group utilised the proceeds from the issuance to restructure and pay off its existing financing and borrowings 

and for general corporate purposes. 

  The transaction costs arising from this issuance have been back charged to Press Metal Bintulu Sdn. Bhd. as part 

of the loans to the subsidiary (Note 13.1).

  Significant covenants 

  i) The consolidated financial statements of the Group shall maintain a maximum Finance to Equity Ratio of not 

more than 1.75 times; and

  ii) The Company shall maintain its existing shareholdings in Press Metal Sarawak Sdn. Bhd. and Press Metal 

Bintulu Sdn. Bhd. (collectively known as “material subsidiaries”).

  The Company and/or its material subsidiaries are, subject to certain thresholds, limitations, exceptions and 

qualifications, limited from:

  • issuing guarantees;

  • entering into transactions with shareholders or affiliates;

  • creating any liens;

  • selling assets;

  • reducing of share capital;

  • lending or advancing any money to any other parties;

  • entering into partnership;

  • changing of proceeds utilisation;

  • substantially changing the nature or scope of its business; and 

  • effecting a consolidation, merger or reorganisation.
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19. LOANS AND BORROWINGS  cont’d

 19.5 Bankers’ acceptances

 Group

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Secured over property, plant and equipment and/or inventories and/or certain 

trade receivables and/or deposits pledged with licensed banks and guaranteed 

by the Company and/or PMB - 351,540

Guaranteed by the Company and/or PMB and/or PMBT 179,920 191,442

No securities nor guarantees 11,567 27,148

191,487 570,130

 19.6 Revolving credits

  The entire revolving credits of the Group entities were guaranteed by the Company, with RM2,822,000 (2018: 

RM2,886,000) further secured over deposits pledged with a licensed bank of a subsidiary.

 19.7 Bank overdrafts 

  The entire unsecured bank overdrafts of the Group entities are guaranteed by PMB.
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20. PROVISIONS

Employee 

entitlements 

(Note 20.1)

Restoration

and 

rehabilitation 

(Note 20.2) Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

At 1 January 2019 - - -

Assumed in a business combination (Note 34.1) 7,999 76,249 84,248

Provisions made during the year 497 984 1,481

Unwinding of discount - 2,463 2,463

Effect of movements in exchange rates (105) (993) (1,098)

At 31 December 2019 8,391 78,703 87,094

2019

Non-current 836 77,876 78,712

Current 7,555 827 8,382

8,391 78,703 87,094

 20.1 Employee entitlements

  The long service leave provision is measured at the present value of expected future payments in respect of 

services provided by the employees up to the end of the reporting period. Forecast future salary levels, experience 

of employees, turnover and periods of service are considered in determining the liability.

 20.2 Restoration and rehabilitation

  There is a provision on restoration and rehabilitation of RM76,249,000 which the Group assumed in a business 

combination in respect of the joint operation’s obligation such as decommissioning and demolition of all industrial 

and support infrastructure from the site and revegetation of the land. 

  During the ten months to 31 December 2019, the joint operation provided additional RM984,000 due to increase 

in costs to remediate Bauxite residue storage and raw materials handling, additional land disturbances and 

rehabilitation, and re-estimates of the demolition cost for fixed infrastructure across the mine. In view of the long-

term nature of the liability, the biggest uncertainty in estimating the provision is the costs that will be incurred. In 

particular, the joint operation has assumed that the mining site will be restored using technology and materials that 

are available currently. 

  The provision has been calculated using an inflation rate of 1.8% and discount rate of 4%, which is the blended risk-free 

rate in the jurisdiction of the liability. The rehabilitation is expected to occur progressively over the next 3 to 66 years.
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21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

 Group  Company

Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Trade

Trade payables 581,390 709,392 - -

Amounts due to associates 21.1 57,635 10,093 - -

639,025 719,485 - -

Non-trade

Amounts due to subsidiaries 21.1 - - 106,720 29,487

Amount due to an associate 21.1 2,635 2,635 - -

Other payables 21.2 176,894 132,103 717 1,057

Accrued expenses 99,114 79,668 8,580 1,159

278,643 214,406 116,017 31,703

917,668 933,891 116,017 31,703

 21.1 Related party balances

  The trade balances due to associates are subject to normal trade terms. The non-trade balances due to 

subsidiaries and an associate are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

 21.2 Other payables

  Included in other payables of the Group are balances owing to contractors of the construction of Phase 3 of 

PMBTU’s smelter plant in Samalaju amounting to RM30,110,000 (2018: RM2,377,000).
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22. REVENUE

 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Revenue from contracts with customers 8,804,572 9,170,122 21,474 15,096

Other revenue

- Dividend income - - 240,859 257,415

Total revenue 8,804,572 9,170,122 262,333 272,511

 22.1 Disaggregtion of revenue

  Revenue from contracts with customers of the Company consists of management and consultancy fee income 

received/receivable from certain subsidiaries based in Malaysia which is recognised in profit or loss over time 

when services are rendered. Payment is generally received within a month from invoice date.
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22. REVENUE  cont’d

 22.1 Disaggregation of revenue  cont’d

 Reportable segments

 Smelting and 

 extrusion  Trading  Refinery

 All other   

 segments  Total

Group 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Primary 

geographical 

markets

Malaysia 1,375,738 2,272,769  - - - -  121,546 57,283 1,497,284 2,330,052

Asia 3,420,427 3,320,696 - - 251,161 - 10,856 15,819 3,682,444 3,336,515

Oceania  - -  94,460 104,588 - - - - 94,460 104,588

Europe 2,741,012 2,714,518  401,340 492,346 - - - - 3,142,352 3,206,864

America 189,037 -  198,995 192,103 - - - - 388,032 192,103

 7,726,214 8,307,983 694,795 789,037 251,161 -  132,402 73,102  8,804,572 9,170,122

Major products 

and services 

lines

Smelting aluminium 

products  6,758,343 7,151,701 - - - - - -  6,758,343 7,151,701

Extrusion aluminium 

products  967,871 1,156,282  694,795 789,037 - - - -  1,662,666 1,945,319

Alumina products - - - - 251,161 - - -  251,161 -

Contracting and 

fabrication - - - - - -  120,681 56,522  120,681 56,522

Others - - - - - -  11,721 16,580  11,721 16,580

 7,726,214 8,307,983 694,795 789,037 251,161 -  132,402 73,102  8,804,572 9,170,122

Timing and 

recognition

At a point in time 7,726,214 8,307,983 694,795 789,037 251,161 - 10,856 15,819 8,683,026 9,112,839

Over time - - - - - - 121,546 57,283 121,546 57,283

7,726,214 8,307,983 694,795 789,037 251,161 -  132,402 73,102 8,804,572 9,170,122
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22. REVENUE  cont’d

 22.2 Nature of goods and services

  The following information reflects the typical transactions of the Group:

Nature of goods

or services

Timing of 

recognition or 

method used

to recognise 

revenue

Significant 

payment terms

Variable

element in 

consideration

Obligation 

for returns or 

refunds Warranty

Smelting 

aluminium 

products

Revenue is 

recognised when 

the goods are 

shipped on board 

evidenced by bill of 

lading.

Credit period of 

0-30 days from 

invoice date.

Not applicable. The Group allows 

returns only for 

exchange with 

new goods (i.e. 

no cash refunds 

are offered).

Not applicable.

Extrusion 

aluminium 

products

Revenue is 

recognised when 

the goods are 

delivered and 

accepted by the 

customers at 

their premises or 

shipped on board 

evidenced by bill of 

lading.

Credit period of 

90 days from 

invoice date.

Not applicable. The Group allows 

returns only for 

exchange with 

new goods (i.e. 

no cash refunds 

are offered).

Not applicable.

Alumina products Revenue is 

recognised when 

the goods are 

shipped on board 

evidenced by bill of 

lading.

Credit period 

of 7 days from 

invoice date.

Not applicable. Not applicable. Not applicable.

Contracting and 

fabrication

Revenue is 

recognised over 

time using the cost 

incurred method.

Based on 

agreed 

milestones, 

certified by 

architects. 

The Group may 

occasionally 

submit variation 

orders (for 

additions or 

omissions) to 

customers based 

on actual work 

performed.

Not applicable. Generally, defect 

liability period of 

2 years is given 

to the customer.
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22. REVENUE  cont’d

 22.3 Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations

  The following table shows revenue from performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) at 

the reporting date. The disclosure is only providing information for contracts that have a duration of more than one 

year.

Group

2020

2019 RM’000

Contracting and fabrication 65,203

2019 2020 Total

2018 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Contracting and fabrication 101,636 71,458 173,094

  The above revenue does not include variable consideration which has not been approved/acknowledged by 

customers.

  The Group applies the following practical expedients:

  • exemption on disclosure of information on remaining performance obligations that have original expected 

durations of one year or less.

  • exemption not to adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing 

component when the period between the transfer of a promised good or service to a customer and when the 

customer pays for that good or service is one year or less.

 22.4 Significant judgements and assumptions arising from revenue recognition

  The Group applied the following judgements and assumptions that significantly affect the determination of the 

amount and timing of revenue recognised from contracts with customers:

  • For contracting and fabrication, the Group measured the performance of work done by comparing the 

actual costs incurred with the estimated total costs required to complete the contracting and fabrication 

work. Significant judgements are required to estimate the total contract costs to complete. In making 

these estimates, management relied on professionals’ estimates and also on past experience of completed 

projects. A change in the estimates will directly affect the revenue to be recognised.

  • For smelting aluminium, extrusion aluminium and alumina products, control of the goods is transferred to the 

customers when the goods are shipped on board evidenced by bill of lading. The Group estimates that the 

revenue from the additional performance obligation, arising from shipping and handling activities provided to 

be recognised over time, is immaterial for separate recognition from the sale of products. 



Annual Report 2019

203Notes to the Financial Statements

Cont’d

23. FINANCE INCOME

 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Interest income of financial assets calculated using the 

effective interest method that are at amortised cost 7,104 5,825 6,326 147

Other finance income 1,765 - 1,765 -

8,869 5,825 8,091 147

24. FINANCE COSTS

 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Interest expense of financial liabilities that are not at fair 

value through profit or loss:

- amortisation of transaction costs 12,976 11,334 - -

- interest paid and payable 167,825 165,241 5,717 -

180,801 176,575 5,717 -

Interest expense on lease liabilities 8,427 - - -

Other finance costs 14,297 15,519 5 -

203,525 192,094 5,722 -
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25. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

crediting:

Auditors’ remunerations

Audit fees:

- KPMG PLT 1,020 907 175 165

- Overseas affiliates of KPMG PLT 66 - - -

- Other auditors 761 766 - -

Non-audit fees:

- KPMG PLT 20 70 20 20

- Local affiliates of KPMG PLT 217 699 - -

- Overseas affiliates of KPMG PLT 16 - - -

- Other auditors 395 86 - -

Material expenses

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 380,090 388,481 10 3

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 23,080 - - -

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment - 7,000 - -

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 1,718 - -

Personnel expenses (including key management 

personnel):

- Contributions to Employees’ Provident Fund 13,304 10,882 2,391 1,865

- Wages, salaries and others 318,716 307,328 14,728 9,242

Property, plant and equipment written off 25,624 34,107 - -

Realised foreign exchange loss 37,358 - 507 -

Unrealised derivative loss 112 436 7,956 -

Unrealised foreign exchange loss 3,505 - 24 -
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25. PROFIT BEFORE TAX  cont’d

 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Material income

Dividend income from subsidiaries - - 240,000 256,771

Gain on dilution of interest in an associate 7,114 - - -

Gain on disposal of asset held for sale 3,065 - - -

Gain on disposal of investments in subsidiaries - - 1,629 32,993

Insurance compensation received - 60,000 - -

Realised derivative gain 14,824 - 14,824 -

Realised foreign exchange gain - 3,911 - 15

Unrealised derivative gain - - 40,453 -

Unrealised foreign exchange gain - 2,130 - 88

Expenses arising from leases

Expenses relating to short-term leases (Note a) 10,504 - 388 -

Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets (Note a) 19 - - -

Rental expense - 14,119 - 185

Net loss/(gain) on impairment of financial 

instruments and contract assets

Financial assets at amortised cost 250 (1,685) - -

 Note a 

 The Group or the Company leases a number of properties, machineries and forklifts with contract terms of not more 

than 1 year. These leases are short-term and/or leases of low-value items. The Group or the Company has elected not 

to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for these leases.
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26. TAX EXPENSE

 Recognised in profit or loss

 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Income tax expense 49,541 97,588 689 -

Share of tax of equity-accounted associates 1,523 1,336 - -

Total income tax expense 51,064 98,924 689 -

Major components of income tax expense include:

Current tax expense

Current year 24,223 22,160 2,646 -

Prior year 9,020 7,958 - -

Total current tax recognised in profit or loss 33,243 30,118 2,646 -

Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 23,149 63,999 (1,957) -

(Over)/Under provision in prior year (6,851) 3,471 - -

Total deferred tax recognised in profit or loss (Note 12) 16,298 67,470 (1,957) -

Share of tax of equity-accounted associates 1,523 1,336 - -

Total income tax expense 51,064 98,924 689 -
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26. TAX EXPENSE  cont’d

 Reconciliation of tax expense

 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Profit for the year 581,676 772,866 275,423 280,404

Total income tax expense 51,064 98,924 689 -

Profit excluding tax 632,740 871,790 276,112 280,404

Income tax calculated using Malaysian tax rate of 24% 

(2018: 24%) 151,858 209,230 66,267 67,297

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 100 382 - -

Non-deductible expenses 35,878 42,470 2,328 2,425

Non-taxable income (2,504) (7,600) (67,906) (69,722)

Tax incentives (135,845) (156,594) - -

Utilisation of previously unrecognised deferred  

tax assets (592) (393) - -

Under provision in prior years 2,169 11,429 - -

51,064 98,924 689 -

 Non-taxable income

 The non-taxable income of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 relate 

to dividend income from subsidiaries and an associate, gain on disposal of subsidiaries and unrealised derivative gain.

 Tax incentives 

 As disclosed in Note 12, PMBTU was awarded Pioneer Status by the MIDA, which entitled PMBTU exemption from 

tax for a period of 5 years from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2017 on 100% of statutory income derived from the 

production of aluminium products. PMBTU was allowed to apply for an additional 5 years exemption upon expiry of the 

first 5 years. 

 In July 2014, the MIDA further granted PMBTU the right to apply for an additional 5 years Pioneer Status, resulting in a 

potential extension of exemption from tax up to 31 December 2027. 

 In December 2017, PMBTU applied for the 5-year extension of Pioneer Status till 31 December 2022, of which the 

application was approved by the MIDA in March 2018.
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27. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE

 Basic earnings per ordinary share

 The calculation of basic earnings per ordinary share was based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders and a 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, calculated as follows:

 Group

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 473,968 618,934

 Group

2019 2018

’000 ’000

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 3,950,846 3,832,781

Effect of exercise of warrants during the year 68,977 61,851

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 4,019,823 3,894,632

 Group

2019 2018

sen sen

Basic earnings per ordinary share 11.79 15.89

 Diluted earnings per ordinary share

 The calculation of diluted earnings per ordinary share was based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders and 

the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for the effects of all dilutive potential 

ordinary shares, calculated as follows:

 Group

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 473,968 618,934
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27. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE  cont’d

 Diluted earnings per ordinary share  cont’d

 Group

2019 2018 

’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December (basic) 4,019,823 3,894,632

Effect of warrants on issue - 80,427

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December (diluted) 4,019,823 3,975,059

 Group

2019 2018

sen sen

Diluted earnings per ordinary share 11.79 15.57

 As at 31 December 2019, there are no dilutive instruments following the expiration of warrants during the financial year. 

In 2018, the average market value of the Company’s shares for purpose of calculating the dilutive effect of warrants was 

based on quoted market prices for the period during which the warrants were outstanding. 

28. DIVIDENDS

 Dividends recognised by the Company:

Sen per

share

Total

amount Date of payment

RM’000

2019

Fourth interim 2018 ordinary 1.50 60,292 2 April 2019

First interim 2019 ordinary 1.25 50,403 28 June 2019

Second interim 2019 ordinary 1.25 50,477 24 September 2019

Third interim 2019 ordinary 1.25 50,477 30 December 2019

Total amount 211,649
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28. DIVIDENDS  cont’d

Sen per

share

Total

amount Date of payment

RM’000

2018

Fourth interim 2017 ordinary 1.50 57,991 3 April 2018

First interim 2018 ordinary 1.50 58,031 19 June 2018

Second interim 2018 ordinary 1.50 58,945 19 September 2018

Third interim 2018 ordinary 2.00 79,011 27 December 2018

Total amount 253,978

 After the end of the reporting period, the following dividend was declared by the Directors and paid on 30 March 2020. 

This dividend will be recognised in subsequent financial period.

Sen per

share

Total

amount

RM’000

Fourth interim 2019 ordinary 1.25 50,477

 The Directors do not recommend any final dividend to be paid for the financial year under review. 

29. OPERATING SEGMENTS 

 The Group has three reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business units. The 

strategic business units offer different products and services, and are managed separately because they require different 

technology and marketing strategies. For each of the strategic business units, the Chief Operating Decision Maker 

(“CODM”) (i.e. the Group’s Chief Executive Officer) reviews internal management reports at least on a quarterly basis. 

The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

 • Smelting and Extrusion Includes manufacturing and trading of smelting and extrusion products 

 • Trading  Includes marketing of aluminium products

 • Refinery  Includes refinery of alumina
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29. OPERATING SEGMENTS  cont’d 

 The manufacturing and trading of smelting and extrusion products are managed by two different segments within the 

Group. These operating segments are aggregated to form a reportable segment as Smelting and Extrusion due to the 

similar nature and economic characteristics of the products. The nature and methods of distribution of the products for 

these divisions are similar. The type of customers for the products are similar, which consist of industrial customers.

 Other non-reportable segments comprise operations related to contracting and fabrication, waste management, 

manufacturing of moulds and dies, investment holding and dormant companies. None of these segments met the 

quantitative thresholds for reporting segments in 2019 and 2018.

 There are varying levels of integration between Smelting and Extrusion reportable segment, Trading reportable segment 

and Refinery reportable segment. This integration includes transfers of raw materials and shared distribution services, 

respectively. Inter-segment pricing is determined on negotiated basis. 

 Performance is measured based on segment profit before tax and interest, as included in the internal management 

reports that are reviewed by the CODM. Segment profit is used to measure performance as management believes that 

such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate 

within these industries.

 Segment assets

 The total of segment assets is measured based on all assets (including goodwill) of a segment, as included in the 

internal management reports that are reviewed by the CODM. Segment total asset is used to measure the return on 

assets of each segment.

 Segment liabilities

 Segment liabilities information is neither included in the internal management reports nor provided regularly to the 

CODM. Hence, no disclosure is made on segment liabilities.

 Segment capital expenditure

 Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the financial year to acquire property, plant and equipment, 

right-of-use assets, investment properties and other investments other than goodwill.
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29. OPERATING SEGMENTS  cont’d 

 Smelting

 and extrusion  Trading  Refinery  Total

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Group RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Segment profit 769,398 1,080,050 32,547 25,787 25,328 - 827,273 1,105,837

Included in the measure 

of segment profit are:

Revenue from external 

customers 7,726,214 8,307,983 694,795 789,037 251,161 - 8,672,170 9,097,020

Inter-segment revenue 440,956 700,598 - - - - 440,956 700,598

Property, plant and 

equipment written off 25,614 34,092 - 13 - - 25,614 34,105

Depreciation and 

amortisation 358,039 383,521 2,419 836 37,262 - 397,720 384,357

Not included in the 

measure of segment 

profit but provided to 

CODM:

Finance costs 102,767 107,174 575 87 8,440 -  111,782 107,261

Finance income 6,690 5,641 34 20 196 -  6,920 5,661

Tax expense 37,013 83,325 7,443 6,706 3,543 - 47,999 90,031

Segment assets 7,991,251 7,942,262 387,452 301,407 1,018,174 - 9,396,877 8,243,669

Included in the measure 

of segment assets are:

Investments in associates 32,440 32,440 - - - - 32,440 32,440

Additions to non-current 

assets other than 

financial instruments 

and deferred tax assets 755,592 301,617 5,973 375 32,158 - 793,723 301,992
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29. OPERATING SEGMENTS  cont’d 

 Reconciliation of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and other material items

2019 2018

Group RM’000 RM’000

Revenue

Total external revenue for reportable segments 8,672,170 9,097,020

Other non-reportable segments 132,402 73,102

Consolidated total 8,804,572 9,170,122

Profit or loss

Total profit or loss for reportable segments  827,273 1,105,837

Other non-reportable segments  (3,741) (37,342)

Elimination of inter-segment profits  (105) (14,082)

Finance income 8,869 5,825

Finance costs (203,525) (192,094)

Share of profit of associates not included in reportable segments 2,446 2,310

Tax expense (49,541) (97,588)

Consolidated total 581,676 772,866

Total assets

Total assets for reportable segments 9,396,877 8,243,669

Other non-reportable segments 575,820 311,761

Elimination of inter-segment balances (312,132) (213,903)

Consolidated total 9,660,565 8,341,527

Depreciation and amortisation

Total depreciation and amortisation for reportable segments 397,720 384,357

Other non-reportable segments 5,896 5,107

Consolidated total 403,616 389,464
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29. OPERATING SEGMENTS  cont’d 

 Reconciliation of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and other material items  cont’d

2019 2018

Group RM’000 RM’000

Finance costs

Total finance costs for reportable segments 111,782 107,261

Other non-reportable segments 91,743 84,833

Consolidated total 203,525 192,094

Finance income

Total finance income for reportable segments 6,920 5,661

Other non-reportable segments 1,949 164

Consolidated total 8,869 5,825

Additions to non-current assets

Total additions to non-current assets for reportable segments 793,723 301,992

Other non-reportable segments 7,381 730

Consolidated total 801,104 302,722

 Geographical segments

 In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on geographical location 

of customers. Segment assets are based on the geographical location of the asset and do not include financial 

instruments and deferred tax assets. 
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29. OPERATING SEGMENTS  cont’d 

 Geographical information

 External revenue  Non-current assets

2019 2018 2019 2018

Group RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Malaysia 1,497,284 2,330,052 4,927,348 4,565,874

Australia 94,460 104,588 928,067 5,858

Asia:

- China 648,047 771,358 440,202 455,120

- India 481,112 420,406 - -

- Singapore 1,718,672 2,074,233 - -

- Others 834,613 70,518 48,719 -

Europe:

- Switzerland 2,477,829 2,378,666 - -

- United Kingdom 412,753 492,346  10,725 9,733

- Others 251,770 335,852 - -

Other countries 388,032 192,103 356 207

8,804,572 9,170,122 6,355,417 5,036,792

 Major customers

 The following are major customers with revenue equal or more than 10% of the Group’s total revenue:

 Revenue Segment

2019 2018

Group RM’000 RM’000

All common control companies of:

Gerald Metal S.A. * 686,972 1,066,166 Smelting and Extrusion

Sumitomo Corporation Asia and Oceania Pte. Ltd. 1,689,976 2,052,664 Smelting and Extrusion

 * This customer contributed more than 10% of the Group’s total revenue during the previous financial year.



Press Metal Aluminium Holdings Berhad

216 Notes to the Financial Statements

Cont’d

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 30.1 Categories of financial instruments

  The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as follows:

  (a) Amortised cost (“AC”)

  (b) Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)

   - Mandatorily required by MFRS 9 

Carrying

amount AC FVTPL

Derivatives

used for

hedging

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

2019

Financial assets

Group

Other investments 1,803 - 1,803 -

Trade and other receivables * 1,215,843 1,215,843 - -

Derivative financial assets 214,921 - - 214,921

Cash and cash equivalents 363,818 363,818 - -

1,796,385 1,579,661 1,803 214,921

  * Excluded goods and services tax claimable
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  cont’d 

 30.1 Categories of financial instruments  cont’d 

  The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as follows:  cont’d

Carrying

amount AC FVTPL

Derivatives

used for

hedging

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Company

Trade and other receivables 1,275,240 1,275,240 - -

Derivative financial assets 40,453 - 40,453 -

Cash and cash equivalents 19,171 19,171 - -

1,334,864 1,294,411 40,453 -

Financial liabilities

Group

Loans and borrowings (3,641,982) (3,641,982) - -

Trade and other payables (917,668) (917,668) - -

Derivative financial liabilities (77,274) - (112) (77,162)

(4,636,924) (4,559,650) (112) (77,162)

Company

Loans and borrowings (1,000,000) (1,000,000) - -

Trade and other payables (116,017) (116,017) - -

Derivative financial liabilities (7,956) - (7,956) -

(1,123,973) (1,116,017) (7,956) -
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  cont’d 

 30.1 Categories of financial instruments  cont’d

  The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as follows:  cont’d

Carrying

amount AC FVTPL

Derivatives

used for

hedging

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

2018

Financial assets

Group

Other investments 1,803 - 1,803 -

Trade and other receivables * 1,242,195 1,242,195 - -

Derivative financial assets 229,886 - - 229,886

Cash and cash equivalents 199,050 199,050 - -

1,672,934 1,441,245 1,803 229,886

Company

Trade and other receivables 144,739 144,739 - -

Cash and cash equivalents 1,036 1,036 - -

145,775 145,775 - -

Financial liabilities

Group

Loans and borrowings (2,984,645) (2,984,645) - -

Trade and other payables (933,891) (933,891) - -

Derivative financial liabilities (202,669) - (436) (202,233)

(4,121,205) (3,918,536) (436) (202,233)

Company

Trade and other payables (31,703) (31,703) - -

  

  * Excluded goods and services tax claimable
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  cont’d 

 30.2 Net gains and losses arising from financial instruments

 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Net gains/(losses) on:

Financial assets at fair value through profit  

or loss:

- Mandatorily required by MFRS 9 - - 40,453 -

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit  

or loss:

- Mandatorily required by MFRS 9 14,712 (436) 6,868 -

Financial assets at amortised cost 13,862 59,272 7,560 250

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (249,381) (239,401) (5,722) -

(220,807) (180,565) 49,159 250

 30.3 Financial risk management

  The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

  • Credit risk

  • Liquidity risk

  • Market risk

 30.4 Credit risk

  Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 

contractual obligations. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises principally from the individual characteristics of 

each customer. The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises principally from loans and advances to subsidiaries 

and financial guarantees given to banks for credit facilities granted to subsidiaries. There are no significant 

changes as compared to prior periods.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  cont’d 

 30.4 Credit risk  cont’d

  Trade receivables and contract assets

  Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

  Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit 

evaluations are performed on customers requiring credit over a certain amount.

  At each reporting date, the Group or the Company assesses whether any of the trade receivables and contract 

assets are credit impaired. 

  The gross carrying amounts of credit impaired trade receivables and contract assets are written off (either partially 

or full) when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group or the Company 

determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to 

repay the amounts subject to the write-off. Nevertheless, trade receivables and contract assets that are written off 

could still be subject to enforcement activities.

  There are no significant changes as compared to previous year.

  Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral

  As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and 

contract assets are represented by the carrying amounts in the statement of financial position.

  The Group does not normally receive financial guarantees given by banks, shareholders or directors of customers 

as the Group transacts with a small pool of customers which have been dealing with the Group for a long period 

of time. Nevertheless, the Directors use ageing analysis to monitor the credit quality of the receivables in managing 

exposure to credit risks.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  cont’d 

 30.4 Credit risk  cont’d

  Trade receivables and contract assets  cont’d

  Concentration of credit risk

  The exposure of credit risk for non-related party trade receivables and contract assets as at the end of the 

reporting period by geographic region was:

 Group

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Domestic  229,770 140,763

Asia  250,308 393,469

Oceania  45,570 26,671

Europe  255,750 265,322

America  14,003 46,056

795,401 872,281

  Recognition and measurement of impairment loss

  In managing credit risk of trade receivables, the Group manages its debtors and takes appropriate actions 

(including but not limited to legal actions) to recover long overdue balances. Generally, trade receivables will pay 

within 180 days. The Group’s debt recovery process is as follows:

  a) Above 90 days past due after credit term, the Group will start to initiate a structured debt recovery process 

which is monitored by the sales management team; and

  b) The Group will commence a legal proceeding against the customer who fails to pay after the Group initiates 

the debt recovery process.

  As the Group does not deal with a large pool of customers, the Group assessed the risk of loss of each customer 

individually based on their financial information, past trend of payments and external credit ratings, where 

applicable. All of these customers have low risk of default, except for those which have been credit impaired.

  The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and expected credit losses for non-

related party trade receivables and contract assets which are grouped together as they are expected to have 

similar risk nature.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  cont’d 

 30.4 Credit risk  cont’d

  Trade receivables and contract assets  cont’d

  Recognition and measurement of impairment loss  cont’d

Gross 

carrying 

amount

Loss 

allowance

Net

balance

Group RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

2019

Current (not past due)  545,433 -  545,433 

1 - 90 days past due  203,385 -  203,385 

More than 90 days past due 46,583 - 46,583

795,401 - 795,401

Credit impaired

Individually impaired 8,080 8,080 -

803,481 8,080 795,401

Trade receivables 803,407 8,080 795,327

Contract assets 74 - 74

803,481 8,080 795,401

2018

Current (not past due) 614,613 - 614,613

1 - 90 days past due 194,905 - 194,905

More than 90 days past due 62,763 - 62,763

872,281 - 872,281

Credit impaired

Individually impaired 7,246 7,246 -

879,527 7,246 872,281

Trade receivables 879,433 7,246 872,187

Contract assets 94 - 94

879,527 7,246 872,281
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  cont’d 

 30.4 Credit risk  cont’d

  Trade receivables and contract assets  cont’d

  Recognition and measurement of impairment loss  cont’d

  The movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of non-related party trade receivables and contract 

assets during the year are shown below:

Trade 

receivables

Credit 

impaired

Contract 

assets Total

Group RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Balance at 1 January 2018 9,122 - 9,122

Amounts written off (75) - (75)

Net remeasurement of loss allowance (1,685) - (1,685)

Effect of movements in exchange rate (116) - (116)

Balance at 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 7,246 - 7,246

Assumed in a business combination 1,461 - 1,461

Amounts written off (773) - (773)

Net remeasurement of loss allowance 250 - 250

Effect of movements in exchange rate (104) - (104)

Balance at 31 December 2019 8,080 - 8,080

  As at 31 December 2019, all of the trade receivables written off are still subject to enforcement activity.

  Increase in the Group’s credit impaired balance in the trading business mainly contributed to the changes in the 

impairment loss allowance during 2019.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  cont’d 

 30.4 Credit risk  cont’d

  Cash and cash equivalents 

  The cash and cash equivalents are held with banks and financial institutions. As at the end of the reporting 

period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their carrying amounts in the statement of financial 

position. 

  These banks and financial institutions have low credit risks. In addition, some of the bank balances are insured by 

government agencies. Consequently, the Group and the Company are of the view that the loss allowance is not 

material and hence, it is not provided for.

  Other receivables

  Credit risks on other receivables are mainly arising from advances made to purchasing agents for the procurement 

of capital work-in-progress, spare parts and materials on behalf of the Group entities and deposits paid for office 

buildings and fixtures rented. These advances will be netted off with the future receipt of procured items and 

the deposits will be received at the end of each lease term. The Group manages the credit risk together with the 

leasing arrangement.

  As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their carrying amounts 

in the statement of financial position. The Group has credit risk concentration arising from other receivables 

amounting to RM274,339,000 (2018: RM205,260,000) in relation to the advances made to purchasing agents.

  As at the end of the reporting period, the Group did not recognise any allowance for impairment losses.

  Investments and derivative financial instruments 

  Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

  Investments are allowed only in liquid securities. Transactions involving derivative financial instruments are with 

approved financial institutions.

  Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral

  As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has only invested in domestic securities. The derivative contracts 

were entered into with approved financial institutions. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the 

carrying amounts in the statement of financial position.

  In view of the sound credit rating of counterparties, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet 

its obligations. The Group is of the view that the loss allowance is not material and hence, it is not provided for.

  The investments are unsecured.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  cont’d 

 30.4 Credit risk  cont’d

  Financial guarantees

  Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

  The Company provides unsecured financial guarantees to banks and suppliers in respect of banking facilities 

and credit terms granted to certain subsidiaries. The Company monitors the ability of the subsidiaries to fulfill the 

contracts and service their repayments on an individual basis.

  Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral

  The maximum exposure to credit risk of the Company amounts to RM2,852,871,000 (2018: RM3,117,924,000) as 

at the end of the reporting period. 

  Recognition and measurement of impairment loss

  The Company assumes that there is a significant increase in credit risk when a subsidiary’s financial position 

deteriorates significantly. The Company considers a financial guarantee to be credit impaired when:

  • The subsidiary is unlikely to repay its credit obligation to the bank in full; or

  • The subsidiary is unlikely to repay its amounts owing to the supplier in full; or

  • The subsidiary is continuously loss making and is having a deficit shareholders’ fund.

  The Company determines the probability of default of the guaranteed loans individually using internal information 

available. 

  As at the end of the reporting period, there was no indication that any subsidiary would default on repayment.

  The financial guarantees have not been recognised since the fair value on initial recognition was not material.

  Inter-company receivables and loans and advances

  Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

  The Group trades with associates and provides unsecured loans and advances to an associate. The Company 

provides unsecured loans and advances to subsidiaries. The Group and the Company monitor the ability of the 

subsidiaries and associates to repay the loans and advances on an individual basis.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  cont’d 

 30.4 Credit risk  cont’d

  Inter-company receivables and loans and advances  cont’d

  Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral

  As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their carrying 

amounts in the statement of financial position.

  Loans and advances provided are not secured by any collateral or supported by any other credit enhancements.

  Recognition and measurement of impairment loss

  Generally, the Group and the Company consider receivables and loans and advances to subsidiaries and 

associates to have low credit risk. The Group and the Company assume that there is a significant increase in 

credit risk when a subsidiary’s and associate’s financial position deteriorates significantly. As the Group and the 

Company are able to determine the timing of payments of the subsidiaries’ and associates’ loans and advances 

when they are payable, the Group and the Company consider the loans and advances to be in default when 

the subsidiaries and associates are not able to pay when demanded. The Group and the Company consider a 

subsidiary’s and associate’s loan or advance to be credit impaired when:

  • The subsidiary or associate is unlikely to repay its loan or advance to the Group or to the Company in full; or

  • The subsidiary or associate is continuously loss making and is having a deficit shareholders’ fund.

  The Group and the Company determine the probability of default for these loans and advances individually using 

internal information available.

  As at the end of the reporting period, there was no indication that the receivables and loans and advances to 

subsidiaries and associates are not recoverable. As these amounts are considered to have low credit risk, the 

Group and the Company are of the view that the loss allowance is not material and hence, it is not provided for.

 30.5 Liquidity risk

  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 

Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises principally from its various payables, loans and borrowings.

  The Group maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents and bank facilities deemed adequate by management to 

ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall due. 

  It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at 

significantly different amounts.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  cont’d 

 30.5 Liquidity risk  cont’d

  Maturity analysis

  The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting 

period based on undiscounted contractual payments:

Group

Carrying

amount

Contractual 

interest rate/

coupon/

discount 

rate

Contractual

cash flows

Under 1

year

1 - 2

years

2 - 5

years

More than

5 years

2019 RM’000 % RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Non-derivative financial 

liabilities

Trade and other payables 917,668 - 917,668 917,668 - - -

Bank loans 802,331 * 849,244 418,108  165,229  265,530  377 

Senior Notes 1,622,359 4.80  1,872,958  78,586  78,586  1,715,786 -

Islamic Medium-Term Notes 1,000,000 2.69 - 2.94  1,186,675  27,745  27,745  633,235  497,950 

Revolving credits 25,589 5.22 25,862 25,862 - - -

Bankers’ acceptances 191,487 2.08 - 5.93 191,487 191,487 - - -

Bank overdrafts 216 7.57 216 216 - - -

Lease liabilities 219,162 1.98 - 8.00 315,250  29,393  25,231  54,226  206,400 

4,778,812 5,359,360 1,689,065 296,791 2,668,777 704,727

Derivative financial liabilities

Commodity swaps 71,584 - 71,584 20,807 50,777 - -

Forward exchange contracts 

(gross settled):

Outflow - -  9,306,004  2,110,760  1,416,404  3,132,763  2,646,077 

Inflow (58,710) -  (9,364,714)  (2,141,291)  (1,434,305) (3,148,708)  (2,640,410)

4,791,686 5,372,234 1,679,341 329,667 2,652,832 710,394

  * Represents lenders’ cost of funds ranging from a margin of -2.30% to +1.75% per annum. 
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 30.5 Liquidity risk  cont’d

  Maturity analysis  cont’d

Group

Carrying

amount

Contractual 

interest rate/

coupon/

discount 

rate

Contractual

cash flows

Under 1

year

1 - 2

years

2 - 5

years

More than

5 years

2018 RM’000 % RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Non-derivative financial 

liabilities

Trade and other payables 933,891 - 933,891 933,891 - - -

Bank loans 710,042 * 789,453 369,140 154,370 264,793 1,150

Senior Notes 1,634,110 4.80 1,972,045 79,411 79,411 1,813,223 -

Revolving credits 56,078 4.65 - 5.22 57,137 57,137 - - -

Bankers’ acceptances 570,130 2.75 - 5.35 570,130 570,130 - - -

Bank overdrafts 139 7.56 139 139 - - -

Finance lease liabilities 14,146 1.98 - 4.50 16,137 6,305 5,185 4,446 201

3,918,536 4,338,932 2,016,153 238,966 2,082,462 1,351

Derivative financial liabilities

Commodity swaps 201,627 201,627 180,922 20,705 - -

Forward exchange contracts 

(gross settled):

Outflow - -  2,971,266 1,740,239 1,175,000 56,027 -

Inflow (14,677) -  (2,985,943) (1,754,807) (1,174,922)  (56,214) -

4,105,486 4,525,882 2,182,507 259,749 2,082,275 1,351

  * Represents lenders’ cost of funds ranging from a margin of -2.30% to +3.00% per annum. 
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 30.5 Liquidity risk  cont’d

  Maturity analysis  cont’d

  The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting 

period based on undiscounted contractual payments:

Company

Carrying

amount

Contractual

interest rate

Contractual

cash flows

Under 1

year

1 - 2

years

2 - 5

years

More than

5 years

2019 RM’000 % RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Non-derivative financial 

liabilities

Trade and other payables 116,017 - 116,017 116,017 - - -

Islamic Medium-Term Notes 1,000,000 2.69 - 2.94  1,186,675  27,745  27,745  633,235  497,950 

Financial guarantees - - 2,852,871 2,852,871 - - -

1,116,017 4,155,563 2,996,633 27,745 633,235 497,950

Derivative financial liabilities

Commodity swaps 7,956 - 7,956 184 7,772 - -

1,123,973 4,163,519 2,996,817 35,517 633,235 497,950

2018

Non-derivative financial 

liabilities

Trade and other payables 31,703 - 31,703 31,703 - - -

Financial guarantees - - 3,117,924 3,117,924 - - -

31,703 3,149,627 3,149,627 - - -

 30.6 Market risk

  Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and other 

prices that will affect the Group’s financial position or cash flows.
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 30.6 Market risk  cont’d

  30.6.1 Currency risk

   The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases, cash and cash equivalents and 

borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group 

entities. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Australian Dollar (“AUD”), Hong Kong Dollar 

(“HKD”), Renminbi (“RMB”), Singapore Dollar (“SGD”), U.S. Dollar (“USD”), Euro (“EUR”) and Great Britain 

Pound (“GBP”).

   Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

   The Group actively monitors its exposure to foreign currency risk and uses forward exchange contracts 

and cross currency swaps to mitigate the risk when the need arises. Most of the forward exchange 

contracts and cross currency swaps have maturities of less than five years after the end of the reporting 

period. Where necessary, the forward exchange contracts are rolled over at maturity.
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 30.6 Market risk  cont’d

  30.6.1 Currency risk  cont’d

   Exposure to foreign currency risk

   The Group’s exposure to foreign currency (a currency which is other than the functional currency of the 

Group entities) risk, based on carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Trade 

and other 

receivables

Cash

and cash

equivalents

Net 

derivative 

assets - 

Commodity 

swaps

Net 

derivative 

assets - 

Forward 

exchange 

contracts

Loans

and 

borrowings

Trade 

and other 

payables

Net 

exposure

Group RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Functional

currency

Foreign

currency

2019

RM AUD - 28,503 - - - - 28,503

RM RMB 295,166 311 - - - (39,363) 256,114

RM SGD 7,108 748 - - - - 7,856

RM USD 307,767 64,044 38,484   50,517 (479,835) (234,947) (253,970)

RM EUR 3,208 1,337 - - - (22) 4,523

RMB USD 6,901 14,469 - - - (7,274) 14,096

RMB EUR 4,536 3,046 - - - (1,387) 6,195

RMB GBP 43,742 26,816 - - (64,438) (18) 6,102

RMB SGD 414 141 - - - (1,486) (931)

AUD USD - - - 8,193 - - 8,193

HKD USD - 3,437 - - - - 3,437

HKD RMB - 1,732 - - - - 1,732
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 30.6 Market risk  cont’d

  30.6.1 Currency risk  cont’d

   Exposure to foreign currency risk  cont’d

Trade 

and other 

receivables

Cash

and cash

equivalents

Net 

derivative 

assets - 

Commodity 

swaps

Net 

derivative 

assets - 

Forward 

exchange 

contracts

Loans

and 

borrowings

Trade 

and other 

payables

Net 

exposure

Group RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Functional

currency

Foreign

currency

2018

RM AUD - 36 - - - - 36

RM HKD - - - - - (690) (690)

RM RMB 205,260 12 - - - (98,339) 106,933

RM SGD 6,674 248                -                - - -  6,922

RM USD 392,535 20,096 30,140 14,677 (714,372) (385,942) (642,866)

RM EUR 6,160 13 - - - (22) 6,151

RMB USD 2,934 5,212 (17,600) - - - (9,454)

RMB EUR 5,445 3,982 - - - - 9,427

RMB GBP 1,013 33,650 - - (79,989) - (45,326)

HKD USD - 4,542 - - - - 4,542

HKD RMB - 1,732 - - - - 1,732

2019 2018

Company RM’000 RM’000

Denominated in USD

Net derivative liabilities - Commodity swaps (7,956) -
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 30.6 Market risk  cont’d

  30.6.1 Currency risk  cont’d

   Currency risk sensitivity analysis

   Foreign currency risk mainly arises from USD and RMB against RM. The exposure to other currencies is 

not material and hence, sensitivity analysis is not presented.

   A 10% (2018: 10%) strengthening of RM against the following currencies at the end of the reporting period 

would have increased/(decreased) equity and post-tax profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This 

analysis is based on foreign currency exchange rate variances that the Group considered to be reasonably 

possible at the end of the reporting period. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 

interest rates, remained constant and ignores any impact of forecasted transactions.

 Equity

 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

USD against RM 1,013 18,598 - -

 Profit of loss

 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

USD and RMB against RM

- USD 18,289 30,260 605 -

- RMB (19,465) (8,127) - -

(1,176) 22,133 605 -

   A 10% (2018: 10%) weakening of RM against the above currencies at the end of the reporting period 

would have had equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the 

basis that all other variables remained constant.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  cont’d 

 30.6 Market risk  cont’d

  30.6.2 Interest rate risk

   The Group’s fixed rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in their fair value due to changes in 

interest rates. The Group’s variable rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in cash flows due to 

changes in interest rates. Investments in equity securities and short-term receivables and payables are not 

significantly exposed to interest rate risk.

   Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

   Interest rate exposure arising from the Group’s borrowings is managed through the use of fixed and 

floating rate debts. The Group will consider entering into derivative financial instruments where necessary 

to achieve an appropriate mix of fixed and floating rate exposure within the Group’s policy.

   Exposure to interest rate risk

   The interest rate profile of the Group’s and the Company’s significant interest-bearing financial instruments, 

based on carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Fixed rate instruments

Financial assets 25,881 11,760 987,672 -

Financial liabilities (2,622,359) (1,648,256) (1,000,000) -

(2,596,478) (1,636,496) (12,328) -

Floating rate instruments

Financial liabilities (1,019,623) (1,336,389) - -

  

   Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis

   Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

   The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 

or loss, and the Group does not designate derivatives as hedging instruments under a fair value hedge 

accounting model. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period would not affect 

profit or loss. 
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 30.6 Market risk  cont’d

  30.6.2 Interest rate risk  cont’d

   Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis  cont’d

   Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

   A change of 30 basis points (“bp”) in interest rates at the end of the reporting period would have 

increased/(decreased) post-tax profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all 

other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remained constant.

 Profit or loss

 2019  2018

30 bp

increase

30 bp

decrease

30 bp

increase

30 bp

decrease

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

Floating rate instruments (2,325) 2,325 (3,047) 3,047

  30.6.3 Other price risk

   Other price risk arises from price fluctuation risk mainly on aluminium related products. The Group is 

exposed to commodity price risk due to fluctuations in aluminium prices. The Group’s aluminium products 

are generally priced with reference to the London Metal Exchange (“LME”) aluminium rates. The Group has 

entered into commodity swaps to manage its exposure to movements in LME aluminium rates (see Note 

30.7.2).

   Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

   The Group mitigates its risk to the price volatility through establishing fixed price level that the Group 

considers acceptable and where deemed prudent, entering into commodity fixed price contracts. 
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 30.6 Market risk  cont’d

  30.6.3 Other price risk  cont’d

   Commodity price risk sensitivity analysis

   A 10% (2018: 10%) increase in LME aluminium rates at the end of the reporting period would have 

increased/(decreased) equity and post-tax profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis 

assumes that all other variables remained constant.

 Equity  Profit or loss

 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

10% increase in LME aluminium rates (2,925) (953) 605 -

   A 10% (2018: 10%) decrease in LME aluminium rates would have had equal but opposite effect to the 

amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remained constant.

 30.7 Hedging activities

  30.7.1 Currency risk – Transactions in foreign currency

   The Group is exposed to transactional foreign currency risk to the extent that there is a mismatch between 

the currency in which sales are denominated and the respective functional currencies of the Group entities. 

The functional currencies of Group entities are primarily the Malaysian Ringgit (“MYR”). The currency in 

which these sales transactions are primarily denominated is U.S. Dollars (“USD”).

   The Group’s risk management policy is to hedge up to 65% of its estimated foreign currency exposure 

in respect of forecast sales collection over the following 12 to 36 months at any point in time. The Group 

purchases forward foreign exchange contracts and borrows in USD to hedge foreign sales transactions. 

The Group designates the forward foreign exchange contracts and foreign currency loans and borrowings 

in their entirety to hedge its currency risk and applies a hedge ratio of 1:1. Most of these contracts have 

a maturity of less than 5 years from the reporting date while the term of the foreign currency loans and 

borrowings ranges from 1 to 3 years. The Group determines the critical terms of the forward exchange 

contracts and foreign currency loans and borrowings to align with the hedged items.

   During the year, the Group and the Company also entered into a cross currency swap to swap their RM 

Islamic Medium-Term Notes (see Note 19.4) to USD. The proceeds from the Islamic Medium-Term Notes 

were advanced to Press Metal Bintulu Sdn. Bhd. for its daily operations, and the swap was performed to 

manage the Group’s exposure to USD and RM within the Group’s policy.
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 30.7 Hedging activities  cont’d

  30.7.1 Currency risk – Transactions in foreign currency  cont’d

   The Group determines the existence of an economic relationship between the hedging instrument and 

hedged item based on the currency, amount and timing of their respective cash flows. The Group assesses 

whether the derivatives and foreign currency loans and borrowings designated in each hedging relationship 

are expected to be and have been effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item.

   In these hedge relationships, the main sources of ineffectiveness are:

   • the effect of the counterparty and the Group’s own credit risk on the fair value of the forward foreign 

exchange contracts, which is not reflected in the change in the fair value of the hedged cash flows 

attributable to the change in exchange rates; and

   • changes in the timing of the hedged transactions.

  30.7.2 Commodity price risk

   The Group is exposed to commodity price risk due to fluctuations in aluminium prices. The Group’s 

aluminium products are generally priced with reference to the London Metal Exchange (“LME”) aluminium 

rates.

   The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that up to 65% of its commodity price risk exposure is at a 

fixed rate. This is achieved by entering into commodity swaps as hedges of the variability in cash flows 

attributable to movements in commodity prices. The Group adjusts its hedge ratio for each commodity 

contract entered to minimise the potential ineffectiveness arising from such contracts.

   The Group determines the existence of an economic relationship between the hedging instrument and 

hedged item based on the reference commodity prices, tenors, maturities and the notional or par amounts. 

The Group assesses whether the derivatives designated in each hedging relationship are expected to be 

and have been effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item.

   In these hedge relationships, the main sources of ineffectiveness are:

   • the differences in grades of aluminium produced by the Group and those provided in derivative 

contracts by financial institutions for the Group to enter into; and

   • changes in the timing of the hedged transactions.
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 30.7 Hedging activities  cont’d

  30.7.3 Cash flow hedge

   At 31 December 2019, the Group held the following instruments to hedge exposures to changes in foreign 

currency and commodity prices.

 Nominal values 

 Maturity

Group

Under 

1 year

1 - 2 

years

2 - 5 

years

More than

 5 years

2019 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Foreign currency risk

Loans and borrowings  163,720  102,325  184,185  - 

Forward exchange contracts

Net exposure 2,126,995  1,434,305  3,148,708  2,640,410

Average MYR:USD forward contract 4.184 4.213 4.279 4.332

Average AUD:USD forward contract 0.694 - - -

Average CNY:USD forward contract 7.093 - - -

Cross currency swaps

Net exposure - - 550,000 450,000

Average MYR:USD cross currency swaps - - 4.187 4.187

Commodity price risk

Commodity swaps

Net exposure  2,533,080  2,754,738  55,116 -

Average USD/MT commodity swaps 1,978 2,022 1,945               -

2018

Foreign currency risk

Loans and borrowings 82,720 82,720 124,080 -

Forward exchange contracts

Net exposure 1,715,860 1,174,922 56,214 -

Average MYR:USD forward contract 4.169 4.166 4.241 -

Commodity price risk

Commodity swaps

Net exposure 7,249,166 565,629 - -

Average USD/MT commodity swaps 2,020 1,994 -               -
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 30.7 Hedging activities  cont’d

  30.7.3 Cash flow hedge  cont’d

   The amounts at the reporting date relating to items designated as hedged items were as follows:

Group

Cash flow 

hedge 

reserve

Balances remaining in 

the cash flow hedge 

reserve from hedging 

relationships for which 

hedge accounting is no 

longer applied

2019 RM’000 RM’000

Foreign currency risk

Forecast sales – Loans and borrowings (10,640) (8,675)

Forecast sales – Forward exchange contracts 54,194 -

Forecast sales – Cross currency swaps 40,453 -

Commodity price risk

Forecast sales – Commodity swaps 38,513 -

Total hedging reserve 122,520

Non-controlling interests share of hedging reserve (30,016)

Hedging reserve attributable to owners of the Company 92,504



Press Metal Aluminium Holdings Berhad

240 Notes to the Financial Statements

Cont’d
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 30.7 Hedging activities  cont’d

  30.7.3 Cash flow hedge  cont’d

Group

Cash flow 

hedge 

reserve

Balances remaining in 

the cash flow hedge 

reserve from hedging 

relationships for which 

hedge accounting is no 

longer applied

2018 RM’000 RM’000

Foreign currency risk

Forecast sales – Loans and borrowings (22,456) (19,061)

Forecast sales – Forward exchange contracts 15,113 -

Commodity price risk

Forecast sales – Commodity swaps 12,852 -

Total hedging reserve 5,509

Non-controlling interests share of hedging reserve (40,177)

Hedging reserve attributable to owners of the Company (34,668)
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 30.7 Hedging activities  cont’d

  30.7.3 Cash flow hedge  cont’d

   The amounts relating to items designated as hedging instruments are as follows:

 Carrying amount

Line item in the 

statement of financial 

position where the 

hedging instrument is 

included

Group

Nominal 

amount Assets Liabilities

2019 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency loans and 

borrowings 450,230 - (1,965) Loans and borrowings

Forward exchange contracts 9,350,418  64,400 (5,578)

Derivative financial 

assets/(liabilities)

Cross currency swaps 1,000,000 40,453 -

Derivative financial 

assets

Commodity price risk

Commodity swaps 5,342,934  110,068  (71,584)

Derivative financial 

assets/(liabilities)

2018

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency loans and 

borrowings 289,520 - (3,395) Loans and borrowings

Forward exchange contracts 2,946,997 15,719 (606)

Derivative financial 

assets/(liabilities)

Commodity price risk

Commodity swaps 7,814,795 214,167 (201,627)

Derivative financial 

assets/(liabilities)
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  cont’d 

 30.7 Hedging activities  cont’d

  30.7.3 Cash flow hedge  cont’d

Group

Changes in 

the value 

of hedging 

instrument 

recognised 

in other 

comprehensive 

income

Amount 

reclassified 

from hedge 

reserve to 

profit or loss

Line item in profit 

or loss affected

by the 

reclassification

2019 RM’000 RM’000

Foreign currency risk

Loans and borrowings 1,435 10,381 Other expenses

Forward exchange contracts 34,453 4,628 Other expenses

Cross currency swaps 40,453 - -

Commodity price risk

Commodity swaps 259,144 (233,483) Revenue

2018

Foreign currency risk

Loans and borrowings (26,886) 24,027 Other expenses

Forward exchange contracts (153,269) 5,940 Other expenses

Commodity price risk

Commodity swaps 650,719 102,410 Revenue

   The hedge ineffectiveness arising from the above items is immaterial to be recognised in profit or loss for 

both the current and previous financial years.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  cont’d 

 30.7 Hedging activities  cont’d

  30.7.3 Cash flow hedge  cont’d

   The following table provides reconciliation by risk category of components of equity and analysis of OCI 

items, resulting from cash flow hedge accounting.

Group  Hedging reserve

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Balance at 1 January 5,509 (597,432)

Cash flow hedge

Net hedging gain/(loss):

Foreign currency risk 76,341 (180,155)

Commodity price risk 259,144 650,719

Amount reclassified to profit or loss:

Foreign currency risk 15,009 29,967

Commodity price risk (233,483) 102,410

117,011 602,941

Balance at 31 December 122,520 5,509

Hedging reserve attributable to:

Owners of the Company 92,504 (34,668)

Non-controlling interests 30,016 40,177

Balance at 31 December 122,520 5,509



Press Metal Aluminium Holdings Berhad

244 Notes to the Financial Statements

Cont’d

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  cont’d 

 30.8 Fair value information 

  The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, short-term receivables and payables and short-term 

borrowings reasonably approximate their fair values due to the relatively short-term nature of these financial 

instruments.

  The carrying amounts of loans to a subsidiary and Islamic Medium-Term Notes also approximate fair values upon 

discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 

time value of money and the risks specific to the assets and liabilities. The table below analyses other financial 

instruments at fair value.

Fair value of financial instruments 

carried at fair value

Fair value of financial instruments not 

carried at fair value Total fair 

value

Carrying

amountLevel 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Group RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

2019

Financial assets

Unquoted shares - - 1,803 1,803 - - - - 1,803 1,803

Derivatives - 214,921 - 214,921 - - - - 214,921 214,921

- 214,921 1,803 216,724 - - - - 216,724 216,724

Financial liabilities

Derivatives - (77,274) - (77,274) - - - - (77,274) (77,274)

Bank loans - - - - - - (1,019,623) (1,019,623) (1,019,623) (1,019,623)

Senior Notes - - - - - - (1,696,831) (1,696,831) (1,696,831) (1,622,359)

- (77,274) - (77,274) - -  (2,716,454)  (2,716,454)  (2,793,728)  (2,719,256)

2018

Financial assets

Unquoted shares - - 1,803 1,803 - - - - 1,803 1,803

Derivatives - 229,886 - 229,886 - - - - 229,886 229,886

- 229,886 1,803 231,689 - - - - 231,689 231,689
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  cont’d 

 30.8 Fair value information  cont’d

Fair value of financial instruments 

carried at fair value

Fair value of financial instruments not 

carried at fair value Total fair

value

Carrying

amountLevel 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Group cont’d RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

2018

Financial liabilities

Derivatives - (202,669) - (202,669) - - - - (202,669) (202,669)

Bank loans - - - - - - (1,350,535) (1,350,535) (1,350,535) (1,350,535)

Senior Notes - - - - - - (1,634,110) (1,634,110) (1,634,110) (1,634,110)

- (202,669) - (202,669) - - (2,984,645) (2,984,645) (3,187,314)  (3,187,314)

Company

2019

Financial assets

Amounts due from 

subsidiaries - - - - - - 140,557 140,557 140,557 148,567

Derivatives - 40,453 - 40,453 - - - - 40,453 40,453

- 40,453 - 40,453 - - 140,557 140,557 181,010 189,020

Financial liabilities

Derivatives - (7,956) - (7,956) - - - - (7,956) (7,956)

2018

Financial assets

Amounts due from 

subsidiaries - - - - - - 69,704 69,704 69,704 74,452
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  cont’d 

 30.8 Fair value information  cont’d

  Level 2 fair value

  Derivatives 

  The fair value of derivatives is determined by reference to statements provided by the respective financial 

institutions with which these contracts were entered into.

  Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair values

  There has been no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2 fair values during the financial year (2018: no transfer in 

either direction).

  Level 3 fair value

  Valuation process applied by the Group for Level 3 fair value

  For financial instruments not carried at fair value, the Group has applied discounted cash flows valuation 

technique using a rate based on the current market rate of borrowings of the respective Group entities at the 

reporting date in the determination of fair values within Level 3. The Group Financial Controller has overall 

responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value measurements, including Level 3 fair values. 

31. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

 The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain a strong capital base and safeguard the Group’s ability 

to continue as a going concern, so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 

development of the business. The Directors monitor and are determined to maintain an optimal debt-to-equity ratio that 

complies with debt covenants and regulatory requirements.
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31. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  cont’d

 The debt-to-equity ratios at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 were as follows:

 Group

Note 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Loans and borrowings 19 3,641,982 2,984,645

Lease liabilities 219,162 -

Less: Cash and cash equivalents 16 (363,818) (199,050)

Net debt 3,497,326 2,785,595

Total equity 4,479,716 4,027,585

Debt-to-equity ratio 0.78 0.69

 There was no change in the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial year. 

 The Group has not breached any of the loan covenants disclosed in Note 19.

32. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

 Group

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Capital expenditure commitments

Property, plant and equipment

Contracted but not provided for 800,000 10,000

 As at 31 December 2019, the capital expenditure commitments relate to the construction of Phase 3 of PMBTU’s 

smelter plant in Samalaju. 
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33. RELATED PARTIES 

 Identity of related parties

 For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group or the 

Company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or jointly control the party or exercise significant influence over 

the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group or the Company and the party 

are subject to common control. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

 Related parties also include key management personnel defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for 

planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group either directly or indirectly. The key management personnel 

include all the Directors of the Group. 

 The Group has related party relationship with its significant investors, subsidiaries, associates and key management 

personnel. In the context of these financial statements, associates also include the subsidiaries of the associates.
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33. RELATED PARTIES  cont’d 

 Significant related party transactions 

 Related party transactions have been entered into in the normal course of business under negotiated terms. The 

significant related party transactions of the Group and of the Company are shown below. The balances related to the 

below transactions are shown in Notes 13 and 21.

 Group  Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

A. Subsidiaries

Dividend income - - (240,000) (256,771)

Management fee income - - - (2,400)

Consultancy fee income - - (21,474) (12,696)

Gain on disposal of investments in subsidiaries - - (1,629) (32,993)

Interest income on loans - - (6,182) -

Back charge of transactions costs of Islamic 

 Medium-Term Notes - - (3,195) -

Rental expense on properties - - 360 180

B. Associates

Dividend income - - (859) (644)

Interest income on ICULS (1,765) - (1,765) -

Sale of goods (152,440) (207,885) - -

Purchase of goods 323,713 26,252 - -

Reimbursement of lease payments (198) (194) - -

Acquisition of subsidiaries 44,386 - - -

C. Directors

- Fees 504 433 504 433

- Remuneration 11,087 10,361 9,271 8,596

Total short-term employee benefits 11,591 10,794 9,775 9,029

Lease payments * 720 720 - -

12,311 11,514 9,775 9,029

 * As at 31 December 2019, the outstanding balances related to this transaction of RM1,365,000 is included in lease 

liabilities balances.
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

 2019

 34.1 Acquisition of a joint operation

  In February 2019, the Group, via its 80% owned subsidiary, PMBTU, acquired 50% equity interest in Japan 

Alumina Associates (Australia) Pty. Ltd. (“JAA”) for RM442,093,000, satisfied in cash. The acquisition of JAA is 

strategic for the Group in ensuring its long-term access to raw material which reduces its exposure and reliance 

on third party suppliers. In the ten months to 31 December 2019, the joint operation contributed revenue of 

RM251,161,000 and profit of RM6,743,000. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2019, management 

estimates that consolidated revenue contributed by the joint operation would have been RM297,764,000, and 

consolidated profit for the financial year contributed by the joint operation would have been RM13,747,000. In 

determining these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments that arose on the date of 

acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2019.

  The following summarises the major classes of consideration transferred and the recognised amounts of assets 

and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

Group

2019

RM’000

Fair value of consideration transferred

Cash and cash equivalents 442,093

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Note

Property, plant and equipment 3 745,550

Right-of-use assets 4 173,238

Intangible assets 7 633

Trade and other receivables 3,728

Prepayments and other assets 16,760

Inventories 59,815

Derivative financial assets 1,202

Cash and cash equivalents 60,831

Loans and borrowings (313,751)

Lease liabilities (173,902)

Provisions 20 (84,248)

Deferred tax liabilities 12 (26,433)

Trade and other payables (29,819)

Total identifiable net assets 433,604
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS  cont’d

 2019  cont’d

 34.1 Acquisition of a joint operation  cont’d

Group

2019

RM’000

Net cash outflow arising from acquisition of joint operation

Purchase consideration settled in cash and cash equivalents (442,093)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 60,831

(381,262)

Goodwill

Goodwill was recognised as a result of the acquisition as follows:

Total consideration transferred 442,093

Fair value of identifiable net assets (433,604)

Goodwill 8,489

  The goodwill is attributable mainly to the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating the joint operation 

into the Group’s existing aluminium manufacturing operations. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be 

deductible for income tax purposes.

  Acquisition-related costs

  The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of RM4,140,000 related to external legal fees and due diligence 

costs. The legal fees and due diligence costs have been included in administrative expenses in the Group’s 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS  cont’d

 2019  cont’d

 34.2 Acquisition of subsidiaries of an associate 

  On 19 December 2019, the Group, via its wholly-owned subsidiary, PMBK, completed its acquisition of the entire 

equity interests in the following subsidiaries of PMBT, for RM44,386,000, satisfied in cash:

  • PMB Central Sdn. Bhd. 

  • PMB Northern Sdn. Bhd. 

  • PMB Eastern Sdn. Bhd. 

  • PMB Aluminium Sabah Sdn. Bhd.

  The contributions of revenue and profit from these subsidiaries from 19 to 31 December 2019 are not material. If 

the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2019, management estimates that consolidated revenue contributed by 

these subsidiaries would have been RM158,651,000, and consolidated profit for the financial year contributed by 

these subsidiaries would have been RM3,070,000. In determining these amounts, management has assumed that 

the fair value adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had 

occurred on 1 January 2019.

  The following summarises the major classes of consideration transferred, and the recognised amounts of assets 

and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

Group

2019

RM’000

Fair value of consideration transferred

Cash and cash equivalents 44,386
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS  cont’d

 2019  cont’d

 34.2 Acquisition of subsidiaries of an associate  cont’d 

Group

2019

RM’000

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Note

Property, plant and equipment 3 3,312

Right-of-use assets 4 2,250

Trade and other receivables 68,213

Inventories 26,575

Current tax assets 79

Cash and cash equivalents 10,419

Loans and borrowings (35,633)

Lease liabilities (1,247)

Deferred tax liabilities 12 (264)

Trade and other payables (37,155)

Current tax liabilities (11)

Total identifiable net assets 36,538

Net cash outflow arising from acquisition of subsidiaries

Purchase consideration settled in cash and cash equivalents (44,386)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 10,419

(33,967)

Goodwill

Goodwill was recognised as a result of the acquisition as follows:

Total consideration transferred 44,386

Fair value of existing interest in the acquirees 8,329

Fair value of identifiable net assets (36,538)

Goodwill 16,177
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS  cont’d

 2019  cont’d

 34.2 Acquisition of subsidiaries of an associate  cont’d 

  Goodwill  cont’d

  The goodwill is attributable mainly to the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating the companies into 

the Group’s existing aluminium trading operations. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible 

for income tax purposes.

  Acquisition-related costs

  The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of RM298,000 related to external legal fees. The legal fees have 

been included in administrative expenses in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income.

 34.3 Acquisition of a subsidiary

  In May 2019, Press Metal International Limited (“PMI”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired the entire 

equity interest in Press Metal International (HK) Ltd. (“PMIHK”) from a third party for a total cash consideration of HKD1.0 

million (equivalent to approximately RM0.5 million). The effects of the acquisition are not material to be disclosed.

 2018

 34.4 Acquisition of an indirect subsidiary

  In March 2018, the Group, via its 80% owned subsidiary, PMBTU, acquired all the shares in Press Metal 

Aluminium Rods Sdn. Bhd. for RM96,000,000, satisfied in cash. In the nine months to 31 December 2018, the 

subsidiary contributed revenue of RM625,690,000 and profit of RM10,534,000. If the acquisition had occurred 

on 1 January 2018, management estimated that consolidated revenue contributed by the subsidiary would have 

been RM836,198,000, and consolidated profit for the financial year contributed by the subsidiary would have 

been RM11,167,000. In determining these amounts, management had assumed that the fair value adjustments, 

determined provisionally, that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had 

occurred on 1 January 2018.
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS  cont’d

 

 2018  cont’d

 34.4 Acquisition of an indirect subsidiary  cont’d

  The following summarised the major classes of consideration transferred, and the recognised amounts of assets 

and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

Group

2018

RM’000

Fair value of consideration transferred

Cash and cash equivalents 96,000

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Note

Property, plant and equipment 3 50,759

Prepaid lease payments 5 7,976

Inventories 46,867

Trade and other receivables 71,001

Cash and cash equivalents 27,446

Deferred tax liabilities 12 (3,858)

Derivative financial liabilities (285)

Loans and borrowings (103,814)

Trade and other payables (28,720)

Total identifiable net assets 67,372

Net cash outflow arising from acquisition of subsidiary

Purchase consideration settled in cash and cash equivalents (96,000)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 27,446

(68,554)
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS  cont’d

 

 2018  cont’d

 34.4 Acquisition of an indirect subsidiary  cont’d

Group

2018

RM’000

Goodwill

Goodwill was recognised as a result of the acquisition as follows:

Total consideration transferred 96,000

Fair value of identifiable net assets (67,372)

Goodwill 28,628

  

  The goodwill was attributable mainly to the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating the company 

into the Group’s existing aluminium products business. None of the goodwill recognised was expected to be 

deductible for income tax purposes.

  Acquisition-related costs

  The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of RM490,000 related to external legal fees. The legal fees had 

been included in administrative expenses in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income.

35. INTEREST IN JOINT OPERATION

 The Group has a 50% (2018: Nil) ownership interest in a joint operation, Japan Alumina Associates (Australia) Pty. Ltd. 

(“JAA”) with Sojitz Corporation (Note 34.1). JAA’s principal place of business is in Australia. JAA markets the share of 

alumina produced through its participation in of a bauxite mine and an alumina refinery and is strategic for the Group 

in ensuring its long-term access to raw material which reduces its exposure and reliance on third party suppliers. The 

Group and Sojitz Corporation have equal board representatives in JAA and all relevant decisions require unanimous 

votes from the shareholders. Based on the shareholders’ agreement, the Group and Sojitz Corporation are entitled to 

the outputs produced by JAA in proportion to their respective shareholdings in JAA. In view that the Group has rights to 

the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to JAA, therefore the investment in JAA is accounted for as a joint 

operation.
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36. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

 (i) In November 2019, the Company entered into a share subscription agreement (“SSA”) and a shareholders’ 

agreement (“SHA”) with several third parties, for the proposed subscription of 25% equity interest in PT Bintan 

Alumina Indonesia (“PT BAI”) (“Proposed Subscription”).

  PT BAI is principally involved in the production of non-ferrous metals and is currently constructing an alumina 

refinery plant together with the necessary facilities in Galang Batang, Indonesia.

  As at 31 December 2019, the Company paid a deposit of USD14.0 million (equivalent to approximately RM58 

million) for the Proposed Subscription.

  In February 2020, the Company completed the Proposed Subscription for a total cash consideration of USD80.2 

million (equivalent to approximately RM333 million) in accordance with the terms of the SSA.

 (ii) The coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic was announced by the World Health Organisation in March 2020 given 

the outbreak of the virus in countries across the world including Malaysia. The Covid-19 pandemic has resulted 

in disruptions to businesses and various macro-economic impacts. The global economic downturn resulted by 

Covid-19 has caused aluminium prices to decline while aluminium demand is expected to remain weak.

  The Group and the Company consider that the effects related to this outbreak to be a non-adjusting event as it 

was not a condition that existed as at 31 December 2019, the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the current 

conditions arising from this outbreak do not have an impact on the carrying amounts reported for the financial year 

ended 31 December 2019. 

  As at the date of the financial statements are authorised for issuance, based on available information, the Group 

has assessed the resultant impact from lower aluminium prices and expects lower sales (mainly extrusion 

products) and profits to be recorded in financial year 2020. Due to the unpredictability of aluminium prices caused 

by this unprecedented event, it is not practicable for the Group and the Company to further estimate the exact 

financial effect of Covid-19 at this juncture.

  Nevertheless, the impact is expected to be cushioned by commodity swaps which the Group has entered into 

to hedge its forecast sales, the corresponding decrease in key raw material prices which are also influenced 

by aluminium prices, and the Group’s product mix which is highly focused on smelting products of which 

demand has remained stable. The Group and the Company are actively monitoring and managing the Group’s 

and the Company’s operations to minimise any impacts that may arise from Covid-19. In particular, the Group 

and the Company will look into further entering commodity swaps to hedge their position and align to the risk 

management policies of the Group. 
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37. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 During the year, the Group and the Company adopted MFRS 16. 

 Definition of a lease

 On transition to MFRS 16, the Group elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of which 
transactions are leases. It applied MFRS 16 only to contracts that were previously identified as leases. Contracts that 
were not identified as leases under MFRS 117 and IC Interpretation 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains 
a Lease were not reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a lease under MFRS 16 has been applied only to contracts 
entered into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.

 As a lessee

 Where the Group is a lessee, the Group applied the requirements of MFRS 16 retrospectively with the cumulative effect 
of initial application as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 January 2019.

 At 1 January 2019, for leases that were classified as operating lease under MFRS 117, lease liabilities were measured at 
the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the Group entities’ incremental borrowing rate as at 
1 January 2019. The weighted-average rate applied is 4.71%. Right-of-use assets are measured at an amount equal to 
the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments.

 The Group used the following practical expedients when applying MFRS 16 to leases previously classified as operating 
lease under MFRS 117:

 - applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with similar characteristics;
 - applied the exemption not to recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases with less than 12 months of 

lease term as at 1 January 2019;
 - excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application; and
 - used hindsight when determining the lease term if the contract contains options to extend or terminate the lease.

 For leases that were classified as finance lease under MFRS 117, the carrying amounts of the right-of-use asset and the 
lease liability at 1 January 2019 are determined to be the same as the carrying amount of the leased asset and lease 
liability under MFRS 117 immediately before that date.

 The Company applied the practical expedient to exempt from recognising right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases 
with less than 12 months of lease term as at 1 January 2019. Hence, as all of the Company’s leases have remaining 
term of less than 12 months, there are no impacts arising from the adoption of MFRS 16 except for certain new 
disclosures required by the standard.

 37.1 Impacts on financial statements

  Since the Group applied the requirements of MFRS 16 retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initial 
application at 1 January 2019, there are no adjustments made to the prior period presented.

  A higher lease liabilities amount was recognised at 1 January 2019 as compared to the operating lease 
commitments disclosed applying MFRS 117 at 31 December 2018, mainly due to the application of a higher 
threshold for previous disclosures for operating lease commitments as compared to the threshold used to exclude 
leases of low-value assets under MFRS 16.
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In the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 115 to 258 are drawn up in accordance with 

Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies 

Act 2016 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as of 31 

December 2019 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong Koon Poh Ming

Director Director

Petaling Jaya, Selangor

Date: 13 May 2020

I, Loo Tai Choong, the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Press Metal Aluminium Holdings Berhad, 

do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 115 to 258 are, to the best of my knowledge 

and belief, correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the declaration to be true, and by virtue of the 

Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed Loo Tai Choong, NRIC: 681119-08-5045, at Kuala Lumpur in the 

Federal Territory on 13 May 2020.

Loo Tai Choong

Before me:

Samugam Vassoo W632

Comissioner for Oaths

Kuala Lumpur

Statement by Directors/Statutory Declaration

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
pursuant to Section 251(2) of the Companies Act 2016

STATUTORY DECLARATION
pursuant to Section 251(1)(b) of the Companies Act 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
to the Members of Press Metal Aluminium Holdings Berhad
(Registration No. 201601027232 (1198171-H)) 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Independent Auditors’ Report

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Press Metal Aluminium Holdings Berhad, which comprise the statements of 

financial position as at 31 December 2019 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for 

the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out 

on pages 115 to 258. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of 

the Company as at 31 December 2019, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the financial year then 

ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the 

requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. 

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 

Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the 

Financial Statements section of our auditors’ report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and 

Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 

Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 

statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 

of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 

provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Hedge accounting

Refer to Note 2(c)(iv) – Significant accounting policy: Hedge accounting – Cash flow hedge and Note 30.7 – Financial 

instruments – Hedging activities.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS  cont’d

Hedge accounting  cont’d

The key audit matter

The Group is exposed to transactional foreign currency risk to the extent that there is a mismatch between the currency in 
which sales are denominated and the respective functional currencies of the Group entities. The Group is also exposed to 
commodity price risk due to fluctuations in aluminium prices. 

Derivative financial instruments are used to manage and hedge foreign currency risk and commodity price risk. The Group 
then applied hedge accounting to hedge its cash flows arising from highly probable forecast sale transactions.

We focused on this area because applying hedge accounting is a complex and judgemental area, particularly in assessing 
the appropriateness of the designation of the hedge relationship and documentation, the effectiveness of the hedge and 
the probability of forecast transactions. The complexity of the application of hedge accounting and the number of hedge 
contracts the Group entered into required us to involve senior members and spend considerable time and effort to audit this 
area.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

We performed the following audit procedures, among others:

• We evaluated whether the Group’s designations of the loans and borrowings, forward exchange contracts, cross 
currency swaps and commodity swaps form valid hedging relationships with the forecasted sale transactions;

• We assessed whether there are formal designations and documentations of the hedging relationship and the Group’s 
risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge at the inception;

• We determined whether the hedging relationship met the criteria of the accounting standards;

• We evaluated the probability of the forecast transactions by assessing the historical accuracy of management’s 
forecasts, checking to secured sales contracts and verifying sales transacted subsequent to the end of the financial 
year; and

• We assessed whether hedge ineffectiveness is appropriately identified and accounted for.

Valuation of inventories

Refer to Note 2(h) – Significant accounting policy: Inventories and Note 14 – Inventories

The key audit matter

Inventories represent one of the largest categories of asset on the statement of financial position of the Group, as at 31 
December 2019. It required us to incur significant time and effort to determine that the costs of inventories reflect the 
manufacturing costs incurred in bringing them to their physical location and condition. This particularly relates to the 
assessment of direct labour costs incurred, manufacturing overheads to be absorbed and other relevant production costs.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS  cont’d

Valuation of inventories  cont’d

How the matter was addressed in our audit

We performed the following audit procedures, among others:

• We compared the cost of raw materials to suppliers’ invoices on a sampling basis;

• We assessed whether the absorption of production overheads was appropriate by comparing the costs incurred in the 
profit or loss to the costs included in the costing of work-in-progress and finished goods; and

• We considered production levels to determine inefficiencies were not absorbed.

Acquisition of a joint operation

Refer to Note 2(a)(vi) – Significant accounting policy: Joint arrangements and Note 34.1 – Business combinations – 
Acquisition of a joint operation and Note 35 – Interest in joint operation

The key audit matter

As disclosed in Note 35, the Group acquired 50% equity interest in Japan Alumina Associates (Australia) Pty. Ltd. (“JAA”) 
during the financial year. JAA is a joint operation of the Group. This investment is material and requires us to incur 
considerable time and effort to challenge the Group’s assessment of its classification and the accounting of this joint 
operation.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

We performed the following audit procedures, among others:

• We read the terms and conditions stipulated in the relevant agreements (asset sale agreement and shareholders’ 
agreement);

• We compared the client’s joint arrangement assessment with the requirements of the accounting standard;

• We compared the consideration paid and terms of payment to the asset sale agreement;

• We tested the material journal entries to appropriate supporting documents to determine the appropriateness of the 
accounting of the joint operation, particularly on the purchase price allocation and cut off numbers; and

• We assessed the adequacy of disclosure in the financial statements.

We have determined that there are no key audit matters in the audit of the separate financial statements of the Company to 

communicate in our auditors’ report.

Independent Auditors’ Report

Cont’d
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITORS’ REPORT THEREON 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the Company and our 

auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the annual report and we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to read the 

annual report and, in doing so, consider whether the annual report is materially inconsistent with the financial statements 

of the Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the annual report, we are 

required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company 

that give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting 

Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The Directors are also responsible for such internal 

control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the 

Company that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the Directors are responsible for assessing the ability 

of the Group and of the Company to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 

and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or 

to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes 

our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 

the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

financial statements.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  cont’d

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing, 

we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 

resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control of the 

Group and of the Company. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the Directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 

on the ability of the Group or of the Company to continue as going concerns. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of 

the Group and of the Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 

on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause 

the Group or the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that gives a true and fair view.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible for the direction, 

supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 

our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Independent Auditors’ Report

Cont’d
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  cont’d

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 

of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. 

We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 

when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our auditors’ report 

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 

such communication.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia, we report that the subsidiaries of which we 

have not acted as auditors are disclosed in Note 8 to the financial statements. 

OTHER MATTER

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the Companies Act 

2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

KPMG PLT       Lam Shuh Siang

(LLP0010081-LCA & AF 0758)     Approval Number: 03045/02/2021 J

Chartered Accountants      Chartered Accountant

Petaling Jaya, Selangor

Date: 13 May 2020 
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LIST OF PROPERTIES
Held by the Group as at 31 December 2019

Proprietor Location

Description/

Age (Year)

Existing 

Use Tenure

Area 

(Square

feet)

Net Book

Value as at

31/12/2019

RM‘000

Press Metal

Bintulu Sdn

Bhd

Lot 36, Block 1

Samalaju Industrial Park

Kemena Land District

97000 Samalaju

Sarawak

Leasehold

land and

buildings

9 years

Factory cum

office 

Leasehold

for 60 years

expiring 10

July 2071

20,946,570 1,022,279 

Press Metal 

Sarawak Sdn

Bhd

Lot 211 & 212

Block 293

Mukah Land District, KM38

Jalan Mukah - Balingian

96400 Mukah

Sarawak

Leasehold

land and

buildings

12 years

Factory cum

office

Leasehold

for 99 years

expiring 6

April 2107

44,913,337 360,698 

Press Metal 

International

Limited

Area C

Sanshui Industrial Park

Sanshui District

Foshan City

Guangdong Province

China

Leasehold

land and

buildings

14 years

Factory cum

office 

Leasehold

for 48 & 50 

years expiring

12 July 2055 & 

30 December

2056

5,092,976 226,237 

Press Metal

Berhad

Lot 6486, Mukim Kapar

Daerah Klang

Selangor

Freehold

land and

building

26 years

Factory cum

office 

Freehold 417,348 29,135 

Press Metal

Berhad

Lot 6464, Mukim Kapar

Daerah Klang

Selangor

Freehold

land and

buildings

26 years

Factory cum

office 

Freehold 217,000 15,149 

Press Metal 

Aluminium Rods 

Sdn Bhd

PT1653, Mukim Setul 

Daerah Seremban

Negeri Sembilan

Leasehold 

land and

buildings

29 years

Factory cum

office

Leasehold

for 99 years

expiring 17

January 2090

202,675 9,600 
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Proprietor Location

Description/

Age (Year)

Existing 

Use Tenure

Area 

(Square

feet)

Net Book

Value as at

31/12/2019

RM‘000

Press Metal 

Aluminium Rods

Sdn Bhd

Lot 47242

Mukim Johor Bahru

Daerah Johor Bahru

Johor

Leasehold 

land and

buildings

49 years

Factory cum

office 

Leasehold

for 60 years

expiring 16

November 2030

244,212 6,578 

Press Metal 

Aluminium Rods

Sdn Bhd

PT1656, Mukim Setul

Daerah Seremban

Negeri Sembilan

Leasehold 

land and

buildings

29 years

Vacant Leasehold

for 99 years

expiring 17

January 2090

270,162 6,400 

Press Metal 

Aluminium Rods

Sdn Bhd

Lot 47243

Mukim Johor Bahru

Daerah Johor Bahru

Johor

Leasehold 

land and

buildings

44 years

Factory cum

office 

Leasehold

for 60 years

expiring 26

March 2036

166,697 5,274 

Press Metal

Berhad

Suite 61 & 62 Setia Avenue 

No. 2, Jalan Setia Prima

S U13/S, Setia Alam

Seksyen U13

40170 Shah Alam

Selangor

Commercial

office suite

7 years

Corporate

office

Freehold 19,366 5,456 
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
as at 22 April 2020

Analysis of Shareholdings

Issued Shares : 4,038,109,539 Ordinary Shares

Class of Shares : Ordinary Shares

Voting Rights : One vote per share

Size of Holdings

No. of 

Shareholders/ 

Depositors

% of 

Shareholders/ 

Depositors

No. of Shares 

Held

% of Issued 

Capital

Less than 100  197 3.16  6,670 0.00

100 to 1,000  1,043 16.72  729,532 0.02

1,001 to 10,000  2,436 39.06  11,269,696 0.28

10,001 to 100,000  1,778 28.50  60,328,626 1.49

100,001 to less than 5% of issued shares  780 12.51  3,230,114,305 79.99

5% and above of issued shares  3 0.05  735,660,710 18.22

Total  6,237 100.00 4,038,109,539  100.00 
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DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS
as at 22 April 2020

 Direct  Indirect

Name

No. of

Shares Held

% of Issued 

Capital

No. of

Shares Held

% of Issued 

Capital

Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman Bin Megat Ahmad 280,000  0.01 0 0.00

Koon Poh Ming 291,867,258  7.23 78,560,000(1) 1.95

Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong 586,075,772  14.51 1,015,805,650(2) 25.16

Dato’ Koon Poh Tat 135,291,380  3.35 4,214,302(3) 0.10

Koon Poh Weng 192,879,868  4.78 73,510,960(4) 1.82

Koon Poh Kong 93,250,686  2.31 11,056,920(5) 0.27

Tan Heng Kui 801,640  0.02 0 0.00

Loo Lean Hock 0 0.00 0 0.00

Noor Alina Binti Mohamad Faiz 0 0.00 0 0.00

Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim 0 0.00 0 0.00

(1) Deemed interested in the shares held by his spouse, Ong Soo Fan in the Company.

(2) Deemed interested in the shares held by his spouse, Puan Sri Datin Khoo Ee Pheng in the Company and his direct interest in Alpha 

Milestone Sdn Bhd pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016.

(3) Deemed interested in the shares held by his spouse, Datin Chan Hean Heoh in the Company.

(4) Deemed interested in the shares held by his spouse, Chan Poh Choo and his daughter, Koon Sim Ee in the Company.

(5) Deemed interested in the shares held by his spouse, Lee Sook Ching and his children Koon Hoi Chun and Koon Xin Hui in the 

Company.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
as per Register of Substantial Shareholders as at 22 April 2020

       

 Direct  Indirect

Name

No. of

Shares Held

% of Issued 

Capital

No. of

Shares Held

% of Issued 

Capital

Koon Poh Ming 291,867,258 7.23 78,560,000(1) 1.95

Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong 586,075,772 14.51 1,015,805,650(2) 25.16

Koon Poh Weng 192,879,868 4.78 73,510,960(3) 1.82

Ong Soo Fan 78,560,000 1.95 291,867,258(4) 7.23

Puan Sri Datin Khoo Ee Pheng 76,102,320 1.88 1,525,779,102(5) 37.78

Chan Poo Choo 73,456,080 1.82 192,934,748(6) 4.78

Alpha Milestone Sdn Bhd 939,703,330 23.27 0 0.00

Employees Provident Fund 202,403,862 5.01 0 0

(1) Deemed interested in the shares held by his spouse, Ong Soo Fan in the Company.

(2) Deemed interested in the shares held by his spouse, Puan Sri Datin Khoo Ee Pheng in the Company and his direct interest in Alpha 

Milestone Sdn Bhd pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016.

(3) Deemed interested in the shares held by his spouse, Chan Poh Choo, and his daughter, Koon Sim Ee in the Company.

(4) Deemed interested in the shares held by her spouse, Koon Poh Ming in the Company.

(5) Deemed interested in the shares held by her spouse, Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong in the Company and her direct interest in Alpha 

Milestone Sdn Bhd pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016.

(6) Deemed interested in the shares held by her spouse, Koon Poh Weng, and her daughter, Koon Sim Ee in the Company. 

Analysis of Shareholdings

Cont’d
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THIRTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
as at 22 April 2020

Name of Shareholders No. of Shares

% of Issued 

Capital

1 TAN SRI DATO’ KOON POH KEONG 306,014,516 7.58

2 KOON POH MING 219,646,194 5.44

3 TAN SRI DATO’ KOON POH KEONG 210,000,000 5.20

4 HSBC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

Alpha Milestone Sdn Bhd

200,000,000 4.95

5 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

UBS AG Singapore for Alpha Milestone Sdn Bhd

197,600,000 4.89

6 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD  

Employees Provident Fund Board

192,284,862 4.76

7 CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

CIMB for Koon Poh Weng 

176,679,868 4.38

8 ALPHA MILESTONE SDN BHD 150,901,681 3.74

9 ALPHA MILESTONE SDN BHD 108,801,649 2.69

10 HSBC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

JPMCB NA For Alpha Milestone Sdn Bhd

100,000,000 2.48

11 HSBC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD  

MSIP for Alpha Milestone Sdn Bhd

100,000,000 2.48

12 AMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 

Ambank (M) Berhad for Tan Boon Seng

80,548,500 1.99

13 CHAN POH CHOO 73,456,080 1.82

14 KUMPULAN WANG PERSARAAN (DIPERBADANKAN) 58,290,100 1.44

15 PUAN SRI DATIN KHOO EE PHENG 56,000,000 1.39

16 ONG SOO FAN 55,440,000 1.37

17 CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

CIMB for Tan Sri Dato’ Koon Poh Keong 

52,520,536 1.30

18 HSBC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

HBAP for Alpha Milestone Sdn Bhd 

50,000,000 1.24
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THIRTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS  cont’d

as at 22 April 2020

Name of Shareholders No. of Shares

% of Issued 

Capital

19 KOON POH MING 41,689,704 1.03

20 LEMBAGA TABUNG HAJI 40,851,400 1.01

21 KOON PUI LAN 39,251,130 0.97

22 CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

CIMB for Dato’ Koon Poh Tat 

37,505,700 0.93

23 CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 

CIMB for Koon Poh Kong

36,746,686 0.91

24 ALLIANCEGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

Pledged Securities Account for Dato’ Koon Poh Tat 

35,090,080 0.87

25 HSBC NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD

JPMCB NA for Vanguard Total International Stock Index Fund

32,136,994 0.80

26 TAN MEW LAN 31,670,656 0.79

27 KOON PUI LING 31,326,500 0.78

28 KOON PUI WOON 30,390,610 0.75

29 CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

CIMB for Alpha Milestone Sdn Bhd

30,000,000 0.74

30 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

UBS AG Singapore for Koon Poh Kong

30,000,000 0.74

Total 2,804,843,446 69.46

Analysis of Shareholdings

Cont’d
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Fourth Annual General Meeting (“4th AGM”) of Press Metal Aluminium Holdings Berhad 

(“the Company”) will be conducted fully virtual at the Broadcast Venue at Suite 61 & 62, Setia Avenue, No. 2, Jalan Setia 

Prima S U13/S, Setia Alam Seksyen U13, 40170 Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia on Thursday, 11 June 2020 at 

10.30 a.m. for the following purposes:

A G E N D A

As Ordinary Business

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 

together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon. 

[(Please refer to the 

Explanatory Note (i)]

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees and benefits payable to the Independent  

Non-Executive Directors up to an aggregate amount of RM625,000 for the financial year 

ending 31 December 2020.

Ordinary Resolution 1

[Please refer to the 

Explanatory Note (ii)]

3. To re-elect the following Directors who are retiring pursuant to Clause 102 of the Constitution 

of the Company: 

(i) Dato’ Koon Poh Tat Ordinary Resolution 2

(ii) Mr. Koon Poh Weng Ordinary Resolution 3

Mr. Tan Heng Kui who is retiring pursuant to Clause 102 of the Constitution of the Company, 

has expressed his intention not to seek for re-election. Hence, he will retain office until the 

close of the 4th AGM.

4. To re-appoint Messrs KPMG PLT as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors 

to fix their remuneration. Ordinary Resolution 4
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As Special Business

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions:

5. Authority under Section 76 of the Companies Act 2016 for the Directors to allot and 

issue shares

“THAT pursuant to Section 76 of the Companies Act 2016, the Directors be and are hereby 

authorised to allot and issue shares in the Company at any time until the conclusion of the 

next Annual General Meeting and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as 

the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit provided that the aggregate number 

of shares to be issued does not exceed ten per centum (10%) of the total number of issued 

shares of the Company for the time being, subject always to the approval of all relevant 

regulatory bodies being obtained for such allotment and issuance.”

Ordinary Resolution 5

[Please refer to the 

Explanatory Note (iii)]

6. Authority for Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman Bin Megat Ahmad to  continue in 

office as Independent Non-Executive Chairman

“THAT authority be and is hereby given to Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman Bin Megat 

Ahmad who has served as an Independent Non-Executive Chairman of the Company for 

a cumulative term of more than twelve (12) years, to continue to act as an Independent  

Non-Executive Chairman of the Company until the conclusion of the next Annual General 

Meeting, in accordance with the Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance.” 

Ordinary Resolution 6

[Please refer to the 

Explanatory Note (iv)]

7. Authority for Mr. Loo Lean Hock to continue in office as Independent Non-Executive 

Director

“THAT authority be and is hereby given to Mr. Loo Lean Hock who has served as an 

Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company for a cumulative term of more than 

twelve (12) years, to continue to act as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the 

Company until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting,  in accordance with the 

Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance”.

Ordinary Resolution 7

[Please refer to the 

Explanatory Note (v)]

8. Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions 

and Proposed New Shareholders Mandate for Additional Recurrent Related Party 

Transactions for Press Metal Aluminium Holdings Berhad and its subsidiaries 

(“Proposed Shareholders’ Mandate”)

“THAT approval be and is hereby given to the Company and its subsidiaries (“PMAH Group”) 

to enter into recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature as set out 

in Section 2.4 of the Circular to Shareholders dated 13 May 2020 (“Circular”) which are 

necessary for the PMAH Group’s day-to-day operations subject to the following:
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a) the transactions are in the ordinary course of business and on normal commercial terms 

which are not more favourable to the related parties than those generally available to the 

public and are not to the detriment of the minority shareholders of the Company; and

b) the disclosure will be made in the Annual Report of the breakdown of the aggregate 

value of the recurrent related party transactions conducted pursuant to the Proposed 

Shareholders’ Mandate during the financial year on the type of recurrent related party 

transactions made, the names of the related parties involved in each type of recurrent 

related party transactions and their relationships with the Company.

THAT the authority conferred shall continue to be in force until:

i) the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company following 

the forthcoming AGM at which the Proposed Shareholders’ Mandate is approved, at 

which time it will lapse, unless by a resolution passed at the AGM, the mandate is again 

renewed;

ii) the expiration of the period within which the next AGM of the Company is required to be 

held pursuant to Section 340(2) of the Companies Act 2016 (“Act”) (but shall not extend 

to such extension as may be allowed pursuant to Section 340(4) of the Act); or

iii) revoked or varied by resolution passed by the shareholders in general meeting,

whichever is the earlier.

AND THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do 

all such acts and things (including executing all such documents as may be required) as they 

may consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the Proposed Shareholders’ Mandate.” 

Ordinary Resolution 8

[Please refer to the 

Explanatory Note (vi)]

9. Proposed Renewal of Authority for the Company to Purchase its own Ordinary Shares

“THAT subject to the Companies Act 2016 (“Act”), the Constitution of the Company, the Main 

Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) and the 

approvals of all relevant governmental and/or regulatory authorities (if any), the Company be 

and is hereby authorised to utilise an amount not exceeding the Company’s aggregate retained 

profits as at 31 December 2019 to purchase such amount of ordinary shares in the Company 

(“Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-Back Authority”) as may be determined by the Directors 

of the Company from time to time through Bursa Securities upon such terms and conditions 

as the Directors may deem fit and expedient in the interest of the Company provided that the 

aggregate number of shares purchased and/or held pursuant to this resolution does not exceed 

ten per centum (10%) of the total number of issued shares of the Company.
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THAT an amount not exceeding the Company’s retained profits be allocated by the Company 

for the Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-Back Authority.

THAT authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to decide at their 

absolute discretion to either retain the shares so purchased as treasury shares (as defined in 

Section 127 of the Act) and/or to cancel the shares so purchased and if retained as treasury 

shares, may resell the treasury shares and/or to distribute them as share dividend and/or 

subsequently cancel them.

THAT the authority conferred by this resolution will be effective immediately upon the passing 

of this resolution and will expire at:-

(i) the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company, at which 

time the said authority will lapse unless by an ordinary resolution passed at a general 

meeting of the Company, the authority is renewed, either unconditionally or subject to 

conditions;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next AGM of the Company is required by 

law to be held; or

(iii) revoked or varied by an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders in a general 

meeting;

whichever occurs first, but not so as to prejudice the completion of the purchase(s) by the 

Company before the aforesaid expiry date and in any event, in accordance with the provisions 

of the guidelines issued by Bursa Securities and/or any other relevant governmental and/or 

regulatory authorities (if any).

AND THAT the Directors of the Company be authorised to take all steps necessary to 

implement, complete and do all such acts and things (including executing all such documents 

as may be required) as they may consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the 

Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-Back Authority as may be agreed or allowed by any relevant 

governmental and/or regulatory authority.”

Ordinary Resolution 9

[Please refer to the 

Explanatory Note (vii)]

10. To transact any other business for which due notice shall have been given in accordance with 

the Act. 

Notice of Annual General Meeting

Cont’d
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BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

TAI YIT CHAN (MAICSA 7009143)

TAN AI NING (MAICSA 7015852)

Company Secretaries

Selangor Darul Ehsan

Date: 13 May 2020

NOTES:

1. As part of the initiatives to curb the spread of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”), the 4th AGM will be conducted on a virtual basis 

through live streaming and online remote voting via Remote Participation and Voting facilities (“RPV”) which are available on Tricor 

Investor & Issuing House Services Sdn Bhd’s TIIH Online website at https://tiih.online. Please follow the procedures provided in the 

Administrative Details of 4th AGM in order to register, participate and vote remotely via the RPV.

2. The Broadcast Venue of the 4th AGM is strictly for the purpose of complying with Section 327(2) of the Companies Act, 2016 which 

requires the Chairperson of the meeting to be at the main venue of the meeting. No shareholders/proxies from the public should be 

physically present at the Broadcast Venue on the day of the 4th AGM.

3. Members may submit questions to the Board of Directors prior to the 4th AGM via Tricor’s TIIH Online website at https://tiih.online by 

selecting “e-Services” to login, pose questions and submit electronically no later than 10.30 a.m. on Wednesday, 3 June 2020 or to use 

the query box to transmit questions to Board of Directors via RPV during live streaming.

4. Since the 4th AGM will be conducted via a virtual meeting, a member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may appoint the 

Chairman of the meeting as his/her proxy and indicate the voting instruction in the Proxy Form.

5. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote in his stead. 

A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company. Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointments shall be 

invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his shareholdings to be represented by each proxy.

6. Where a member is an Exempt Authorised Nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one 

securities account (“omnibus account”) as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, there shall be no limit 

to the number of proxies which the Exempt Authorised Nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

7. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing, executed by the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the 

appointor is a corporation, either under its Common Seal or signed by an officer or attorney so authorised.
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8. The appointment of proxy may be made in a hardcopy form or by electronic means as follows:

 i) In Hardcopy Form

  The Proxy Form or the Power of Attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy of that 

power or authority, must be deposited at the office of the Share Registrar of the Company, Tricor Investor & Issuing House 

Services Sdn Bhd (“Tricor”) at Unit 32-01, Level 32, Tower A, Vertical Business Suite, Avenue 3, Bangsar South, No. 8, Jalan 

Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, not less than 48 hours before the time for holding this 4th AGM or no later than 10.30 

a.m on Tuesday, 9 June 2020.

 ii) By Tricor Online System (TIIH Online)

  The Proxy Form can be electronically submitted to Tricor via TIIH Online (applicable to individual shareholder only) not less than 

48 hours before the time for holding this 4th AGM or no later than 10.30 a.m. on Tuesday, 9 June 2020. The website to access 

TIIH Online is https://tiih.online (Kindly refer to the Administrative Details - Electronic Lodgement of Proxy Form).

9. In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear on the Record of  Depositors on 1 June 2020 (General Meeting 

Record of Depositors) shall be eligible to attend the meeting or appoint proxy(ies) to attend and/or vote on his behalf.

10. Pursuant to Paragraph 8.29A of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, all the resolutions set out 

in the Notice of the 4th AGM of the Company will be put to vote by way of poll. Poll administrator and Independent Scrutineers will be 

appointed to conduct the polling process and verify the results of the poll respectively.

EXPLANATORY NOTES 

(i) Item 1 of the Agenda: Audited Financial Statements

 Agenda item no. 1 is meant for discussion only as the provision of Section 340(1)(a) of the Act does not require a formal approval from 

the shareholders for the Audited Financial Statements. Hence, this agenda item is not put forward for voting.

(ii) Ordinary Resolution 1 on Directors’ Fees and benefits payable 

 Section 230(1) of the Companies Act 2016 provides that the fees of the Directors and any benefits payable to the Directors of a listed 

company and its subsidiaries shall be approved at a general meeting. In this respect, shareholders’ approval shall be sought at this 4th 

AGM on the Directors’ fees and benefits under Resolution 1.

 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 1, if passed, will facilitate the payment of Directors’ fees and benefits to Independent Non-Executive 

Directors of the Company for the financial year ending 31 December 2020. The amount of Directors’ fees payable includes fees payable 

to Independent Non-Executive Directors as members of Board and Board Committees. The amount of Directors’ benefits (excluding 

Directors’ Fees) payable to Independent Non-Executive Directors comprises meeting allowance.

(iii) Ordinary Resolution 5 on Authority to issue and allot shares

 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 5 under item 5 of the Agenda is a renewal of the general mandate for issuance of shares by the 

Company pursuant to Section 76 of the Act. The mandate, if passed, will provide flexibility for the Company and empower the Directors 

to allot and issue new shares speedily in the Company up to an amount not exceeding in total 10% of the total number of issued shares 

of the Company for purpose of funding the working capital or strategic development of the Group. This would eliminate any delay 

arising from and cost involved in convening a general meeting to obtain approval of the shareholders for such issuance of shares. This 

authority, unless revoked or varied by the Company at a general meeting, will expire at the next Annual General Meeting.
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(iv) Ordinary Resolution 6 on Authority for Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman Bin Megat Ahmad to continue in office as 
Independent Non-Executive Chairman

 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 6 is to seek shareholders’ approval to retain Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman Bin Megat Ahmad 
as the Independent Non-Executive Chairman of the Company. Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman Bin Megat Ahmad was appointed 
as an Non-Independent Non-Executive Director on 25 May 1995. On 29 May 2007, he was re-designated as Independent Non-
Executive Chairman of the Board. His term as an independent director exceeded twelve (12) years after 29 May 2019. Pursuant to the 
Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance, the Board through the Nomination Committee has carried out the necessary assessment 
and is satisfied that Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat is able to exercise independent judgement and act in the best interest of the Company. He 
has effectively applied his experience and knowledge to discharge his duties and responsibilities as a Director of the Company. He is 
also in compliance with the relevant criteria and provisions in the Bursa Securities Main Market Listing Requirements on independent 
directors. Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman Bin Megat Ahmad abstained from all deliberations at the Board meeting in relation to 
the recommendation of Ordinary Resolution 6.

 He remains objective and independent in expressing his view and in participation in deliberations and decision making of the Board 
of Directors and Board Committees despite having served as the Independent Non-Executive Chairman of the Company for more 
than 12 years. In view of his understanding of the Company’s business the challenges faced by the Company and the environment 
in which the Company operates, the Board is of the view that he will continue to provide invaluable contributions to the Board as the 
Independent Non-Executive Chairman of the Company. Therefore, the Board has recommended that the approval of the shareholders 
be sought through a two-tier voting process for the continuing of office of Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman Bin Megat Ahmad as 
the Independent Non-Executive Chairman of the Company. 

(v) Ordinary Resolution 7 on Authority for Mr. Loo Lean Hock to continue in office as Independent Non-Executive Director

 The proposed Ordinary Resolultion 7 is to seek shareholders’ approval to retain Mr. Loo Lean Hock as an Independent Non-Executive 
Director of the Company. Mr. Loo Lean Hock was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director on 14 September 2001. His 
term as an independent director exceeded twelve years after 14 September 2013. Pursuant to the Malaysian Code on Corporate 
Governance, the Board through the Nomination Committee has carried out the necessary assessment and is satisfied that Mr. Loo 
Lean Hock is able to exercise independent judgement and act in the best interest of the Company. He has effectively applied his 
experience and knowledge to discharge his duties and responsibilities as a Director of the Company. He is also in compliance with the 
relevant criteria and provisions in the Bursa Securities Main Market Listing Requirements on independent directors. Mr. Loo Lean Hock 
abstained from all deliberations at the Board meeting in relation to the recommendation of Ordinary Resolution 7.

 Mr. Loo remains objective and independent in expressing his view and in participation in deliberations and decision making of the Board 
of Directors and Board Committees despite having served as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company for more than 
12 years. In view of his understanding of the Company’s business the challenges faced by the Company and the environment in which 
the Company operates, the Board is of the view that he will continue to provide invaluable contributions to the Board as Independent  
Non-Executive Director of the Company. Therefore, the Board has recommended that the approval of the shareholders be sought 
through a two-tier voting process for the continuing of office of Mr. Loo Lean Hock as Independent Non-Executive Director of the 
Company. 

(vi) Ordinary Resolution 8 on Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions and Proposed 
New Shareholders’ Mandate for Additional Recurrent Related Party Transactions for Press Metal Aluminium Holdings Berhad  
and its subsidiaries (“Proposed Shareholders’ Mandate”) 

 Ordinary Resolution 8 proposed under item 8 of the Agenda, if passed, will allow the Company and its subsidiaries to enter into 
recurrent related party transactions in accordance with Paragraph 10.09 of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad without the necessity to convene separate general meetings from time to time to seek shareholders’ approval as and 
when such recurrent related party transactions occur. This would reduce substantial administrative time and expenses associated with 
the convening of such meetings without compromising the corporate objectives of the Group or affecting the business opportunities 
available to the Group. The shareholders’ mandate is subject to renewal on an annual basis. 

 For further information on Ordinary Resolution 8, please refer to Part A of the Circular to Shareholders dated 13 May 2020.
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(vii) Ordinary Resolution 9 on Proposed Renewal of Authority for the Company to Purchase its own Ordinary Shares

 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 9, if passed, will give the Directors of the Company authority to take all such steps as are necessary 

or expedient to implement, finalise, complete and/or to effect the purchase(s) of shares by the Company as the Directors may deem fit 

and expedient in the best interest of the Company. The authority will, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, 

continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the expiry of the period within which 

the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held. 

 For further information on Ordinary Resolution 9, please refer to Part B of the Circular to Shareholders dated 13 May 2020.

Personal data privacy: 

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the 4th AGM and/or any adjournment 

thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its 

agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the 

AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating 

to the AGM (including any adjournment  thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing 

rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the 

member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) 

and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or 

representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, 

demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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PRESS METAL ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS BERHAD 
Registration No. 201601027232 (1198171-H)

Incorporated in Malaysia

I/We,                                                         (name of shareholder as per NRIC, in capital letters) NRIC No./Passport 

No./Company No.      of                   (full address)

and telephone no./email address                 being a member of PRESS METAL ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS BERHAD,

hereby appoint (name of proxy as per NRIC, in capital letters) NRIC No.       (new)            (old)

of                  (full address)

or failing him/her          (name of proxy as per NRIC, in capital letters) NRIC No.      

(new)       (old) of             

                                                                                            (full address) 

or failing him/her, the *Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Fourth Annual General Meeting (“4th AGM”) of the 

Company to be conducted fully virtual at the Broadcast Venue at Suite 61 & 62, Setia Avenue, No. 2, Jalan Setia Prima S U13/S, Setia Alam Seksyen U13, 

40170 Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia on Thursday, 11 June 2020 at 10.30 a.m. (through live streaming and online remote voting) or at any 

adjournment thereof. 

My/our proxy is to vote as indicated below:

RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST

1. Approval of Directors’ fees and benefits payable to the Directors of up to an aggregate 

amount of RM625,000 for the financial year ending 31 December 2020

Ordinary Resolution 1

2. Re-election of Dato’ Koon Poh Tat as Director Ordinary Resolution 2

3. Re-election of Mr. Koon Poh Weng as Director Ordinary Resolution 3

4. Re-appointment of KPMG PLT as Auditors of the Company Ordinary Resolution 4

5. Authority under Section 76 of the Companies Act 2016 for the Directors to allot and issue shares Ordinary Resolution 5

6. Authority for Dato’ Wira (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman Bin Megat Ahmad to continue in office as 

Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Ordinary Resolution 6

7. Authority for Mr. Loo Lean Hock to continue in office as Independent Non-Executive Director Ordinary Resolution 7

8. Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions and 

proposed New Shareholders’ Mandate for Additional Recurrent Related Party Transactions 

for Press Metal Aluminium Holdings Berhad and its subsidiaries 

Ordinary Resolution 8

9. Proposed Renewal of Authority for the Company to Purchase its own Ordinary Shares Ordinary Resolution 9

(Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided on how you wish your vote to be cast.  If you do not do so, the proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his/her 
discretion.)

    

        Signature/Common Seal  

    

Number of shares held :     

Date :     

Contact No. :     

Proxy Form
CDS account number of holder

For appointment of two proxies, percentage of 

shareholdings to be represented by the proxies:

No. of shares Percentage

Proxy 1 %

Proxy 2 %

Total 100  %



The Share Registrar

PRESS METAL ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS BERHAD 
Registration No. 201601027232 (1198171-H)

c/o TRICOR INVESTOR & ISSUING HOUSE SERVICES SDN BHD

Registration No. 197101000970 (11324-H)

Unit 32-01, Level 32, Tower A,

Vertical Business Suite,

Avenue 3, Bangsar South,

No.8, Jalan Kerinchi, 

59200 Kuala Lumpur,

Malaysia.

Fold This Flap For Sealing

1st Fold Here

Then Fold Here

AFFIX

STAMP

NOTES:

1. As part of the initiatives to curb the spread of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”), the 4th AGM will be conducted on a virtual basis through live streaming and online remote voting via Remote 
Participation and Voting facilities (“RPV”) which are available on Tricor Investor & Issuing House Services Sdn Bhd’s TIIH Online website at https://tiih.online. Please follow the procedures provided in 
the Administrative Details of 4th AGM in order to register, participate and vote remotely via the RPV.

2. The Broadcast Venue of the 4th AGM is strictly for the purpose of complying with Section 327(2) of the Companies Act, 2016 which requires the Chairperson of the meeting to be at the main venue 
of the meeting. No shareholders/proxies from the public should be physically present at the Broadcast Venue on the day of the 4th AGM.

3. Members may submit questions to the Board of Directors prior to the 4th AGM via Tricor’s TIIH Online website at https://tiih.online by selecting “e-Services” to login, pose questions and submit 
electronically no later than 10.30 a.m. on Wednesday, 3 June 2020 or to use the query box to transmit questions to Board of Directors via RPV during live streaming.

4. Since the 4th AGM will be conducted via a virtual meeting, a member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may appoint the Chairman of the meeting as his/her proxy and indicate the voting 
instruction in the Proxy Form.

5. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company. 
Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his shareholdings to be represented by each proxy.

6. Where a member is an Exempt Authorised Nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”) as defined under the 
Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, there shall be no limit to the number of proxies which the Exempt Authorised Nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

7. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing, executed by the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under its Common Seal or 
signed by an officer or attorney so authorised.

8. The appointment of proxy may be made in a hardcopy form or by electronic means as follows:

i) In Hardcopy Form
 The Proxy Form or the Power of Attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy of that power or authority, must be deposited at the office of the Share 

Registrar of the Company, Tricor Investor & Issuing House Services Sdn Bhd (“Tricor”) at Unit 32-01, Level 32, Tower A, Vertical Business Suite, Avenue 3, Bangsar South, No. 8, Jalan Kerinchi, 
59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, not less than 48 hours before the time for holding this 4th AGM or no later than 10.30 a.m. on Tuesday, 9 June 2020.

ii) By Tricor Online System (TIIH Online)
 The Proxy Form can be electronically submitted to Tricor via TIIH Online (applicable to individual shareholder only) not less than 48 hours before the time for holding this 4th AGM or no later than 

10.30 a.m. on Tuesday, 9 June 2020. The website to access TIIH Online is https://tiih.online (Kindly refer to the Administrative Details –Electronic Lodgment of Proxy Form.)

9. In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear on the Record of Depositors on 1 June 2020 (General Meeting Record of Depositors) shall be eligible to attend the meeting or 
appoint proxy(ies) to attend and/or vote on his behalf.

10. Pursuant to Paragraph 8.29A of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, all the resolutions set out in the Notice of the 4th AGM of the Company will be put to vote 
by way of poll. Poll administrator and Independent Scrutineers will be appointed to conduct the polling process and verify the results of the poll respectively.

Personal Data Privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and /or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 13 
May 2020.



PRESS METAL
GROUP DIRECTORY

PRESS METAL ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS BERHAD
201601027232 (1198171-H)
Suite 61 & 62, Setia Avenue, No. 2, Jalan Setia Prima S U13/S
Setia Alam Seksyen U13
40170 Shah Alam, Selangor, Malaysia
Tel : +603 3362 2188 Fax : +603 3362 2000
Website : www.pressmetal.com

MALAYSIA

PRESS METAL BINTULU SDN BHD

201001034899 (918822-X)

Lot 36, Block 1

Samalaju Industrial Park

Kemena Land District

97000 Samalaju

Sarawak, Malaysia

Tel : +6086 297 011

Fax : +6086 297 190

PRESS METAL SARAWAK SDN BHD

200701009702 (767704-M)

Lot 211 & 212, Block 293

Mukah Land District

KM38, Jalan Mukah-Balingian

96400 Mukah 

Sarawak, Malaysia

Tel : +6086 855 199 

Fax : +6086 855 050    

PMB (KLANG) SDN BHD

201901029872 (1339202-V)

Lot 6464, Batu 5 ¾, Jalan Kapar

Sementa

42100 Klang

Selangor, Malaysia

Tel : +603 3291 3188 

Fax : +603 3291 3637

ANGKASA JASA SDN BHD

198301015461 (110854-M)

27, Jalan 3A

Kawasan MIEL Balakong

Taman Cheras Jaya

43200 Kajang

Selangor, Malaysia

Tel : +603 9075 2136   

Fax : +603 9075 2139

Email : ajsb@angkasajasa.com.my

PRESS METAL ALUMINIUM RODS 

SDN BHD

197701005025 (36093-H)

No. 2, Jalan Tahana

Kawasan Perindustrian Tampoi

81200 Johor Bharu

Johor, Malaysia

Tel : +607 238 1888

Fax : +607 238 6333

Email : enquiry@pmar.com.my

Website : www.pmar.com.my

AUSTRALIA

PRESS METAL ALUMINIUM (AUSTRALIA) 

PTY LTD 

(ACN 085 370 010) 

Email : sales@pmaa.net.au

Website : www.pmaa.net.au

1012-1016 Canley Vale Road

Wetherill Park

New South Wales, 2164 Australia

Tel : +612 9756 5555  

Fax : +612 9756 5499

23 Frankston Gardens Drive 

Carrum Downs

Victoria, 3201 Australia

Tel : +613 9776 9976 

Mobile : +61 439 926 715

2/22 Eastern Service Road

Stapylton

Queensland, 4207 Australia 

Tel : +617 3382 6640  

Fax : +617 3382 6244

CHINA

PRESS METAL INTERNATIONAL LTD

No. 21, Qili Road (South), Leping Town

Sanshui District, Foshan City

Guangdong Province

528137 China 

Tel : +86 757 8736 3333 

Fax : +86 757 8738 8818

Email : pmisales@pressmetal.com.cn

Website : www.pressmetal.com.cn

NORTH AMERICA

PRESS METAL NORTH AMERICA INC

102 Mary Alice Park Road

Suite 602, Cumming

GA 30040 United States of America

Tel : +678 456 8618  

Fax : +866 539 7197

Email : keith.burlingame@pressmetalna.com

Website : www.pressmetalna.com

 

UNITED KINGDOM

PRESS METAL UK LIMITED

(Company No. 3653082)

Beldray Road, Mount Pleasant, Bilston

West Midlands, WV14 7NH

United Kingdom

Tel : +44 1902 498867  

Fax : +44 1902 495567

Email : andrewc@pressmetalukltd.com

Website : www.pressmetalukltd.com




